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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “directors”)
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited, (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017 (the “Financial Year”) with comparative figures for the
year ended 31 March 2016 (the “Previous Financial Year”).

For the Financial Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$9.2 million, a decrease of approximately 53.9% in revenue from
approximately HK$19.9 million as recorded in the Previous Financial
Year. The decrease in revenue was largely due to the decrease of
business activity in the Group’s trading of beauty equipment and
products segment during the second half of the Financial Year as the
Group focused more of its resources on numerous potential joint-
ventures domestically and abroad and developing new business.

For the Financial Year, the loss attributable to the owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$169.8 million,
representing an improvement of approximately 28.3% from the
loss attributable to owners of the Company in the amount of
approximately HK$236.9 million recorded in the Previous Financial
Year. The comparative reduction in loss for the Financial Year of
HK$67.1 million was primarily due to no impairment loss for the
Financial Year on initial recognition of investments in convertible
bonds acquired that were issued by Extrawell Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”), a company of which shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) that is principally engaged in the marketing
and distribution of pharmaceutical products to customers in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”), the development,
manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical products in the PRC
and the business of commercial exploitation and development of
genome related technology.
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OUTLOOK

The Group is continuing to develop its trading of beauty equipment
and products business. Although there was keen competition in
the market, the Group will allocate more resources to boost up the
business.

The Group also engages in development of a technology that would
allow insulin to be administered orally. The technology is still in the
research and development stage. The Group is planning the part B,
Phase Il of the clinical trial which is typically considered as the final
stage of clinical trial before commercialization. The Group will use its
best endeavours to commercialise the product by the end of 2019.

The Company continues to actively pursue and review cooperation,
joint ventures, and investments with suitable partners and will
continue to focus on improving the Group’s attractiveness and
profitability as necessary to enhance shareholder returns and the
sustainable long-term development of the Group as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued support and
trust during the past years, and my most sincere appreciation to the
directors, management, and staff at all levels for their dedication,
hard work, and contributions to the Group.

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the Financial Year amounted to
approximately HK$9.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 53.9% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$19.9 million that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to a decrease
in business of the trading of beauty equipment and products
segment during the Financial Year. Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company fell to HK$169.8 million for the Financial Year, an
improvement by HK$67.1 million from the loss of HK$ 236.9 million
that was recorded in the Previous Financial Year. The reduction
of loss was primarily due to no impairment loss being recognised
on the Group’s acquisition of investments in convertible bonds
that were issued by Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
(“Extrawell”), a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, for the Financial Year as compared
with the Previous Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of genetic testing services

Since 2010, the Group has held the permanent and exclusive
distribution rights for genetic testing services in the regions of the
PRC, Hong Kong, and Macau, permanent non-exclusive distribution
rights for genetic testing services in other regions, and the right
to use certain logos on genetic testing products and for genetic
testing services that are distributed by the Group. The Group has
franchised the distribution rights of the genetic testing products and
services. The provision of genetic testing services did not generate
any revenue this year and in the Previous Financial Year.

Distribution of bio-industrial products

The Group has held the exclusive distribution rights for the
distribution of bone chips and fat in the PRC since 1 January 2010
for an initial term of 5 years, the term of which was automatically
extended by an additional 10 years upon the expiry of the initial term.
There was no revenue arising from the distribution of bio-industrial
products during both the Financial Year and Previous Financial Year.

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The Group commenced the trading of beauty equipment and
products since June 2013. During the Financial Year, revenue
arising from the trading of beauty equipment and products
amounted to approximately HK$9.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 53.9% from the revenue in the amount
of approximately HK$19.9 million that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year.
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BUSI N ESS REV' EW (Continued)

Investments in Extrawell

Since 2013 the Company has acquired shares and convertible
bonds issued by Extrawell and Extrawell became an associate
company of the Group. The Group’s investments in Extrawell
are recorded in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position under interests in associates and investments in convertible
bonds, and these balances are sensitive to share price fluctuations
of Extrawell’s publicly traded shares, as well as being subject to
impairment assessment in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standards.

Research and development

The in-process research and development project (the “In-process
R&D”) represented an in-process research and development project
involving an oral insulin product (the “Product”). The Group will inject
additional resources into clinical trial of the In-process R&D and
consolidate the effort of the project team in order to facilitate the
development of it.

Thus far, the Group has financed the research and development
segment with the Group’s internal resources but remains active
and open to other fund-raising and partnership activities to further
develop the Group’s portfolio and development.

The In-process R&D was recorded as intangible asset in Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position with carrying value
of HK$1,373 million. The management performs the impairment
assessment at the end of each reporting period.

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined based
on fair value calculations which used cash flow projections prepared
by the management of the Group using certain key assumptions.
Key assumptions for the fair value calculations were based on
estimated cash inflows derived from budgeted sales and gross
margin which estimates are based on the expectations for the
market development.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam oA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

BUSIN ESS REV' EW (Continued)

Research and development (continued)

At the end of the Financial Year, the Directors of the Company
have performed impairment assessment on the intangible asset by
reference to the valuation conducted by Roma Appraisals Limited,
an independent qualified valuer (the “Valuer”). The recoverable
amount of the intangible asset is determined based on the estimated
fair value of the In-process R&D. Based on the assessment, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible asset is estimated to
be higher than the carrying amount and therefore the Directors of
the Company considered that no impairment is necessary as at 31
March 2017.

As disclosed in sections headed “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
and “Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors report
contained on pages 53 to 56 of this annual report, the auditors of
the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2017 on a basis that the carrying amount of the In-process R&D is
determined based on the management’s key assumptions which
are made with high degree of estimation uncertainties. The carrying
amount is highly dependent upon further research and development
work that is required to be carried out, results of clinical trials,
successful launching of the Product by the end of 2019 and key
assumptions to be applied in preparing a cash flow projection for
the sales of the Product.

KO

&=
RUBFEER KRB EFCLXEH L
EEREEMESEBITEER AR ([1E
BERDETHTEEEREEELRE
PG o\ A E R ] W B 2kIE BT B
BREMNEFAFEET - BEZTE
HEtAEBEREEMN AT WERIEG S
REEREE Bt ARAEERAE
ER_E—t+F=A=+—BELHE -

MU AN FERFESSHESCEHE 2 BYE
RHREFRITBERBEAZEE IRITEEK
ERIEEAEE  ARR B E A%
EEE—_FT—tF=-A=1+—HLFE
RV BRRITABERER  DER
BEEEEBELZAERRGFHITEE
M ETEREBREETCHEBENERTE -
FEESERBREETHE —SHE
T BARABLER —T—LFEZ
AIEFI M ZERARRRZE RIEE
BeREeBAKANEERRK -

8 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2017 Annual Report



As at the date of this report, the Product is still in the research
and development stage. Accordingly, uncertainty as to when the
Product can be launched exists. To address the audit qualification,
the Group will use its best endeavors to commercialise the Product
by the end of 2019:

The Group has accounted for reasonable amount of time for each
process until commercialisation of the Product. The Group will use
its best endeavours to commercialise the Product by the end of
2019. Nonetheless, commercialisation of the Product is subject
to uncertainties and risks arising from the results of the clinical
trial of the Product and the assessment of China Food and Drug
Administration (“CFDA”). These factors may be beyond the control
of the Group and may lead to further delay in the timetable. To the
best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, other than
the uncertainties and risks arising from the results of the clinical
trial of the Product and the assessment of CFDA, there are no
other foreseeable obstacles/issues leading to further delay in the
timetable.

Under normal circumstances, part B, Phase lll of the clinical trial
is typically considered as the final stage of clinical trial before
commercialisation in the PRC. Accordingly, once the Group has
commenced part B, Phase Ill of the clinical trial of the Product, the
Group will be in a better position to ascertain the expected launch
progress of the Product, and by that time the Group will be able to
provide additional supporting evidence, for example, research and
development results and status updates to the Group’s auditors
to support the management’s assumptions on the timing and
probability of success in launching the Product. The Board will, as
appropriate in the circumstances, engage the auditors at an early
stage to discuss the audit plan and how to address the issues, in
particular once the Group has commenced part B of Phase Il of the
clinical trial of the Product.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam oA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

Reference is made to the circular of the Group dated 26 June 2014
(the “Circular”). There is delay in the timetable set out in the Circular.
The reasons for delay are as follows:

1.

The Group spent time on revisiting the feasibility, the cost and
benefit for starting the research and development in the United
States of America (“USA”) and the European Union (“EU”). As
set out in the Circular, it was contemplated that clinical trials
would be conducted in the USA and Europe (in addition to the
PRC) and that the breakdown of the Capital Commitment (as
defined in the Circular) included research and development
costs in the USA and the EU. The Board was then of the view
that if a new drug is first approved by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration the said drug will have a higher possibility of
obtaining earlier approval from the CFDA. Therefore, the Group
committed resources and time to study the feasibility and pros
and cons of commencing research and development in the
USA and the EU and applying to the authorities in the USA
and the EU for approval. However, after further analysis and
consideration taking into account the results of the feasibility
study and the time and costs involved, the management
decided in the end of 2015 to suspend the pursuit of such
route of having the Product approved in the USA and the EU
first, but rather, the management would commence part B of
Phase Il of the clinical trial of the Product in the PRC and apply
for the Certificate and Permit from the CFDA directly.

Due to the substantial funding required for the research
and development and the commercialisation of the Product
and with a view to explore synergies with potential business
partners, the Group had been exploring and discussing
collaboration or cooperation opportunities with potential
investors and partners in the joint development of the Product.
The Group did not make a deal with any such investors or
partners.

Before the commencement of part B of Phase Ill of the clinical
trials, the Group had spent efforts on and had completed
the multi-centred, randomised crossover and self-controlled
clinical trial of its oral insulin enteric-coated soft capsules on
type-2 diabetes as part of the planning and preparation stage
for part B of Phase Il of the clinical trials.

Taking into consideration the work done by the Group in pursuing
the feasibility study for the USA/EU route and the preparation for
the commencement of part B of Phase Il of the clinical trials, the
Board considers the time and effort of the feasibility study which
was intended to speed up the approval process and the revised
timetable in relation to the development of the Product reasonable.
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To further ensure that the Product will be able to commercialise by
end of 2019, the Group will also allocate more human resources
to the project and strengthen its project team so that relevant
personnel of the project team will regularly monitor the progress
and make regular reports to the management of the Company so
as to ensure the In-process R&D can be completed according to
the Group’s schedule to commercialise the Product. The Group will
also engage appropriate number of hospitals to carry out the clinical
trials so that part B, phase Il of the clinical trial of the Product can
be completed on or before the first quarter of 2019.

As set out in the Circular, on 17 March 2014, the Group and the
Extrawell Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement where the Company agreed to purchase 51% of the
equity interest in Smart Ascent Limited (“Smart Ascent” together
with its subsidiaries, the “SAL Group”) from the Extrawell Group. As
part of the agreement, the Group has undertaken to the Extrawell
Group that for a period of 3 years from completion, the Group
would, on a best endeavor basis, solely assume the future capital
and operational expenditures of Smart Ascent by way of unsecured
interest-free shareholder’s loans up to the amount of HK$600
million from July 2014 to July 2017. The undertaking shall cease to
be valid upon expiry in July 2017 unless otherwise extended by the
parties thereto. It is currently expected that the Group will discuss
with Extrawell regarding the arrangement after the expiry of the
undertaking. Prior to reaching an agreement with Extrawell, the
Group shall undertake the provision of funding to the development
of the Product in the PRC by internal resources upon expiry of the
undertaking.

Further, the Group will continue to conduct impairment assessment
in each reporting period-end for the Product. If there is any
indication that the Product has suffered any impairment loss, the
recoverable amount of the Product will be estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The In-process R&D is subject to inherent uncertainties and risks
which may be beyond the control of the Group. Certain evidence
and information may not be available and cannot be obtained
in forming the auditors’ opinions. The Group would use its best
efforts to commercialise the Product and provide the evidence and
information to the auditors as and when available.

The Audit Committee concurs with the Group’s view that the
time schedule for the commercialisation of the Product by the
end of 2019 is feasible and reasonable upon discussion with the
management of the Group and having taken into consideration
that the project team will exert additional efforts in monitoring the
progress of the In-process R&D so as to complete the research
and development and to commercialise the Product as soon as
practicable.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam oA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is determined based
on fair value calculations using the income approach method,
with reference to the professional valuation performed by Roma
Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional qualified
valuers. The fair value calculation used the cash flow projections
prepared by the management based on certain key assumptions,
in which the estimated cash inflows derived from budgeted sales
and expected gross margin were based on the expectations for
the market development. In addition, the fundamental assumptions
included the regulatory approvals from the relevant government
bodies (in particular, the granting of the certificate of new medicine
and pharmaceutical manufacturing permit for the Product by CFDA)
to launch the Product by the end of 2019.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D approved by the management cover a 10-year period.
The calculation used in the cash flow projections with certain key
parameters are as below:

MEBR 2T REHEeRDHIE2ERHIE
XeERMHEMESERFEERR A
ETHEEGBE ERARAERAFE
AEEEE AVEBEEEAEERE
AERNETIERRBEZASRERA
BEEMRAEASRERAMA R FE
AENDERETHREBE  HERMEFR
ERMARBRREFHEMBRERN KT
EREmSEROES - I EAXAR
HREEHEBEBRRARER —T— LFEA
RO BHEEMEMMNEETHLAEEEMD
5 OABRTHERRREMEEEIER
REBRERBEFRFE) °

BEBEHNMBBREEBERARRE
B EREI0OFHME - B REFRB AR
A ERETHR2BO AT

Discount rate (post-tax) A3 K (Bi1g)
Growth rate # K &

Gross profit ratio 48 R =

24.82% 27.99%
3% 3%
57.97% 56.25%

Based on the impairment review assessment, the recoverable amount
of the Group’s intangible asset is estimated to be higher than the
carrying amount after taking into account the lack of control discount.
The Board has conducted market research and evaluated the
underlying assumptions with reference to available market resources
and are of the view that they are fair and reasonable assumptions.
Therefore the Board is in the opinion that no impairment on the
carrying amount of the In-process R&D has to be recognised for the
year (2016: Nil).

RIBBERS G EEERDZEH T
P3| REEEFHEREE A WE R
BN EERE EFXGCETHS
MELLEFHERATSHERK LR
BREETHE EIRRESRFEEZ
BBt - EF SRS HARFAN
HBPRERAEEIEMRE(ZZT R
FE)-
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The Audit Committee reviewed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions on the cash flow projections for the preparation of
valuation and the valuation report which was conducted by the
Valuer. The Audit Committee found no indication that the In-process
R&D had suffered any impairment loss as the value prepared by the
Valuer is higher than its carrying value. The Audit Committee noted
that the key assumptions of the cash flow projections involved high
degree of estimations and judgements. The Audit Committee’s view
and conclusion after reviewing the key assumptions is that they are
fair and reasonable on the basis that the estimation and judgment
have been consistently applied throughout the previous years.

The Group will make further announcements depending on situation
and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) if
there is any material development.

PROSPECTS

Provision of genetic testing services

In October 2014, the Group franchised the genetic testing distribution
rights to two related parties who began providing genetic testing
services and selling genetic testing products in the PRC. The Group
holds a cautious view regarding the business given the uncertainty
of the policy and regulatory environment of genetic testing in the
PRC and does not anticipate a recovery of the industry in the near-
term. The Group is actively seeking partners or potential investors to
work with or acquire the Group’s genetic testing subsidiaries.

Distribution of bio-industrial products

CNL (Pinghu) Biotech Co. Ltd. (“CNL (Pinghu)”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, commenced the construction
of the production plant, research and development workshop and
office in 2010. Since 2012, CNL (Pinghu) has been a defendant to
a civil litigation suit in the PRC regarding construction costs of the
production plant. A verdict on the civil litigation suit was reached in
April 2014 pursuant to which it was ruled that the Group is liable to
pay RMB4.2 million to the plaintiffs. Payments were made in respect
of the litigation in accordance with the directions of the court.
The court has delayed payments to the plaintiff at this time and
further announcements will be made by the Company as and when
appropriate pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

PROSPECTS (Continued)

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The major trading products of the Group are beauty equipment and
beauty products, and sales of these beauty equipment and beauty
products represent the major component that contributes to the
Group’s revenue.

Revenues and profit margins of the Group from the trading segment
have been relatively stable in the past and trading volume is the key
determiner of the profitability of the segment. The Group competes
by offering trading terms that are more favourable to its suppliers
and vendors compared to the Group’s competitors, and trades
products that are in high demand given the development of Asian
economies.

During the second half of the Financial Year, trading business activity
fell as there was keen competition in the market. The Group intends
to maintain the segment and the management will allocate more
resources to boost up the trading business activity.

Securities investment

The management of the Group is optimistic on the long-term
recovery of the markets but they also remain cautious on the
direction of the market in the near-term. The Group continues to
manage a diverse portfolio of Asian stocks and bonds.

Research and development

The Group has been developing the technology that would allow
insulin to be administered orally. During the Financial Year, the
Group explored potential opportunities with investors and potential
partners but as at the date of this report the Group has yet to
encounter a suitable business partner. The Group will continue
to evaluate potential products that would be used to bolster the
Group’s pipeline.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam oA

Bt % [0 B8
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1,464,193,024 Shares 1,464,193,024 1% i% 1% 14,642 14,642

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$61.3 million (31 March 2016: approximately
HK$32.4 million).

As at 31 March 2017, total borrowings of the Group were
approximately HK$542.4 million (31 March 2016: approximately
HK$473.4 million) which reflected the debt value of the Company’s
unconverted convertible bonds, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amounts due to former non-controlling interests, amount
due to the subsidiary of an associate, and loan from a non-
controlling interest.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group was 1.03
as at 31 March 2017 as compared to the 1.54 as at 31 March 2016.
The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2017 was 0.30 (31 March
2016: 0.26) which is calculated based on the Group’s total liabilities
of approximately HK$552.6 million (31 March 2016: approximately
HK$531.1 million) and the Group’s total assets of approximately
HK$1,851.0 million (31 March 2016: approximately HK$2,010.2
million).

The Group places importance on security, short-term commitment,
and availability of the surplus cash and cash equivalents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continved)

Significant acquisition and investments

On 29 March 2016, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Top Nice Holdings Limited (“Top Nice”) and other parties
entered in to the Capital Injection Agreement. Pursuant to Capital
Injection Agreement, Top Nice would inject capital in the amount of
RMB224.75 million cash in a joint venture entity (“Joint Venture”).
Upon completion of the capital injection, the Joint Venture would be
owned by as to 29% by Top Nice.

According to the Capital Injection Agreement, the Joint Venture will
acquire certain entities which are principally engaged in the business
of online travel business, reservation and sales or air tickets, hotels
accommodation and travel related products.

On 6 June 2016, certain conditions precedent to the Capital Injection
Agreement were not fulfilled. The Capital Injection Agreement
therefore lapsed. Top Nice shall be treated as being discharged and
released from the Capital Injection Agreement.

On 11 March 2017, the Company and a seller entered into a
Memorandum of Understanding, pursuant to which the Company
intended to acquire the controlling interest in three companies which
are principally engaged in the provision of one-stop accredited
medical consultation and health examination services in Hong Kong.

At the end of the Financial Year, no definitive agreement was
finalised and entered into between the Company and the seller for
the acquisition.

Save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant
investments, nor had it made any material acquisition or disposal
of the Group’s subsidiaries or associated companies during the
Financial Year.

Issue of Convertible Bonds and early redemption

On 24 March 2016, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Fu Chuang Limited (the “Subscriber”), pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue and the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$50,000,000 (the “Subscription”). The maturity of the Convertible
Bonds will be the date falling on the third anniversary from the date
of issue of the Convertible Bonds. The Convertible Bonds will be
converted into conversion shares, being ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each, at the conversion price of HK$1.00
(subject to adjustments) per conversion share. The completion of
the subscription of the Convertible Bonds by the Subscriber took
place on 13 April 2016.
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FI NANC IAL R EVI EW (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds and early redemption (continued)
On 6 July 2016, the Company and the Subscriber entered into a
supplemental deed (the “Supplemental Deed”), pursuant to which
the Company and the Subscriber agreed to amend a term of the
Convertible Bonds such that the Company may, at any time prior to
the maturity of the Convertible Bonds and by giving the holder(s) of
the Convertible Bonds not less than seven (7) working days’ notice,
redeem the outstanding Convertible Bonds, in whole or in part, at a
price to be agreed between the holder(s) of the Convertible Bonds
(the “Redemption Price”) and the Company or any of its subsidiaries
from time to time (the “Proposed Amendment”). Save and except
for the aforesaid, all other terms of the Convertible Bonds remained
unchanged.

By a notice of redemption given on 6 July 2016, the Company
has elected to redeem the outstanding Convertible Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000 prior to their maturity
date of 13 April 2019 at the Redemption Price of HK$51,003,472 (the
“Early Redemption”). In this regard, the Subscriber has agreed to
waive the seven (7) working days’ notice period required under the
terms of the Convertible Bonds (as amended and supplemented by
the Supplemental Deed), and the Early Redemption was fixed and
carried out on 6 July 2016 and the Convertible Bonds redeemed
were cancelled by the Company.

The Redemption Price was agreed between the Company and
the Subscriber pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Bonds (as
amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed) and is
equivalent to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
together with the unpaid interest accrued to 6 July 2016, being the
date fixed for the Early Redemption.

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2017, the Group and the Company did not have any
charges on their assets (31 March 2016: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
Details of litigation and contingent liabilities are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE st am Mo

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continved)

Foreign exchange exposure

The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group
are mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, and United
States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign
exchange risk management, with the foreign exchange risk being
minimised through balancing the foreign currency monetary assets
against foreign currency monetary liabilities, and foreign currency
revenue against foreign currency expenditure. The Group did not
use any financial instruments to hedge against foreign currency
risk during the Financial Year. The Group will continue to monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Number and numeration of employees

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 24 full time employees
(31 March 2016: 29), most of whom work in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. The decrease in staff is due to a reduction
in the business activity of certain segments and the subsequent
redundancies. It is the Group’s policy that the remuneration
of employees and Directors are in line with the market and
commensurate with their responsibilities. Discretionary year-
end bonuses are payable to the employees based on individual
performance. Other employee benefits include medical insurance,
retirement schemes, training programmes, and education subsidies.

Total staff costs including the Directors’ remuneration for the
Financial Year amounts to approximately HK$6.48 million (Previous
Financial Year: approximately HK$6.7 million).

Segment information
Details of the segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”)
during the Financial Year, except for the deviations discussed below.

Code provision A.2.1

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of this
report, no suitable candidate has been identified and the role of
chief executive officer remains vacant. The Company is continually
looking for a suitable person to assume this role.

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term and should be subject to re-
election.

The Company has deviated from the Code provision A.4.1. The
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
were not appointed for specific term but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at least once every three years in
accordance with the provision of the Company’s Bye-laws. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
serve the purpose of this Code provision.

The Directors believe that, despite the absence of specified
terms for non-executive Directors, the Directors are committed
to representing the long-term interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-compliance was
noted by the Company in the Financial Year.

Tang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2017
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Management Profile

EEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, aged 62, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 4 January 2016. From 15 March 2011 to
4 January 2016, Mr. Gao was the chairman and executive director
of North Mining Shares Company Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Gao previously worked in
the foreign affairs office of the Shanghai Municipal Government, and
has had senior management roles in numerous international, PRC
investment, and commercial companies.

Mr. Tang Rong, aged 50, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 29 September 2014. Mr. Tang graduated
from Fudan University in the People’s Republic of China in July
1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science, majoring in genetics
and genetic engineering. He has been an engineer of The Institute
of Genetics of Fudan University from November 1989 and has
extensive experience in genetics related technology development,
commercialization and market development. Mr. Tang successfully
filed several patents in China and published papers in many science
magazines in genetics related subjects. He was invited as the
member of the Committee of Experts of _F B 52 5 B & & 1 72
(Shanghai Lianzhong Institute of Gene Technology) in 2000. Starting
from November 2010, Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of
Gene Testing Research and Development Department of Longmark
(Shanghai) Healthcare Limited and he has professional expertise in
gene testing and research and development.

Ms. Huang He, aged 35, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 10 January 2017. Ms. Huang has over
10 years of experience in corporate and investment management
as well as mergers and acquisitions in the PRC. From 13 October
2016 to 20 December 2016, Ms. Huang was the executive director
of Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited,
a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Huang is currently the legal representative and
chairman of several companies that were incorporated in the PRC.
From 7 August 2015 to 20 February 2017, Ms. Huang was also the
executive director of China Ocean Fishing Holdings Limited whose
shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jiang Nian, aged 63, has been appointed as a non-executive
director and chairman of the Company with effect from 21 December
2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms. Jiang is a member of
the remuneration Committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Jiang graduated from Z # EE TR AL E HE H K
= &} (Junior College, Provincial Campus of Anhui Radio and Television
University) in August 1986, majoring in Chinese Language and Literature.
Ms. Jiang was the Associate Dean of the School of Life Sciences of
Fudan University from June 2003 to April 2010. She also serves as an
authorised representative of B & A B 4 ¥ 8 %25 5 [E 2 A (United
Gene Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience in general
administrative management particularly in the field of genomic research.

Ms. Xiao Yan, aged 37, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated
from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’s degree in Accounting in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served as
an administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie, in &
AR B R A 7 (United Gene Technology Holdings Limited) since
2002. Ms. Xiao has extensive experience in medical services and
general administration. From December 2011 to November 2012,
she served as the finance manager of CNL (Pinghu), which is an
indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 40, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu graduated from
the School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University in 1999 with a
bachelor’s degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined B & % & & £
B PR A 7] (United Gene Technology Holdings Limited), a genetic
engineering company substantially owned by Dr. Mao Yumin
(“Dr. Mao”) indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible for general
administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served as an
assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited, and is
responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various investment
projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general administrative
and investment management. Starting from December 2012, she
was appointed as the finance manager of CNL (Pinghu).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Weijun, aged 59, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director with effect from 6 November 2009 and is
the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Ms. Chen is
currently the manager in the business department of Shanghai Ruihe
Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.. She was formerly the finance
supervisor of the companies indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April
2001 to June 2003. She graduated from the Chinese Communist
Party Central Party College and has been a registered accountant in
the PRC since 2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in
accounting, finance and audit services.

Management Profile
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Dr. Zhang Zhihong, aged 77, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Dr.
Zhang graduated from Fudan University majoring in biophysics
in 1963 and obtained a doctorate degree in science from Kyoto
University, Japan in 1988. From 1990 to 1991, Dr. Zhang was a
senior visiting fellow at the medical school of Harvard University
in the United States of America. From 1986 to 2000, Dr. Zhang
undertook various senior positions at Fudan University, including
the officer of the Department of Physiology and Biophysics and the
associate dean of the School of Life Sciences. Dr. Zhang was the
deputy chairman of the Biophysical Society of China from 1994 to
2002 and the chairman of the Shanghai Society of Biophysics from
2000 to 2008. Dr. Zhang has extensive knowledge and is highly
regarded in the field of biophysics and physiology in China.

Mr. Wang Rongliang, aged 68, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Wang graduated from /& 1 7§ % — B B I KX £ (Shanghai
First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in business and
economics. He acted as a deputy manager of F/8+ B & B E &
A R A &) (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company Limited) from
1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in operation and
administrative management.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between any
members of the Board, and no information relating to the directors
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and
13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, aged 51, has been appointed as the company
secretary, financial controller and an authorised representative of the
Company with effect from 14 May 2013. Mr. Poon is qualified as a
Certified Public Accountant registered with the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and is also a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon has been
a managing director of Probiz CPA Limited since 2006.
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External Consultant Profile

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dr. Mao Yumin, aged 65, has been engaged as the chief scientific
adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since 1 September
2010, responsible for providing advisory and consultancy services to
the Group in relation to the research and development of its genetic
testing products and other scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. He was a member of the
Consultant Committee of Fudan University, the dean of the School
of Life Sciences and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and
the director of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan
University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological
and genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive
experiences in operations in the genomic research based industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Financial Year, the Company adopted and has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”)
except for the deviations discussed below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. All directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the Financial
Year. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
in the Financial Year. Relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with written guidance on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code throughout the Financial Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set out
below:

Executive directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He (appointed on 10 January 2017)

Non-executive directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Management Profile” on pages 20 to 22.

The Board considers the balance between executive directors and
non-executive directors is adequate to safeguard the Shareholders’
interests. Independent non-executive directors can also provide
the Group with diversified expertise and valuable experience. Their
independent advice can bring independent judgment to the decision
making of the Board and bring new ideas to the formulation of
corporate strategy.
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The directors oversee the financial performance and formulate
business strategies and determine the corporate governance policy
of the Group, as well as discuss any significant matters relating
to the Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational matters are
delegated to the management of the Group. The Board meets
regularly to review the financial and operating performance of the
Company and considers and approves the overall strategies and
policies of the Group. During the Financial Year, the Board held 8
meetings. The attendance of each member at the Board meeting is
set out as follows:

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R E T A

Mr. Tang Rong BREE

Ms. Huang He (Note) BB L (M)
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) BER+(FE)
Ms. Xiao Yan SR8 S

Ms. Wu Yanmin SPFEG =
Independent non-executive directors BIFEHITES
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIER T

Dr. Zhang Zhihong REBEL

Mr. Wang Rongliang FHRRESE

Note:  Ms. Huang was appointed on 10 January 2017, her attendance shall be pro-

rated to the period during which she was a director only (see note 2, | (C) of
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules).

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.

Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulate that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of this
annual report, no suitable candidate for the role of chief executive
officer has been identified and the role remains vacant. The
Company is continually looking for a suitable person to assume this
role.
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INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As such,
briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly appointed
directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal and other
duties and responsibilities as director as well as the business and
corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code, directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. For the period from
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, all directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by ways
of attending training or reading material relevant to the Company’s
business or to the directors’ duties and responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, trainings received by each
director are summarised as follows:

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R E
Mr. Tang Rong EREE
Ms. Huang He =L L
Ms. Jiang Nian BELL
Ms. Xiao Yan ERog
Ms. Wu Yanmin I G et
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIER T
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REBEL
Mr. Wang Rongliang TERREE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for specific term and should be
subject to re-election.

The Company has deviated from the code provision A.4.1. The
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
were not appointed for specific term but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at least once every three years in
accordance with the provision of the Company’s bye-laws. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
serve the purpose and objective of this Code provision.

The directors believe that, despite the absence of specified term of
non-executive directors, the directors are committed to representing
the long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30 June 2008.
The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee shall
be independent non-executive directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@ to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service
contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair and
reasonable;

(b) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the senior
management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior
management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations
to the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the directors and senior management is reviewed
and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to
the market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties
and responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise,
performance and experience possessed by individual directors.

Corporate Governance Report
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During the Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2
meetings. The attendance of each member at the committee

meeting is set out as follows:
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u'#: © X@Z
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FHEZEgERiT2RE

e@d o ELEH

Meetings attended/
Total meetings held

during the
Financial Year
TP BEEHE
2ERY
BIZEREY
Non-executive director FHITES
Ms. Jiang Nian BFEr+ 2/2
Independent non-executive directors BIKHITES
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REBIE L 2/2
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (FTNZE 2+ fE)
Mr. Wang Rongliang TRBRESE 2/2
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RBEZES
The Company has established a nomination committee of the AAFBER -—_ET——&F=F+NHKT
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012. During AR RIZIEZZE @ ([IERZ B &) -
the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The RABHERE 128 % 8 BITIRE
attendance of each member at the committee meeting is set out as % - Kﬁx ERZEeex s HELEEE

follows:

Non-executive director
Ms. Jiang Nian

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Zhang Zhihong

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Wang Rongliang

FHITES
BEFELL

BIUkBTESE
RAEBE L
(lBEZEEF/E)
THEBREE
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The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy that set
out the Group’s approach to diversify members of the Board and
the Group holds the view that this board diversity policy will lead to
a Board with diverse perspectives. Factors that will be considered in
the assessment of the diversity of a director’s perspective include,
but are not limited to, gender, age, culture, skill, knowledge,
educational background and professional experience. Presently, the
Board comprises of nine directors, of which three are independent
non-executive directors, with significant diversity in gender, age,
professional experience, educational and cultural background, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The directors confirm that the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The directors
also confirm that the consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been published in a timely manner.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubts upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on
pages 53 to 56 of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditors are East Asia Sentinel Limited. For the
Financial Year, the auditors of the Company had performed audit
services and their remuneration in respect of audit services was
HK$1,090,000.

There was no non-audit services provided by the auditors of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the Code:

(@)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report (the “Corporate
Governance Report”).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
is composed of three independent non-executive directors. At
least one of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@)

(b)

30

to serve as a focal point for communication between the
directors and external auditors;

to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an
independent review with the management of the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group, and supervision
of financial reporting, and monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and the adequacy
of the external audit;

to review the appointment of external auditors on an annual
basis as well as to ensure continuing auditors independence;

to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on
the engagement of the external auditors to perform other
professional services (other than tax-related services); and

to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures.
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The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the
Financial Year were reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the Financial Year.
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CIRBIZERAMBRE -
BZEE@N AP HRFERIT2NEE -

Meetings attended/
Total meetings held

during the
Financial Year
M BRFELHE
eBRE
BOzEBREY
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEE XL
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) (BERZEEEFE) 2/2
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REEEL 2/2
Mr. Wang Rongliang FEBRELE 1/2
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL [& B& & IE & A 28 BE 3=
The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and ?E =<2 /EL & HERE2EWMZEARERE K
effective risk management and internal control systems to safeguard R LELE X4 EB 2 FH @ UEREARE 2 F
the Shareholders’ interests, and to review the effectiveness of % W F B S L E 4 2 BN - 2 &%

such systems regularly. The risk management and internal control
systems include defined management structure with limits of
authority set at various levels, which is designed to safeguard
assets, ensure the maintenance of proper records, provide reliable
financial information for internal use or publication, and ensure
compliance with regulations. During the Financial Year, the Board
has reviewed the internal control procedures of the Group and
consider the risk management and internal control systems to be
adequate and effective.

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an outsourced
internal audit team, which reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The report provided internal audit findings and any action
to be taken by management as a result. These findings and
recommendations for improvement will be communicated to the
respective management for their responses and corrective actions.
The Group’s management team monitors the implementation of its
recommendations and reports the outcome to the Audit Committee.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(i)

(i)

32

Procedures for convening of a special general
meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings.
Pursuant to the bye- laws of the Company, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition (the
“Written Requisition”) to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong of
the Company (at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong), to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, an annual general
meeting shall be called by a written notice of not less than
twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than twenty (20) clear
business days and any special general meeting at which the
passing of a special resolution is to be considered shall be
called by a written notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear
days and not less than ten (10) clear business days. Business
day under the Listing Rules means any day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in accordance with the provision of
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for directing enquiries to the Company
To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should submit
his/her/its enquires in writing with contact details (including,
registered name, address and telephone number, etc.) to the
Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong.

Tel: (852) 2598 6818
Fax: (852) 2598 6628

%
(i)

(ii)
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(iii)

(iv)

Matters relating to share registration

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer
and registration, change of name and address of Shareholders,
loss of share certificates or dividend warrants, Shareholders
can contact the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office at the following:

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2810 8185

Fax: (852) 2980 1333

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person
for election as a director

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Shareholders may from time to time in general meeting by
Ordinary Resolution elect any person to be a director either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an existing
director of the Company for election as a director at a general
meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a written notice (the
“Notice”) to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in the
Company.

The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other than
a person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied by the
following information and documents:

— the full name and the contact information of the
Shareholder(s);

— the contact details, age and the full name of the person
proposed for election as a director of the Company;

— biographical details of the person proposed for election
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;

— letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be
elected that he or she consents to be director of the
Company, if elected.

(iii)

(iv)

Corporate Governance Report
/JE% B /IZI #& [=]

FRAROELZEER
HBRMDBEBFPRER BHRRAE
Mt - BRRESREEZFRND
= EZ*HF%?HWQ » PR B AT B 4%
BEEBRHMOERZRBEDE - Hik 0
T

BEEERARA

BB
2RRNBR183R

A 221

@;é (852) 2810 8185
HEHE : (852) 2980 1333

BREBATISBREECREF

REBEARB ZABHARZHEX - &
RATKREERERE ELERRE

REEEMALIHNSES  NEM
R ZRIIERIIBESE -
BRARKRAEG LIRBA QAR

ﬁ%%l«(%ZAi’} BEE R
WEBEBmBMITBNDEAIAR
RIZBETBERER  THHE QAW
E7U -

f& RN ERE A E R

ARRBIZHEHFRE -

%@%ﬂ)&ﬁhﬁx%(ﬁk% Z ANEBRIN)
BECUWAMEATER RXXH

BRz2HRBEER

ﬁéh%é‘}‘ ARAREEALZ
EER  FRk2H

EHARBIFEA3S1QIE TR E
REZEANLTZEFFS

— BEREZZEZALHMEZIZAER
E REBELEARAEFT(HE

) o

201743 EMBEREYREERAT 33



Corporate Governance Report
/JE% /0 #& =

The Notice and the abovementioned information and documents
must be lodged with the Company commencing from the day after
despatch of the notice of the general meeting and ending no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping Shareholders, investors, analysts, bankers
and other stakeholders informed of its corporate strategies and
business operations has been one of the key objectives of its
investor relations team.
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The directors hereby submit their report with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(as revised) of the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability in accordance with the
Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development is provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
March 2017 using financial performance indicators is provided in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6
to 19 of this annual report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance with
reference to environmental and social-related key performance
indicators and policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Company
are provided in the paragraph headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance” of the report of the directors on pages 49 to 52 of this
annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material
in the future.
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Business Risk

Certain of the business segments in which the Group operates are
subject to the overall economic growth of the PRC, which is subject
to ever-changing economic policy changes of the PRC government.
Any adverse changes in economic policies of the PRC government
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business.

The valuation of the intangible asset of the Group is tied to the
Group’s ability to successfully complete the development and
commercialisation of the Product and the policy of medical
examination and the medical policy. As at the date of this report, the
Product is still in the research and development stage, uncertainty
as to when the product can be launched exits. In addition,
commercialisation is subject to uncertainty and risks arising from the
results of the clinical trial of the Product and the assessment of the
CFDA. These factors may be beyond the control of the Group. Any
delay or failure in the Group’s ability to do so may adversely affect
the Group’s business and financial performance.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated completely
and that it may not always be cost effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating procedures,
limits of authority and reporting framework. The Group will identify
and assess key operational exposures from time to time and report
such risk issues to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 57 to 58. The directors do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Financial Year. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2017 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 59 to 60.

e 30
AEBLBEZETEBOBAIPEE
BEERERS  MEBEELBEERIR
RABEBE T ZENEERRES -
B KA AR OB R A AE f] I R = B AT BE
BAREEXRBEXNEATHNEZE -

AEBEBELEEZHENEAEEKY
STRKEE ah 2 B3 R B E AL RO BE ) A0 R B
MEEFLEERNBREXERBH -
ABREAH EmiDERTEREER  E
an HE 2 B R N RETE o AN E Y
AmtXIAZERERARIBEBRRE
BB R E A RER K T IEE M R E R
VR E BREEA AL IE AN B A2
Bl e AEBEAEBEMHAERBRALDN
EREESRRRAEH A REEZE LM
BREERTMTZE -

& E m b

cERBRERANSBEF  ABHHET
RERE  SHRIIBEHER B KR
- EBRELERRIETEANLASXE
Wz MEBABA - ANEEER
2ERRIETEER  BEKRRERD
THERDEEBRANEA °

AEBZTENRBURG 2 EERFF -
BRLEBRERSES - NEE G TE
HARFHEETELERR  XEFAS
MEREERZFAREE - AERR
HEEREEEE

Bt 7 & B
AREBHERBREEREHENGEATERE
P56 ©

RERUBARR
AEERNAYBER 2 $EHNESTE
EHEBE 2 HABBRAMRE KSR -
HETRBEARAMEEE 2 RAR
B RAERARRAZBRECHEAEH
ERRAAREZRE -

AEBR-_ZFZ—EtF=ZA=+T—"HZHM
BRAENEOR EFE60E 276 M5
RIEK e

36  INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2017 Annual Report



PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 61. There were no distributable reserves of the
Company at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: Nil).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds issued by the Group are set out in
note 29 to consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He (appointed on 10 January 2017)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, Mr. Tang Rong and Ms. Jiang Nian are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang
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In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Huang He
who was appointed subsequent to the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 25 August 2016, shall hold office only until
the forthcoming annual general meeting (2017 AGM”) and, being
eligible, will offer herself for re-election at the 2017 AGM.

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, one third of the
directors for the time being shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Accordingly, Ms. Jiang Nian, Mr.
Tang Rong and Dr. Zhang Zhihong shall retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the 2017 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting had a service contract that was not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the directors and senior management
are set out on pages 20 to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, the interests or short positions of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or their associates in any
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which were required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:

Name of director Capacity

EEnSR

54

Tang Rong Beneficial owner
R ExEAA

REBEARRZARMAA R -T—RF
NAZTRABRETZARARRBFXR
EREZECZEBRIZAHEEER
ERRBFRAG(ZZE-—LFRRBEF
Rehrlt BREAERABER -F
—tFERRBFAE LEEEE -

REBEARRZARME  =n2—2&
ZARERT BREFAZIE=F
WESR-R B BFRLE  FEHE
EREREBELIHANR-_ZT-—LFRRE
FRAELERE BREFTAER B
REBEBE -

EERBEN
REERRBFASREZERETCE
EMBITBEAKET AR —FANERS
EOEERERINMELEZRBEA -

EERGREEBCBERE

BEENSAEEEBXEEREABER
REREI0EF22H o

ESERKROzER
RZE-—+tHF=A=+—H £XRA=E
£ BRTBABIBREBEALNA
NA SR EAEMAEREE(EERES L
EROI(T7E 7 R BB RO ) EXVER) 2 £
Wt  HEROKEFTHEBARE
&5 N B E GBI 362 L E N A R Bl 17
BEZERMAARBZETRUE MY
WS- NYNCTDYE R A 5 R
LI

Number Percentage of
of shares/ the issued
underlying share capital of

shares held the Company
BREZRG, HEATBRT
HERGOGEE RAB DL

396,200 0.03%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the
directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required
to be recorded in the register by the Company required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or which is otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contract of significance, to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Financial Year or at any time during the Financial Year,
nor was there any other contract of significance in relation to the
Group’s business between the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Financial Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, the register of interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company kept under
Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the following entities had an
interest or deemed interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital

of the Company:

Long/Short positions in the issued share capital of

the Company

Name of shareholders

KR&%

Dr. Mao Yumin (note 1)

EMREL (M)

United Gene Holdings Limited (note 1)
BeERERERAR (K1)

Dr. Xie Yi (note 2)
HEEL ()

Ease Gold Investments Limited
(note 2) (FiizF2)

Good Links Limited (note 3) (Ki3)

Victory Trend Limited (note 3) (¥f33)

Best Champion Holdings Limited
(note 4)
EZERARDR (MT4)

5 B 5% A M2

Number of
shares/
underlying

Capacity shares held

BEZRG/
& HEROHE

Beneficial owner 1,092,700,000
BEalEAA

Beneficial owner

EaBEAA

Interest of a controlled corporation
REHEE R

1,700,000,000

709,451,350

Beneficial owner 55,500,000
ExBEEA

Interest of a controlled corporation
REHER R

653,951,350

Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350

REBHEE R

Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350
REBHEE R

Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350
REHEE R

Interest of a controlled corporation 13,961,350
REHEE R

Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350
REHEE R
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Long (L) or
Short (S)
position

HFRL

RE(S)
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RO AT - T

RELDREBITRAZHER KR

Percentage of
the issued
share capital of
the Company
RN

BB

[ NERl

74.63%

116.10%

48.45%

3.79%

44.66%

0.95%

0.95%

0.95%

0.95%

0.95%



Name of shareholders Capacity

KR&%

China United Gene Investment Holdings ~ Beneficial owner

Limited (note 5) (}f35) ExnBEEA
Chau Yiu Ting Beneficial owner
[ ERBEAA

Notes:

1. These include (i) 213,700,000 ordinary shares held by Dr. Mao directly; (ii)
879,000,000 and 640,000,000 derivative shares held by Dr. Mao and JNJ
Investments Limited (“JNJ”) respectively, which shall be issued by the Company
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$607,600,000 issued by the Company. JNJ
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of United Gene Group Limited, which is
in turn wholly owned by United Gene Holdings Limited; (i) 55,500,000 ordinary
shares held through United Gene Holdings Limited and (iv) 13,951,350 ordinary
shares held through China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited, which
is held as to 60% by Best Champion Holdings Limited, and which is in turn
held as to 33.5% and 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited and Victory Trend
Limited respectively. Victory Trend Limited is wholly owned by Good Links
Limited. United Gene Holdings Limited and Good Links Limited are 100% and
50% held by Dr. Mao respectively.

2. Ease Gold Investments Limited, is wholly-owned by Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”), which
owns 33.50% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

3. Victory Trend Limited is wholly-owned by Good Links Limited, which is in turn
owned as to 50% by Dr. Mao and as to 50% by Dr. Xie. Victory Trend Limited
owns 33.00% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

4. The equity interest of Best Champion Holdings Limited is owned as to 33.50%,
33.50% and 33.00% by United Gene Holdings Limited, Ease Gold Investments
Limited and Victory Trend Limited, respectively.

5. China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited is owned as to 60% by Best
Champion Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the directors were not aware of any other
relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2017.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director confirming his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors to be independent.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by the
Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been entered into
during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions

Since 31 August 2010, the Company has engaged Dr. Mao to
provide advisory and consultancy services to the Group in relation to
research and development of the Group’s genetic testing products,
and other scientific technologies. In this role, Dr. Mao is the
Company’s chief scientific adviser and currently receives a monthly
service fee of HK$56,000. The previous agreement with Dr. Mao
commenced on 1 September 2013, for a period of three years, and
was renewed on 1 September 2016 for an additional period of three
years, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the agreement.

On 17 March 2014, the Company and Extrawell entered into a
conditional sale and purchase agreement where the Company
agreed to purchase 51% of the equity interest in Smart Ascent
Limited (“Smart Ascent” together with its subsidiaries, the “SAL
Group”) from Extrawell for a consideration of HK$780 million (the
“Acquisition”), which will be paid with cash of HK$65 million and
convertible bonds issued by the Company of HK$715 million. As
part of the agreement, the Group has agreed to cover the entirety
of Smart Ascent’s expenditures related to the furthering of its oral
insulin medicine up to the amount of HK$600 million from 2015 to
2017 (the “Coverage of Smart Ascent’s expenditures”). Conditions
of this agreement have been disclosed in the Company’s circular
dated 26 June 2014 and the acquisition was conditional, among
other conditions, on the relevant Shareholders’ resolutions being
passed at the special general meetings held by Extrawell and
the Company on 15 and 16 July 2014, respectively. The relevant
shareholders’ resolutions approving the entering of such sale and
purchase agreement (including the Coverage of Smart Ascent’s
expenditures) were passed on 16 July 2014.

Upon the completion of the Acquisition which took place on 28 July
2014, Smart Ascent is owned as to 51% by the Company and 49%
by Extrawell and Extrawell thereby became a connected person
of the Company, and accordingly the Coverage of Smart Ascent’s
expenditures became a continuing connected transaction for the
Company since 28 July 2014.
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The following table sets forth the annual caps in relation to the
Coverage of Smart Ascent’s expenditures for the periods below:

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-HLEFE

2015
2016
2017

During the Financial Year, the Group contributed approximately
HK$1 million to the SAL Group and the Group’s contributions to the
SAL Group did not exceed the proposed annual cap for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive directors. The
independent non-executive directors confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions were entered into:

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the
Group than terms available from independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The independent non-executive directors have further confirmed
that certain related party transactions, which constituted connected
transactions under the Listing Rules for the Financial Year, are
exempted from the disclosure requirements in accordance with rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditors’ of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017 to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group. The auditors’ have reported
their factual findings on these procedures to the Board that:

(@ nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes the
auditors to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(b) nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes
the auditors to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;
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(c) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditors to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) the actual transaction amount in respect of the Coverage of
Smart Ascent’s expenditures have not exceeded the proposed
annual cap for the year ended 31 March 2017.

To the best knowledge of the directors, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
subsisting during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETITORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other
than those businesses of which the directors were appointed as
directors to represent the interests of such businesses, no director is
considered to have had an interest in a business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, pursuant to the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors for the Financial Year are decided
by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating results, their
duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual performance
and comparable market statistics, and have been reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Financial Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 6 November 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of recognising and motivating the contributions of the
Group’s eligible employees, non-executive directors, shareholders,
customers, and suppliers to the Group which, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
Adoption Date. The Share Option Scheme was refreshed on 3
November 2010 to increase the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) to the amount in
aggregate not exceeding 1,216,450,806 Shares being 10% of the
Shares in issue of the Company as at 3 November 2010.

As at the date of this annual report, the maximum number of Options
available to be issued is 79,069,302 Shares, being approximately
5.4% of the Shares in issue currently.
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The exercise price of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (i) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant. No option may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period if the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the option granted to an individual in any 12-month
period exceeds 1% of the share capital of the Company in issue
unless approval by shareholders is obtained.

As at 31 March 2017, the Company had not granted any options
to eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme and there were no
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will expire in approximately 2.25 years.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the Financial Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors and substantial Shareholders or any of their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Convertible bonds
issued as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other
officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty,
in their respective offices, or trusts. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable
donation (2016: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and
sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
respectively during the Financial Year is as follows:
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Percentage of
the Group’s total

EhAEmEEZ
Bat
Purchases ®ig
— The largest supplier — BAMER 100%
— Five largest suppliers combined — AAHEERERT 100%
Sales HE
— The largest customer — BKRKEFP 100%
— Five largest customers combined — AREFPA 100%

At no time during the Financial Year had any of the directors, their
close associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) held an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its immediate
and long-term goals. To maintain its market competitiveness within
the industry, the Group aims at delivering constantly high standards
and high quality products to its customers. During the year under
review, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

Environmental conservation remains a key focus for the Group. The
conscientious use of resources and adoption of best practices across
the Group’s businesses underlie its commitment to safeguarding the
environment. The Group encourages environmental protection and
complies with environmental legislation and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees.

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, enhancement on procedure
monitoring, energy conservation and environment protection
were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement
of environmental management. Several measures have been
implemented by the Group in order to promote environmental
protection.

For further information, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 49 to 52 of this report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that
have significant impact on the Group. The audit committee of
the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought
to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units
from time to time.
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As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this
report, the directors believe that the number of securities of the
Company which are in the hands of the public is above the relevant
prescribed minimum percentage under the Listing Rules.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the litigation and contingent liabilities are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are set
out on pages 24 to 34 of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five years ended 31 March 2017 is set out on page
176 of this report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year have
been audited by East Asia Sentinel Limited, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman

Shanghai, 29 June 2017
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG report”) of the Group. The ESG report elaborates on the
various work of the Group in fully implementing the principle of
sustainable development and its performance of environmental,
social and governance from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. For
information on the Group’s corporate governance, please refer
to the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 24 to 34 of this
report.

Scope of ESG Report

The ESG report presents the Group’s sustainability approach and
performance in the environmental and social aspects of during
the Financial Year. The Group will continue its efforts in collecting
information from different business areas for better environmental
and social performance and disclosure of relevant information in
sustainable development.

Reporting Guidelines

The ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”, as set
out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

Environmental protection

Although the Group’s principal businesses have no significant
impact on the environment, the Group recognises importance of
environmental sustainability and endeavours to minimize the impact
of business on environment through adopting numerous energy-
saving and conservation initiatives. The Group’s policy is to ensure
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations
and minimize its environmental footprint through efficient use
of resources and adoption of pro-environmental management.
The Group’s operation is mainly office-based and its eco-friendly
measures at the office are as follows:

° staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting rooms and computers at workstations when not in use;

° whenever possible, documents are handled electronically other
than physical papers;

° staff is reminded to save water;

° staff is encouraged to reuse paper printed on one side and
duplex printing and copying. Data on printing and copying is
regularly reviewed to assess efficiency of paper usage;

° office supplies are recycled whenever possible; and

° conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are arranged
where possible.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g REBHRE

Emissions, Environmental and Natural

Resources

As the Group’s principal businesses do not currently involve any
direct production procedure, there is no direct emission of exhaust
gas and greenhouse gas, discharge of wastewater and discharges
into land, production of hazardous and non hazardous waste, etc..
The main contributor to the Group’s carbon footprint is the indirect
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from electricity consumption,
which is mainly attributed to the use of lighting system, air-
conditioning and office equipment.

Taking into account the nature of the Group’s businesses, the
Board believes that its business operations have minimal direct
impact on the environment and natural resources. The Group is not
aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste during the
reporting period.

The Group will continue to put more effort on resources saving and
strive for better protection of our environment.

Employment

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. The Group
establishes and implements policies that promote a harmonious and
respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of
an enterprise and regards human resources as its corporate
wealth. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression.
Through different training, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate
operations, occupational and management skills are enhanced.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promoation, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the
reporting period.

Health and Safety

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial
work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines
are implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and
safe. The Group provides health and safety communications for
employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness
of occupational health and safety issues.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In order to
provide employees with health coverage, staff are entitled to medical
insurance benefits.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to the provision of a safe working environment and
the protection of employees from occupational hazards during the
reporting period.

Training and Development

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of all employees and considers training
and development a continual process. In-house training is provided
to help employees develop and maintain consistency, proficiency
and professionalism.

Labour Standards

The Group from time to time reviews its employment practice and
the Group’s guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in
full compliance with the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law in the PRC and other relevant labour laws and
regulations in other jurisdictions relating to, among other things,
prevention of child labour and forced labour.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to prevention of child and forced labour during the
reporting period.

Supply Chain Management

While the Group has established good relationships with its
suppliers, the Group also offers equal opportunity to all potential
business partners. Selection criteria such as, quality and price of
products, supplier’s reputation, background and experience are
key factors to the Group’s procurement decisions. Furthermore, the
Group expects its suppliers to strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations.

Product Responsibility

The Group is responsible for its products and services and does not
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Fraud, misleading
information, or any acts that destroy customer confidence or infringe
customer rights are strictly prohibited. The Group has also strictly
complied with relevant products and services related regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g REBHRE

All customers’ complaints will be considered, with corresponding
followup procedures being conducted in accordance with internal
procedures and guidelines. Relevant investigation will be taken and
settlement may be made if appropriate, and improvement will be
made whenever necessary. The Group believes that complaints are
a valuable opportunity for it to obtain feedback from the community
and customers, so as to identify the need for service and policy
improvement.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to uphold high standards on anti-
corruption. Adequate guidelines are implemented to ensure that
all employees (including directors) adhere to high standards of
business and professional and ethical conduct. All employees are
encouraged to raise any related concerns to the senior management
in a strictly confidential manner. Any matters of genuine concern are
to be thoroughly investigated and actions will be taken accordingly.

The Group is fully compliant with all relevant anti-money laundering
laws. The risk of establishing relationships with individuals or
organisations engaged in money laundering or terrorism activities are
minimized by its ‘know your customer’ and assessment processes.

The Group has robust internal control procedures in place to provide
reasonable assurance against fraud.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
during the reporting period.

Community Investment
The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the
wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility.

The Group would explore the possibility of finding suitable partners
and contributing to community and environmental protection
programmes which facilitate positive changes. The Group would
also from time to time encourage its staff to support community
service activities.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
EMBEREYNEERLQA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
57 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide the basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

18 3 % BRI ]

East Asia Sentinel Limited
BRI EBRAERAE
Certified Public Acconntants

22/F, Tai Yau Building

181 Johnston Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel :+852 2521 2328

Fax :+852 2525 9890

Email : letters@EBEastAsiaSentinel.com
www.EastAsiaSentinel.com
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AZ B RS

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Intangible asset in respect of the in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”)

As detailed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, an
impairment assessment was carried out by the management of the
Group on the Group’s intangible asset in respect of the In-process
R&D involving an oral insulin product (“the Product”) with the
carrying amount of HK$1,373,224,000 as at 31 March 2017. The
carrying amount of the In-process R&D is determined based on the
management’s key assumptions which are made with high degree
of estimation uncertainties. This carrying amount is highly dependent
upon further research and development work that is required to
be carried out, results of clinical trials, successful launching of the
Product and key assumptions to be applied in preparing a cash flow
projection for the sales of the Product.

One of the major assumptions relied on in assessing the carrying
amount is the directors’ opinion that the Group would be successful
in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the relevant government
bodies and launching the Product by the end of 2019. These
assumptions are the fundamental factors upon which the entire
valuation exercise as to the recoverable amount of the Group’s
intangible asset is based.

However, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to support the probability of the Group successfully
launching the Product, that is, specifically, the likelihood and timing
in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the relevant government
bodies to launch the Product by the end of 2019. In the absence
of sufficient audit evidence for these fundamental assumptions, we
are unable to ascertain the reasonableness of the key assumptions
relied on by the management in assessing the recoverable amount of
the intangible asset as at 31 March 2017, and to determine whether
any impairment on the intangible asset should be recognised.

Any further adjustments to the carrying amount of the intangible
asset as described above might have a significant consequential
effect on the Group’s consolidated financial position as at 31 March
2017 and of its financial performance for the year then ended,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continved)

Intangible asset in respect of the in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) (continued)
In addition, included in the amounts due from group companies as
shown in the Company’s statement of financial position set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has
an amount due from its subsidiary, Clear Rich International Limited
(“Clear Rich”), amounting to HK$435,200,000 as at 31 March
2017. In the absence of sufficient audit evidence supporting that
the carrying amount of the intangible asset was fairly stated, we
are similarly unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the carrying
amount of the amount due from Clear Rich as included in the
Company’s statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017 can
be recoverable, and whether any impairment on the amount due
from Clear Rich should be recognised in the Company’s loss for the
year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue auditors’ report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

However, because of the matters described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

East Asia Sentinel Limited

Yim Wing Yee
Director

Practising Certificate No. P0O5906

Hong Kong
29 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-Z—+F=-A=1T—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FET FAT
Revenue & 7 9,187 19,908
Cost of sales $H & AN (8,460) (19,319)
Gross profit E7 727 589
Other income H A 8 11,813 13,112
Other gains and losses, net Hmlhz R EE - F58 8 (69,478) (146,263)
Selling expenses 85 6 B 32 (195) (248)
Administrative expenses THAX (22,557) (30,011)
Research and development expenses fiff 2% 5 ¢ (629) (1,347)
Other expenses H A= - (5,162)
Share of results of associates S B & N B X 4a 17 10,011 7,945
Finance costs B % & B 9 (108,034) (79,562)
Loss before tax RLRIE 18 (178,342) (240,947)
Income tax expense FTEHAX 10 — -
Loss for the year FNEE 11 (178,342) (240,947)
Other comprehensive income/ Htz2mEEA A (FAX) :
(expenses):
Iltems that may be reclassified R e BT 7R B
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE -
Available-for-sale financial assets: AftHESHEE  ®8E
net movement in the investment EhHEBCEHFE
revaluation reserve 442 (475)
Share of other comprehensive FE (5Bt & N B H b 2 [
expense of associates X (1,600) —
Exchange differences on BMEBIINEB  ERERE
translation of
foreign operations (1,204) (702)
(2,362) (1,177)
Items that will not be reclassified A fé BT EF D IEEIE
subsequently to profit or loss: wmZIEHE -
(Loss)/gain on revaluation on land T REBFEM (EE)
and buildings e ¢ (1,128) 1,082
Deferred taxation arising on THREFE[ELECIE
revaluation of land and buildings FEFR A 282 (271)
(846) 811

20174 4R
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBakEMrmkas

For the year ended 31 March 2017
BE—T—t+tF=-A=1+—HIEFE

2017 2016
—E—tfF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2% FHET FAT
Other comprehensive expense FRNEMEMERX
for the year (3,208) (366)
Total comprehensive expense FRNEHEFZ B
for the year (181,550) (241,313)
Loss for the year attributable to: ATATEGEERNERE :
Owners of the Company ZAN/NESTE Z =N (169,788) (236,865)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IS FEE 2 (8,554) (4,082)
(178,342) (240,947)
Total comprehensive expense IWTALTEEERNZTERY
for the year attributable to: BEE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETE Z =N (172,397) (237,231)
Non-controlling interests JE 28 IS HEE 25 (9,153) (4,082)
(181,550) (241,313)
HK cents HK cents
B JEA
Loss per share FhirEE 15
Basic B (11.60) (16.85)
Diluted BE (11.60) (16.85)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEBHRRR

As at 31 March 2017
R-E—tHF=A=1+—H

2017 2016
—E—tF —E AT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FET TET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M WE MRE 16 32,385 35,833
Interests in associates R & N A M & 17 113,462 128,103
Investments in convertible bonds RABBRESNIEE 18 225,245 259,555
Intangible asset | A E 19 1,373,224 1,373,224
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEHESEE 22 22,501 6,921
Loan to a non-controlling interest MIEZEREZER 26 - 4,646
Amount due from the subsidiary RN ol
of an associate = NEIE s 26 8,125 16,192
1,774,942 1,824,474
Current assets MENE E
Trade receivables B 5 BER R 20 6,375 —
Prepayments, deposits and FERTRIE - BE R
other receivables b B YL FR08 21 8,333 163,259
Bank balances and cash IRITHE R R E 23 61,316 32,459
76,024 185,718
Current liabilities mENBE
Trade payables =) AN TN 24 2,237 8
Fund received in advance BWE® 25 - 50,000
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K& CH b e (5 5B 5,863 5,291
Amounts due to non-controlling JE& 11 FE 458 B #E 25 SR 1B
interests 27 22,871 22,871
Amounts due to former non- FE - BT FE 128 Bz 1 2 IR
controlling interests 27 823 823
Amount due to the subsidiary AR aNE]
of an associate S NEIE s 27 41,947 41,947
73,741 120,940
Net current assets TmE)EE R 2,283 64,778
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTEBEE 1,777,225 1,889,252
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A MFIRR R

As at 31 March 2017

R-_E—+F=A=+—~8”

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FATT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bonds EIRN T 29 470,671 403,146
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIEAE 28 2,162 2,444
Loan from a non-controlling interest 3 B FEIERERE R 27 6,067 4,646
478,900 410,236
NET ASSETS EEFHE 1,298,325 1,479,016
Capital and reserves BARAKEE
Share capital N 30 14,642 14,642
Reserves e 413,332 584,870
Equity attributable to owners of the  ANA B A A E(GREZ
Company 427,974 599,512
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR #E 2 870,351 879,504
TOTAL EQUITY A 1,298,325 1,479,016

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 175 were #HRESTEEZEFIT5E 2R M BEHEKRE
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2017 and aresigned HEZE28R_FT—tF A= TN Bt

on its behalf by: B WHATESRKRESE
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
& F B
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BZE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-Z—+F=-A=1T—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARARRARSE

Foreign
Share  Convertible  Investment Property currency Non-
premium bonds equity  revaluation  revaluation Others  Statutory translation Accumulated controlling
Share capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total  interests Total equity

L
) ; S FER
R : : : Afthfe  iERE f R Eh B ERAR
HK$'000 0 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tix BT AT BT AT BT T T Fin

At 31 March 2015 RZF-1%
ZA=t-H 13,042 1,013,046 1,141,845 73 5123 4140 347 2,716 (1,462,454) 717,878 883,586 1,601,464
Loss for the year FRER - - = = = = = - (236,865) (236,865) (4,082 (240,947)

Other comprehensive (expense)  £REM2E
income for the year (B3 - - - (475) 811 - - 102 - (366 - (366

Total comprehensive (expense)

income for the year = = = (475) 811 = = (702) (236,869) (237,231) (4,082) (241,318)
Recognition of equity component of B2 A ik &
convertible bonds [ i) - = 109,371 - - - - - - 109,371 - 109,371
Issue of shares upon conversion of ATk (& A&
convertible bonds BIRG 1,600 106,248 (98,354) - - - - - - 9,494 - 9,494
Transactions with owners EREAEGRS 1,600 106,248 11,017 - - - - - - 118,865 - 118,865
At 31 March 2016
14642 1119294 1,152,862 (402) 5934 4140 347 2014 (1,699,319) 599,512 879,504 1,479,016
Loss for the year ERFE - - - - - - - — (169788  (169,788) 8554 (178,342)
Other comprehensive (expense)  £REM2E
income for the year (B3 s - = = ) (592) (1,600) = (859) = 2,609) (599) (3.208)
Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - 44p (592) (1,600) - (859 (169788  (172:397) (9153 (181,550)
convertible bonds = - 17,813 - - - - - - 17,813 - 17,813
Early redemption on convertible
bonds — = (17819 = = = = = 89 (16,954) = (16,954)
Transactions with owners - - - - - - - - 859 859 - 859
At 31 March 2017
14642 1,119294 1,152,862 40 5342 2,540 37 1,155 (1,868,248) 427,974 870,351 1,298,325
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

/\/\

BEmEEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2017

BE—T—

Notes:

62

TtF=A=+t—HILFE

The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share capital
in excess of nominal value.

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to the
equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC before distribution
of the net profit each year, the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC shall
set aside 10% of its net profit after taxation to the statutory reserve. The reserve
can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of these PRC
established subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated
losses or increase capital. During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016,
there were no transfer from retained profits to the statutory reserve since the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries incurred net loss in those year ends.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on
retranslating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into presentation
currency.

Remittance outside the PRC of retained profits of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC is subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of
foreign currencies generated and retained by these subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= hoy~gi—1
17 \éiﬁﬁlﬁi%‘%
As at 31 March 2017
RZE—tF=HA=+—~H

2017 2016
—B—tF —EAF
NQER HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 3 FERT FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REES
Loss before tax Al E R (178,342) (240,947)
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property, ME - HWEREEBEITE
plant and equipment 1,171 1,164
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME  WEAREZK
plant and equipment = - (11)
Impairment loss on interest in REtE R AR RERBR
an associate 23,052 23,476
Impairment loss on loan to a non- TR ERE R ZREEE
controlling interest 6,067 —
Impairment loss on other receivable H it UK IE 2 BB E 1B - 1,852
Loss on initial recognition of HAWBIBRESIREZ
investments in convertible bonds s TR E R
acquired during the period - 62,161
Change in fair value of derivative ABRREFREZITERD
components of investments ZRAFEEE
in convertible bonds 18 40,186 58,509
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz K - (10)
Gain on early redemption of IEHI B O Al R B 5 2 W
convertible bonds (21) —
Share of results of associates DR E RRIEE (10,011) (7,945)
Imputed interest income from loan to  FEIERERFER 2
a non-controlling interest BEFBWA (1,421) (1,088)
Imputed interest income from loanto Bt R A 2B AR ERZ
a subsidiary of the associate HEFE HﬁU\ (4,113) (5,814)
Dividend income from available-for- AtHESREEY
sale financial assets A& B A (151) (163)
Interest income from banks RITFEHA (6) (163)
Interest income of available-for-sale AEHESREEZ
financial assets ) BUA (80) (97)
Net loss on disposal of HEMHLESHEEY
available-for-sale financial assets B8 F 58 194 286
Effective interest income from ARBREFREZ
investment in convertible bonds R B A 18 (5,876) (5,696)
Effective interest expense on ARBRESFERFE
convertible bonds Gi5:3 29 94,433 78,474
Imputed interest expense on loan from A AR E R B X
a non-controlling interest ZHEMBERT 9 1,421 1,088
Imputed interest expense on amount  [AEE QA ZHIB AR ER
due from the subsidiary of an ZTHEF B R
associate g 12,180 —
Operating cash flows before changes & & & R EEFj 2
in working capital KEBRERE (21,317) (34,924)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
,T\ Iﬁi/ﬂbii‘%

As at 31 March 2017
R-E—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THET
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables & 5 fE U BR 2% (3& hn) /w2 (6,375) 9,992
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, BAFIE - Ze RHEHA
deposits and other receivables FEUW ZRIE R A (3 hn) 144,926 (147,136)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables & ZEMBERIZIE M 4) 2,229 (7,091)
Increase in fund received in advance  FEUE £ 1840 - 50,000
Increase/(Decrease) in accruals and JEstE R M EAM
other payables FEfT R EE M, CRd) 572 (3,926)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED R&# EZEM#E,(FrH) 2
IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEHE 120,035 (133,085)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Dividends received from available-for- mI#tHESREEEL 2
sale financial assets B R B 151 163
Interests received from available-for- —H/ftﬁ’% mﬂﬁ??iz
sale financial assets B U F B 80 97
Interest received from banks EUIR1THI B 6 163
Purchases of property, BEYWE - BENMEE
plant and equipment - (300)
Purchases of available-for-sale BEAHIEESMEE
financial assets (20,122) (5,198)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEDE  BEMKREZ
plant and equipment FT1S A — 76
Proceeds on disposal of HNEARIESRHEEL
available-for-sale financial assets FriS5k38 4,790 4,402
Net cash inflow upon disposal/loss of  HEMB AT k&
control of subsidiaries g E=RNCTE R v v
WEMAFRE - 10
NET CASH USED IN REZBDFAREER
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (15,095) (587)
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As at 31 March 2017
NZE—tF=H=+—H

2017 2016
—B-tF —E-RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E TERT FHT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Interest expenses paid to RABBRESER
an associate on convertible bonds BENAZABERE 29 (25,025) (25,025)
Repayment on early redemption of REERATBREESZ
convertible bonds B 29 (51,003) —
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING METHTAREFE
ACTIVITIES (76,028) (25,025)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH B4 RREZEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #im, CEd) BEE 28,912 (158,697)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FENREREESEEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 32,459 191,191
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HhNEETE R B 2 &

RATE CHANGES (55) (35)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERBEERBEESEEY -

AT THE END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances BIRTTHESRNIE S

and cash 61,316 32,459
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1.

66

GENERAL INFORMATION

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (“the Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands. On 1 March 2013, the Company has been
deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws
of Bermuda. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business in Hong Kong is situated at Unit
No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”), which is the same as the presentation currency of the
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange. These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of leasehold property, available-
for-sale financial assets and investments in convertible
bonds, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION (continuea)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BT RRMIFE

2.

(i)

68

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAFITRLIETEEN

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BBFEER([HFBMER

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) HERH )

New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the Group (i) ZAEBEHFEMN 2 HITREBITE
7B B3R & ZE A

The Group has adopted the following new and revised AEBERAFENBTRERPER

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s consolidated AL TN E ] R &IE ] B 7B B 75 3

financial statements. L o

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
and HKAS 28 (2011)

BEEMBRELERFI05 BEMKHR REER - BAKaZOIMER
THERNE125% M BB G 5 R F 285
(BETHR)(ZF—— %)

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
BBV B REERFE145% EERLEREP
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
BB ERF15% (EFTMR) BEEE
Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation
EE ST ERIFE165% K BRAIESITE REHES X
EE g ERIFE385E (£ 5T HR)
Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
EEGERIF279E (1B ETHR) BB HRER 2 EmA
—E——%F)
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
ETEBUBRE LR ZIER] T CHFE-T-NFRACFERE
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2.

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the Group
(Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28 (2011), HKFRS 14, amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41, amendments to HKAS 27 (2011), and certain
amendments included in the Annual Improvements 2012-2014
Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, the nature and the impact of
the amendments are described below:

(@@ Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in consolidated financial statements. The
amendments clarify:

the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

° that specific line items in the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

o that entities have flexibility as to the order in which
they present the notes to financial statements; and

o that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using
the equity method must be presented in aggregate
as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The amendments have had no
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2.

(i)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(i)

70

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the Group (i)

(Continued)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects
a pattern of economic benefits that are generated
from operating a business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed
through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-
based method cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The
amendments are applied prospectively. The amendments
have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group as the Group has not used a
revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation
of its non-current assets.

(c) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
issued in October 2014 sets out amendments to a
number of HKFRSs. Details of the amendments are as
follows:

HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations: Clarifies that changes to a plan
of sale or a plan of distribution to owners should not be
considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather it is a
continuation of the original plan. Accordingly, there is no
change in the application of the requirements in HKFRS 5.
The amendments also clarify that changing the disposal
method does not change the date of classification of the
non-current assets or disposal group held for sale. The
amendments are applied prospectively. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group as the Group did not
have any change in the plan of sale or disposal method
in respect of the disposal group held for sale during the
year.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued

(i)

but not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7
BEAGFTERIETH(BETHR)
Amendments to HKAS 12
BALEERE129({EEThR)
Amendments to HKFRS 2

BAMBRELERFE29 (EEThR)
Amendments to HKFRS 4

BB M B HRE LR B4 (EETR)

HKFRS 9 (2014)
BEAUBRELENEIR(ZFT—HF)
HKFRS 15

BB wEERE155%
Amendments to HKFRS 15

BB wEERE 155 (BFTR)
Amendments to HKAS 40
BALETERIE 409 (EEThR)
HK (IFRIC)-Int 22
B (B R
— R EFE225
HKFRS 16
BB wEERE165%
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(2011)
EAMBEMEERNEI0R BB E
AIZE285F (ZF —— )

Amendments to HKFRSs

BB wEER(EETHR)

TRELZES)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIEE

2. ERAMAIREETERAY
BHREEL([EEBHBER
HFEA D e

E S {B el R 4 Rz AT R A
BAERMBREER

7R 6 B 3 R0 5% %5 B 7S R R R4
BATR B4R 4518 14 K £ 2 T AT 4G
BT E B WA -

(i)

Disclosure Initiative'

BEEE

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses'

HAEREERARLEHRIEEE

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions?

IR BERZNRR G 2B R 22

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts?

RATEMBHREERB4RIRER SO K
—EREEMBREERNESFRI e/ T A2

Financial Instruments?

& @l T A2

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

B a2z W2

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers?

BEHEBVBRELENFISHRET LK 2 W2

Transfers to Investment Property?

BREMHEZ B2

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration?

SNEE R 5 R B A (B2

L eases®
GER=E
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*
REERABEPESIEELFECLANEELETTE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle®
—E-HFEE_ZT-RFEH
H 8 B 15 3R 2RI ) F 2 BOES

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 1 RZTE—tF-—A—HXz2EBRABEHN
FEHBEER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 2 RZZE-—NF-—A—Hkz2EBRBEHN
FEHBEER

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 3 RZZE-—NF-—A—HBHXz2EREBEHN
FEHBEER

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 4 i R 7B T 5 il AE A B HR - MERT AR AR

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 5 =T —tEtF-—A—HHI=ZZFT—N\F

1 January 2018, as appropriate

—A—B@EFBERME) K&
4 HI R AR
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(ii)

72

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes. The amendments will result in additional disclosure
to be provided in the financial statements. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with the purpose
of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at
fair value, although they also have a broader application for
other situations. The amendments clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs
to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal
of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance on how an entity should
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some
assets for more than their carrying amount. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2017.

2.

(i)
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(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016
that address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity settled. The amendments clarify that
the approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies
to cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments
introduce an exception so that a share-based payment
transaction with net share settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions are met.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and
conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of
the modification. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2.

(i)

20174 %R

AR BTG R T A

ERAMAREETEREM
BREZEAN(EEMBR
CREUNIES

© 58 i 18 I8 7R 4 2 # 5T AR
BRIEEMBHREEN =
EBRHMAGR —T—AF/\A
BEE BB REEN 2R 2
5 AR=EEBAM  BBIEN
HESHEHNRB XN BMHE
IR LB —ESENEEE
WEETRBINRSHME - A
AEBRHINEENE THRBE
% BEHEEHRN MRS ER
RIGHOERBEE S BER RS LY
MAREEY EERBE B8
B 4 4 00 R0 3 A B D A 83 £
&7 EMERR LRSS ENR
1 o B3T3 B PISMER - SAHE
EEETIRIEEREATETRT
BT 15 T4 B — 5E & A AB R
PREEDEEOBRDZNRS - BT
BEURSBENROZAR B M
BRI RIEDR  BRER AR
REENBRHINXS - AR BHK
RAERREXPABHZBE-
AEEBH R —F — \FEM A —
FIBBIE T - Ht ST H A%
MEAMBRRTEELEALE -

EMBEREMPEERAT 73



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre MR M

(ii)

74

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 4 address issues arising from the
different effective dates of HKFRS 9 and the upcoming new
insurance contracts standard. The amendments introduce two
alternative options that allow entities issuing contracts within
the scope of HKFRS 4 for the adoption of HKFRS 9, notably a
temporary exemption and an overlay approach. The temporary
exemption enables entities whose activities are predominantly
connected with insurance to defer the implementation date
of HKFRS 9 until the earlier of the effective date of the new
insurance contracts standard and annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The overlay approach
allows entities applying HKFRS 9 from 2018 onwards
to remove from profit or loss the effects arising from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 and reclassify the amounts to other
comprehensive income for designated financial assets. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2018.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS
9 from 1 April 2018. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the standard upon adoption and expects that the
adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the classification
and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the standard.
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(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes
in contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licenses of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS
15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April
2018 and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon
adoption.

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that, to transfer to or
from, investment properties, there must be a change in use.
A change in use would involve (a) an assessment of whether
a property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition
of investment property; and (b) supporting evidence that
a change in use has occurred. The amendments also re-
characterised the list of circumstances as a non-exhaustive list
of examples to allow for other circumstances to be accounted
for as a transfer, as long as that change is supported by
appropriate evidence as follows:

— commencement of owner-occupation, or of development
with a view to owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

— commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

— end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
occupied property to investment property; and

— inception of an operating lease to another party, for a
transfer from inventories to investment property.

The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2018. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 is set out in accordance with HKAS 21
“The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate” requires
an entity to record a foreign currency transaction by applying
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. HKAS 21
states that the date of the transaction is the date on which
the transaction first qualifies for recognition in accordance
with HKFRSs. When an entity pays or receives consideration
in advance in a foreign currency, it generally recognises a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability before the
recognition of the related asset, expense or income. HK(IFRIC)
— Int 22 addresses how to determine a date of the transaction
for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use an
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
when an entity has received or paid advance consideration in a
foreign currency.

The Group expects to adopt HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 from 1 April
2018. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 and is currently assessing
the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for application now.

The Annual Improvements — HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle with
improvements to standards and interpretations aims to remove
inconsistencies and clarify texts. These improvements are:

— HKFRS 1 First-time adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — The improvement delete on
short-term exemptions for first-time adopters. The
amendment are effective for financial periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018.

— HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
— The improvements clarify that the election to measure
investments at fair value through profit or loss accordance
with HKFRS 9. The amendments are effective for financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2017 Annual Report
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but not yet effective (continued)

— HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
Improvements to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests
in other entities — The improvements clarify that
the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12, except
as described in paragraph B12, apply to interests in
subsidiary, joint venture and associate (or a portion of
its interest in joint venture and associate) is classified
(or included in a disposal group that is classified) as
held for sale or discontinued operations in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. The amendments are effective
for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

The improvements are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and associates
made up to 31 March.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains
or losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company
transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNT'NG POLIC'ES (Continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed in
the note 36 to these consolidated financial statements, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in an associate are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit
or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNT'NG POLIC'ES (Continued)

Associates (continuea)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to “share of results of associates”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gains and losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated
in foreign currency classified as available for sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from changes in
the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related
to changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss,
and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equity investments held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit on loss as part
of the fair value gains or losses. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets such as equities investments
classified as available-for-sale investments are included in
other comprehensive income.

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

— assets and liabilities for each reporting period presented
are translated at the closing rate at the end of the
reporting period;

— income and expenses for each consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate at the date of
that transaction.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(d)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of leasehold
land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of
the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent
of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying
amount arising on revaluation of an asset is recognised in profit
or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the
property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation
of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a
revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining
in the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
accumulated losses.

(e)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

The shorter of the

lease terms and 30 years
3 — 10 years

3 — 8 years

Leasehold land and buildings

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income and gains in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible asset which represents an in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) involving an oral
insulin product (“the Product”). The In-process R&D is not
amortised as it is not yet available for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwiill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount under other standard, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

When allocating an impairment loss to individual assets within
a CGU, the carrying amount of an individual asset should
not be reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable), and
zero. If this results in an amount being allocated to an asset
which is less than its pro rata share of the impairment loss, the
excess is allocated to the remaining assets within the CGU on
a pro rata basis.

(9)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
standard.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”), available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”), and loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

— it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets
and is included in the ‘other gains and losses, net’ line item.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at FVTPL.

Investments in convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible instruments are
classified separately as debt component and conversion
option derivative.

At the date of acquisition of investments in convertible
bonds, the fair value of the debt and derivative components
are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods, the
debt component of the convertible instruments is carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
conversion option derivative is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the acquisition of the
convertible investments are allocated to the debt and
derivative components in proportion to their relative fair
values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative component
are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs
relating to the debt component are included in the carrying
amount of the debt portion and amortised over the period of
the convertible instruments using the effective interest method.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including loan to a non-controlling interest, trade
receivables, other receivables, amount due from the subsidiary
of an associate and bank balances) are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment of
financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.

(h)
(i)

AR BTG R T A

EXAETHREME

eI A

cREE®)

HANPTET A

ETEEFENPBEBEZMETR

WMERETAETIAEZEE - HEAR

B WIEEES LN 2 B ES T

ZT@EE BFEHOTIENIERTF

@ﬁk%¥2ﬁﬁﬁ§'%ﬁ@ﬁ
TESWHEEBYNTETRR

Ei °

O B] 2 18 25 ) I &

MR TANERBOEBLIBRS
BRSO RBRETET R -

RERABRKRESFKRENEY - &

W&MEIAuB MNATFEHARA
FEHER EAB EEAR - PR T
B 1 1& % &P EL/{,\F%?WM—/%BZ%E
%W$§U cHMRESTET AR
SFTEH“E mAFENES IR
BaR AR -

FRARBAAKKRENR HRAR
/\A$TE$EF"?J:|:W|J o B BB TS & 0T
ETEES BEAMELEHLSH
X%W$Eﬂﬁvﬁ<‘iﬁlm?ﬂﬁﬁ G
BE DR HEAT ABB LD A
REE YERAEBERMEREZRN A
MIAHFHRNEH -

E R B E
ERRERRELABETRMS®RE
i B 75 & E 3k 7] B TEHMZ?EME
CRMEE NPT HERIE -

F’EH& KIE (B 1A IEE Hxﬁ*‘%m
B REWERR - eI - fE
H&Hﬁ%%’&?ZWEQEﬂ?ﬂE&@Eﬁ
HERR)KAEBBRAEE - LEHKR
BAEREENBRESBEFZE(RTX
EATREEREBEZSFTEER) o

MBKWARBERMNERER -
w3 FE R I BB B K 2 R2 HA R AR
RSN o

i:3 %

201743 EMBEREYREERAT AN



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRa SRR ME

3.

(h)
(i)

(i)

92

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. The
Group designated investments in bonds and equity securities
as available-for-sale financial assets on initial recognition of
those items.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale monetary
financial assets relating to interest income calculated using
the effective interest method. Other changes in the carrying
amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss
(see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

— breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period and observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sales equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent
to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the investment revaluation
reserve. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment
losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amounts due to the subsidiary of an associate,
non-controlling interests and former non-controlling interests
and loan from a non-controlling interest are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds containing liability and equity components,
and early redemption option, if applicable

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability (together with the early redemption option which is
closely related to the host liability component, if applicable) and
conversion option components are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount
of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by the
Company, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest of similar non-convertible
debts. The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue
of the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the convertible bonds into equity, is included
in equity (convertible bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity
reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve
will be transferred to share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bonds equity reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLI CI ES (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fee paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. To the extent
there is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of reporting period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable loss. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment
or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic
possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

(i)  Revenue from trading of beauty equipment and products
is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles
have been passed to the customers.

(i) Interest income from financial assets is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset‘s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

(i) Dividends income on equity instruments are recognised

in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the

dividends is established.

Leases

Operating leases (As a lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as finance
leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a finance
lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased
asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments,
each determined at the inception of the lease term.

(o)

(p)
(i)

(ii)
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(q)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Finance leases (Continued)

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as finance lease payable. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and
the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge
is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same as
owned assets over the shorter of the lease term and their
estimated useful lives.

Lease of land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment. Unless it is clear that both
elements are operating lease, in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s
financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

(p)
(ii)

(iii)

(q)
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(r)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL|C|ES (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group
if:

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.

(vi)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viiiy The entity or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying according policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Significant influence over Longmark (Shanghai)
HealthCare Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”)

Note 17 describes that Longmark (Shanghai) is an associate of
the Group, the Group held from 50.02% to 49.78% ownership
interest in Longmark (Shanghai). Pursuant to the changes
of memorandum and articles of associations of Longmark
(Shanghai) on 29 November 2013, East Longmark (Shanghai)
HealthCare Limited (REEMR (L /B) R EE RS G R A 7))
(“East Longmark”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
can only appoint one out of the three directors in the board of
directors of Longmark (Shanghai) and all the shareholders and
board of directors’ resolutions of Longmark (Shanghai) require
51% votes to pass. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group lost control over Longmark (Shanghai)
as a result of these changes effected on 29 November 2013
and only has significant influence over Longmark (Shanghai) by
virtue of the contractual right to appoint one out of the three
directors in the board of directors of Longmark (Shanghai)
and its voting powers/rights in shareholders’ and directors’
meetings in which all shareholders and board of directors’
resolutions require 51% votes to pass.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continved)

Significant influence over Extrawell

Extrawell is a company of which shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Note 17 describes that Extrawell is an associate of the Group
although the Group only owns 19.14% ownership interest in
Extrawell. The Group has significant influence over Extrawell
by virtue of the potential voting right upon full exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds of that
company.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the Group
is estimated based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of individual trade debts performed by the
management. A considerable amount of judgment is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is lower
than its carrying amount. For the year ended 31 March 2017,
impairment loss of nil (2016: Nil) was recognised for property,
plant and equipment based on the impairment assessment
performed by the management. The management performed
an impairment assessment on the property, plant and
equipment, in particular, the leasehold land and buildings of
which the carrying amount is HK$32,132,000 as at 31 March
2017 (2016: HK$35,461,000), with reference to the valuation
report prepared by an independent qualified valuer using
depreciated replacement costs approach. It is possible that
actual outcomes may be different from assumptions, having a
material impact on the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment in the period when such estimate is revised. As at
31 March 2017, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment was HK$32,385,000 (2016: HK$35,833,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continved)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value of investments in convertible bonds

The fair values of embedded conversion option of convertible
bonds invested by the Group are calculated using valuation
techniques. Valuation techniques are certified by an
independent qualified valuer before being implemented for
valuation and are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect
market conditions. Valuation models established by the valuer
make the maximum use of market inputs and rely as little as
possible on the Group’s specific data. The model involves
estimates on time to expiration, risk free rate, share price,
share price volatility, discount rates and others. As at 31 March
2017, the carrying amount of the embedded conversion option
of convertible bonds invested by the Group is HK$186,841,000
(2016: HK$227,027,000).

Should any of the estimates be revised, it may lead to
a material change to the fair value of the investments in
convertible bonds.

Fair value of the embedded option of the convertible
bonds issued by the Company

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by the
Company, the fair value of the embedded option of the
convertible bonds was calculated using valuation techniques.
Valuation techniques were certified by an independent qualified
valuer before being implemented for valuation and were
calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect market conditions.
Valuation models established by the valuer make the maximum
use of market inputs and rely as little as possible on the
Group’s specific data. The model involved estimates on time
to expiration, risk free rate, share price, share price volatility,
discount rate and others.

Should any of the estimates be revised, it may lead to a
material change to the fair value of the convertible bonds
issued by the Company.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continved)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of intangible assets

The Group performs annual tests of impairment on intangible
assets in relation to an in-process research and development
project (the “In-process R&D”) involving an oral insulin
product (the “Product”) which are not yet available for use.
Accordingly, the intangible assets relating to the Product with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 as
at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$1,373,224,000) was tested for
impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units are determined based on fair value calculations, which
is highly dependent upon further research and development
work required to be carried out, results of the clinical trials, the
successful launching of the Product and the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections.
Details of the calculation of fair value are disclosed in note 19
to the consolidated financial statements. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax
discount rates, and other assumptions underlying the fair
value calculations. In addition, the management is of the
opinion that the Group would be successful in obtaining the
regulatory approvals from the relevant government bodies and
launching the Product by the end of 2019 in the absence of
unforeseeable circumstance. The management also based
on the assumption that the Group would continue to have
the exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product after
the agreement with Tsinghua University, Beijing in connection
with the research and development of the Product expires in
October 2018.

Should the actual outcome of the clinical trials and the
launching of the Product be unsuccessful, the likelihood and
timing in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the relevant
government bodies to launch the product to be unrealised,
or the key assumptions applied in preparing the cash flow
projections from the Product in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or growth rate assumptions
applied in the cash flow projections on the In-process R&D
is different from the original estimates, such difference could
materially affect the carrying value of the intangible assets. It
will consequently have an adverse effect on the net assets and
the results of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continved)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company are in the opinion that the
Group will be successful in obtaining a regulatory approval
from the relevant government bodies and launching the oral
insulin product by the end of 2019. For this reason, sufficient
cash inflows will be obtained by the Group after this product is
launched to markets. In addition, the Company will be able to
increase its working capital by offering shares for subscription,
issuing rights or convertible bonds. After taking into account
the Group’s business prospects and the available financial
resources, the directors of the Company are satisfied that
that is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of amounts due to
the subsidiary of an associate, non-controlling interests and
former non-controlling interests, loan from a non-controlling
interest and convertible bonds, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves. The directors of the
Company review the capital structure on an annual basis. As
part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure using net debt to
equity ratio; whereby net debt comprises convertible bonds
less bank balances and cash whilst equity means the total
equity of the Group. During the year, the Group’s strategy
to maintain a healthy net debt to equity ratio has remained
unchanged, and the debt to equity ratio is 0.32 as at 31 March
2017 (2016: 0.25).

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

5.

AR BTG R T A

EXRRABERE

AREBFRHFEERESLLXRESE
EEARLEE HbhFaBERETHE
R EERmIBITESG RIS i
BAEB 7 HEZBREE MNAFE -
AEBEHSEE 2 EBRESLERZ
RENATNE R_F—+F=H
=+—B EBY#EDLEXE032
(ZZ— "% :0.25)

ERTH
ST EER

2017 2016
—E—+tF 7N
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEAEBRZ
TREE 186,841 227,027
Loans and receivables (including ERkEWGIE (B
cash and cash equivalents) ReMReEBY) 120,356 236,876
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 22,501 6,921
Financial liabilities EMEE
Amortised cost b S ) DN 550,479 528,732

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include investments
in convertible bonds, available-for-sale financial assets, trade
receivables, other receivables, bank balances, loans from/
(to) non-controlling interests, trade payables, other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to
former non-controlling interests and convertible bonds. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk primarily relate to
debt component of convertible bonds held by the Group,
available-for-sale financial assets and the liability component
of convertible bonds issued by the Company as set out in
notes 18, 22 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

The Group’s available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period, which are
affected by the market interest rate. Therefore, the fair values
of the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets are exposed
to fair value interest rate risk. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk profiles. The management considers the Group’s
exposure to fair value interest rate risk is minimal taking
into account the minimal fluctuation on market interest rate.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances (see note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements for details). The management considers
the Group’s exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk is
minimal taking into account the minimal fluctuation on market
interest rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Price risk on conversion option embedded in convertible bonds
held by the Group

The Group is required to estimate the fair value of the
conversion option embedded in the convertible bonds held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period with changes
in fair value to be recognised in profit or loss as long as the
convertible bonds are outstanding. The fair value adjustment
will be affected either positively or negatively, amongst others,
by the changes in share price and its volatility of the convertible
bonds issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to the change of share price and its volatility of
the convertible bonds issuer at the reporting date.

If the share prices of the convertible bonds issuer had
been 5% (2016: 5%) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Groups post-tax loss for the year
would be decreased/increased by HK$10,900,000 (2016:
HK$25,200,000)/HK$10,860,000 (2016: HK$25,200,000), as a
result of changes in fair value of conversion option embedded
in the convertible bonds held by the Group.

If the volatility of share prices of the convertible bonds issuer
had been 5% (2016: 5%) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
would be decreased/increased by HK$3,221,000 (2016:
HK$891,000)/HK$1,599,000 (2016: Nil), as a result of changes
in fair value of conversion option embedded in the convertible
bonds held by the Group.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analyses are
unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the pricing
model used in the fair value valuation of the conversion options
embedded in the convertible bonds involves multiple variables
and certain variables are interdependent.

Price risk on available-for-sale investments

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
available-for-sale equity investments.

The management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risks. The Group’s
equity securities price risks are mainly concentrated on equity
instruments quoted in the market. In addition, the Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.
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6. EMI A
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If
the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 12%
(2016: 10%) higher/lower, assuming all other variables were
held constant, the investment revaluation reserve would be
increased/decreased by HK$1,800,000 (2016: HK$497,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale
investments.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to investments
in convertible bonds, loan to a non-controlling interest,
amount due from the subsidiary of an associate, trade and
other receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and bank
balances for current period and prior year.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The investments in convertible bonds as at 31 March 2017
expose the Group to concentration of credit risk. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group assesses the financial position
and performance of the issuer of the convertible bonds of
carrying amount of HK$225,245,000 (2016: HK$259,555,000)
and in view of sufficient net asset and significant bank balance
and cash of the issuer, the management considers the default
risk on the investments in convertible bonds is not significant.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable debts. With respect to credit risk arising from
amounts due from the subsidiary of an associate and loan to
a non-controlling interest, the management would monitor
the financial position/performance over the associate and the
relevant subsidiary with such non-controlling interests. In this
regard, management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on the Group’s bank balances is limited

because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade receivable, all sales made to major
customers who have been given short credit terms. These
credit evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The average credit period granted
to customers ranging from 30 to 90 days (2016: 30 to 180
days). As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of trade
receivable was concentrated on one customer. The Group
will make specific provision for those balances which cannot
be recovered. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. In the opinion of the directors, the default risk
faced by the Group is considered to be low.

The credit risk on available-for-sale financial assets is limited
because the issuers are listed companies in Hong Kong and
overseas with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the Group also
relies on convertible bonds as a significant source of liquidity
for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.

Liquidity risk tables

Weighted On demand or
average less than
interest rate 1month  1-3 months

ng  #EXY
PERE  OR-R -E=@A
HK$'000  HK$'000

6. EMI A
BRREEEERBE®

RBETRREE)

MTERFLAEEZETECRAE
ZAa®EHE (AhEERB B RK
B) - ZREBEINEIAAEGRERE -

B & B SRR

Total Carrying

3 months to 1 year to undiscounted amount at
1 year 5years Over5years  cash flows 31.3.2017
RZB-t§

*EBRE =A=1-H

ZfAE-£ -FEIF BRLE bid-E ) ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T TiEn TiExn T Tién TiExn TiEn
31 March 2017 I e
Non-derivative financial liabilites T4 RERE
Trade payables BARNER - 2,237 - - - - 2,231 2,087
Other payables AMETS - 5,863 - - - - 5,863 5,863
Amount due to the subsidiary of B EEAFZ
an associate NG - 41,947 - - - - 41,947 41,947
Amount due to non-controling R RER R
interests - 22,871 - - - - 22,871 22,871
Amounts due to former ERAERRERTE
non-controlling interests - 823 - - - - 823 823
Loan from a non-controling REFERERER
interest 26.99 - - - 6,067 - 6,067 6,067
Convertible bonds MRRER 21.97 - - 25,025 790,075 607,600 1,422,700 470,671
73,7141 - 25,025 796,142 607,600 1,502,508 550,479

114 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2017 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 6. TR A
Financial risk management objectives and HEREBEEEERBE®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REELRAKE)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued) BB T K ()
Weighted ~ On demand or Totd Carrying
average less than 3 months to 1 yearto undiscounted amount at
EESEC 1 month 1-3 months 1 year 5years  Over 5 years cash flows 31.3.2016
REEH
R ZERE-% -%E1% BRLE g
HK$'00 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
31 March 2016 “E-nEZf=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilites 3T S RERE
Trade payables BHERER - 8 - - - - 8 8
Funds received in advance BlhES - 50,000 - - - - 50,000 50,000
Other payables AfERR - 5,291 - - - - 5,201 5,201
Amount due to the subsidiary of ~ ETEEATZ
an assoclate HEBATZE - 41,947 - - - - 41947 41,947
Amount due to non-controlling EfiRRER A
interests - 22,871 - - - - 22,871 22,871
Amounts due to former ERARRERE
non-controlling interests = 823 = = = = 823 823
Loan from a non-controlling RAFERESER
interest 2699 — — — 4,646 — 4,646 4,646
Convertible bonds AkER 21.97 - - 25,025 815,100 607,600 1,447,725 403,146

120,940 = 25,025 819,746 607,600 1,673,311 528,732
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The following table gives

6. EMI A
BEEREEREERBEE®)

BRELEMEERATVETEZ
rEEERMEEZQATE

AREsETEREEDIRKREH
RERFEFE - TRINKEHEE

information about how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1
to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

EZEeMIARNFEZFECLHE
EERZHERTD REARE) -
AERREBERFEFERAEZ AL
%‘—zi{fﬂ;’“iﬁ?%ﬁiﬁz/&ﬂ?@
RERAN(E-—ZEF =B 2EF °

Relationship of

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Financial assets 31 March 2017 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs  to fair value

R-E-t£=fA=1+-H AE EXRAEE TIBRBABER
tREE ZATE RRAR RERORIEZAAHE LDN ¢ AEZBR

Avallable-for-sale Listed equity investments Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A N/A
financial assets — HK$21,243,000 (2016:

listed equity investment
HK$4,964,000)

Listed bonds investments Level 2 Inputs, other than quoted prices N/A N/A
— HK$1,258,000 (2016: included within Level 1, that are
listed bonds investments observable for the assets, either
HK$1,957,000) directly or indirectly

A nESRERE ERERE — 212430008 E-H  REETEABROEAR TaH ek

T(ZE—1E: [RERE
4,964,000%70)

t‘mi%ﬂ g 28 BAEE BRE-RAREREN 5 TEA oy ilii

1,258, 00037 (=B~ 7% EETERAREBR AANE

w %1% £1,957,000%7T)

Conversion options Assets — HK$186,841,000 Level 3 Binomial Model Expected volatility of ~ The higher the volatility
embedded in Sale (2016: HK$227,027,000) the share price of of the share price of
CB-l and Sale GB-II The fair value is estimated based Extrawel, determined  Extrawell, the higher the
(as defined in note 18) on risk free rate for the life of by reference to the fair value. (Note)
classified as financial the option and share price (from historical share price
asset at FVTPL in observable market data), expected  of Extrawell.
the consolidated volatility of the share price of
statement of financial Extrawell and expected dividend
position yield on the shares and exercise

price.

RERRBRARAS EF— 186,841,000 7 5I8 —EAES RELRERENGSZ REREREEA AT
EREATEGAR  (ZF—RF:227,027,000%7) LREFLREET - EHE - (M)
RLERBELRA AFEDERNTRESRERRIE -

AFETRRES - RERETEETHEE)  BE
REAAGE AR RERE  REUEERTEER
Er-(RERME ite

18) Z it °
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
of derivative financial instruments included in
investments in convertible bonds

AR BTG R T A

6. EW IR

BERREERERRE ®

BREKREHEERATFTETEZ
rEBEMEEZLAFE#E)
BHE2_ZT—t+t&EK_ZE—RFE=H
Zt+—BLEFEE FTRAAFELEE
ERzEBETANER -

ARRBEFERR  REFEKARE
BUBHRRLCERIEMEER TR
BEZREEREEQFERS

AATRBRESREZITESHMT
AZFE=RLAFEFAEZHERE

HK$’000
FER

At 1 April 2015 R-ZZE—FRFEMA—H 233,337
Fair value recognised upon acquisition WKEEREERZ A TE 52,199
Change in fair value loss in profit or loss (Note) AF{EEIEREGDT 225 (MF) (58,509)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—R"F=ZA=+—H 227,027
Change in fair value loss in profit or loss (Note) AFEER Bzt 2 &8 (Ki) (40,186)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=A=+—H 186,841

Note:

All the loss from change in fair value recognised in profit or loss relates to the
conversion options embedded in Sale CB-I and Sale CB-Il (as defined in note
18) held at the end of the current reporting period which is included in “other
gains and losses, net”.
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118

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts
received and receivable for goods sold or services rendered
by the Group to outside customers, less discounts and related
taxes for the year, is analysed as follows:

=R o BER
FRRSERTEBANRES &
R S 4R AR 2 B M R B M R
H2AFE BARFEAZFNR
HEBE - HHFMT -

2017
—2—+tf

HK$’000

Trading of beauty equipment and
products

XRRBRERES

FEx

9,187 19,908

The Group has five reportable and operating segments as
follows:

(@) provision of genetic testing services in the PRC and Hong
Kong (“Provision of genetic testing services”)

(b) distribution of bio-industrial products in the PRC
(“Distribution of bio-industrial products”)

(c) trading of beauty equipment and products in Hong Kong
(“Trading of beauty equipment and products”)

(d) securities investment in Hong Kong and outside Hong
Kong (“Securities investment”)

(e) research, development and commercialisation of the oral
insulin product (“Research and development”)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are strategic
business units that offer different products and services. They
are managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in the consolidated financial
statements. Segment (loss)/profit represents the loss incurred
by or profit earned from each segment without allocation
of corporate and other expenses and other income, gains
and losses, net. All assets are allocated to segments other
than corporate assets, interests in associates, investments
in convertible bonds, amount due from the subsidiary of an
associate, loan to a non-controlling interest and bank balances
and cash. All liabilities are allocated to segments other than
corporate liabilities, amounts due to the subsidiary of an
associate, non-controlling interests and former non-controlling
interests, loan from a non-controlling interest and convertible
bonds.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. W& Kk %

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results

Provision of genetic

2017
th
HK$'000
T

lesting services

ERARRHR
201

6

Distribution of

bio-industrial products equipment and products

NHENERER

2017
tf

2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BTG R T A

DEBUEE R FEE

Securities Research and

investment development

#ERE it

2017 2016 2017 2016
£ 2B

HK$'000  HK$'000

HK$'000
Tén  TEr  TEn  TEx

HK$'000

EBE R )

HK$'000
fix

HK§ 000
TiL

Revenuefromextemal ~ RESNBEF 2 &
customers - - - - - - - - 9,187 19,908
Seqment (oss)fproft A E(ER) /&7 2 %5 (1985 (241 (33) (13 (1123 (661 (8436)  (7.927)
Additional disclosures for 48 & % 2 2 )
operating Segments: REEH:
Interest income received e di &
from available-for-sale SHEEND
investrments ZHERA - - - = 80 g - - 8 o
Depreciation of property, 71 * ME R
dentendequpment  REHFE W {8 s (1119 - - - ~ e (110
Unallocated other income, 7 2 &2 2 A 4UA
gansandlosses,net  MERERFHE 1614 1281
Corporate and other PEEEMRER
expenses (123,154)  (102,763)
Effective interestincome ~ RE AT AR EHTE
from investment in LERFSHA
convertble bonds 5816 56%
Change in fairvalue of A AREHRE
derivative components Z eSS
of investment in LATEEE
convertible bonds (40,186)  (58,509)
Loss on inital recognition & AT %
of investments in E5REL
convertble bonds IRERESE - (6161)
Share of results of AMEBERRXE
associates 10,011 7,945
Impairment loss on interest 1% & B4 /A &]
in an associate LAEEE (28,052 (23,476)
Losshefore taxation ~ WRBAIE & (178,342)  (240.47)
Taxation b - -
Loss for the year ERER (178,342)  (240,947)
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. W% R 938 ¥

(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Provision of genetic

i)

HEERES

Securities

Distribution of Trading of beauty Research and

testing services  bio-industrial products equipment and products investment development

REERAHRY
2017 2016 2017
tF % T

HK$'000 HK$'000

T THL

Assets BE
Segment assets AHEE 289 516 32258
Investments in convertible 7] % (& 4%
bonds
Interests inassociates ~ RABE QT
Corporate and other assets N EEE & E
Total assets BENE
Liabiites 8
Segment liabilties AHAE 4a 303 655
Convertible bonds Ak

Corporate and other
liabilities
Total liabilties BREE

120

AEENERER

2016
F

HK$'000

Tin

38,171

5,809

2017
3

HK$'000
T

6,375

2,230

ARRERERES

£
HK§ 000
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2017

tE

HK$'000

T

22,501

2016
NE
HK$'000

7448

UES

2017

HK$'000
TERL

1,378,476

153

HK§'000
T

1,441,572

74,040

HK$'000

TR

1,439,849

205,245

113,462
72,410

1,850,966

8,986
470,671

72,984

562,641

E
HK§ 000
T
1,487,707
269,655

128,103
134,827

2,010,192

80,152
403,146

47,878

531,176
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. W% R 938 ¥ )

(Continued)

Geographical information i 3 E R

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong REBZ7EBTBEMUREBRTH
and the PRC. The Group’s revenue from continuing operations REBIIRKSFAEWE D 2K B0
from external customers based on location of operations and RAREEZEHERKEELRINARIER
information about its non-current assets (excluding financial HEE(TEEESHMIE BEEE
instruments, intangible asset and interests in associates) by MR ENR 2R )IREEERE
geographical location of the assets are as follows: WEBUEDEZ2EHAT

Non-current assets
(excluding financial
instruments, intangible
assets, and interests

Revenue in associates)
FRBEE(TEE
SHIA BFEER
['ON REE QAT 2 ER)
2017 2017 2016
=2+t = — X —E2—+tF —ZET—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET FET
Hong Kong 578 9,187 19,908 237 313
The PRC ] - — 32,148 35,520
9,187 19,908 32,385 35,833
Interests in associates were excluded from geographical AR ANEBFTEHES A ARIGEES
information disclosure as the Group’s major associate, ZE 3 B B R ES B IR
Extrawell, has several principal places of operations and BRWEDRI Rt RS A Al 2
businesses. REZS o
Information about major customers EEFTEEZEFER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year HEAEEERBEAKIFZTI0NE &
contributing over 10% of the total revenue are as follows: 2T
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Customer At =P - 13,746
Customer B! BP - 6,162
Customer C? =52 9,187 —
1 Revenue from trading of beauty equipment and products. 1 EXfEEXERRERERBES 2 W
2 Revenue from trading of beauty products. 2 EFXBEREMmBES 2 W °
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8. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 8.

122

LOSSES, NET

2017

HK$’000
FEx

Het WA H fth e 25 ] &S

—E—+tF

2016
—E—ARF
HK$’000
FAT

Other income Ha g A
Interest income from banks ER1TF B U A 6 163
Interest income from At ESREE

available-for-sale financial assets Z A B U A 80 97
Dividend income from At ESREE

available-for-sale financial assets Z BB A 151 163
Sundry income HMIERA 166 91
Effective interest income from KERBRRKRESFKRE

investments in convertible bonds ZEBBA B A 5,876 5,696
Imputed interest income from loan to A # 4 A 5 2 B A 7

a subsidiary of the associate ERZHENEKA 4,113 5,814
Imputed interest income from loan to [ 3EIE AR 25 B 3K

a non-controlling interest ZEE R B WA 1,421 1,088

11,813 13,112

Other gains and losses, net Hh s R B 18 - F
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR W - 10
Gain on early redemption of T2 B BB [O A A% (E

convertible bonds 2 Wz 21 —
Change in fair value of derivative MR ESHKRE

components of investments in ZIOTEE D

convertible bonds 2 RNFEEE) (40,186) (58,509)
Loss on initial recognition of FARBAIRBRESREE

investments in convertible bonds 2 AR E B

acquired during the year - (62,161)
Impairment loss on interest in an iR NEIL

associate Z B E B (23,052) (23,476)
Impairment loss on loan to ERTIEERER

a non-controlling interest Z R EEE (6,067) -
Net loss on disposal of HEHEESHMEE

available-for-sale financial assets el SEi=Dc- (194) (286)
Gain on disposals of property, HEME  BEM&E

plant and equipment 2 W - 11
Impairment loss on other receivables  E fib & U X I8 ~ )i (B 5 18 — (1,852)

(69,478) (146,263)
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10.

FINANCE COSTS

Effective interest expense on

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9.

AR BTG R T A

MBER

2017
—E—tF

2016

T —RF
HK$’000
FATT

HK$’000
TRERT

AT E S 2 BIR A B X

convertible bonds (note 29) (Pt 5E29) 94,433 78,474
Imputed interest expense on amount [ #E& A T 2 B A T
due from the subsidiary of an ERZHEEMNBERAL
associate (note 26(b)) (K326 (b)) 12,180 =
Imputed interest expense on loan MIEERERE R
from a non-controlling interest ZHENERX
(note 27(c)) (ftEE27 (c)) 1,421 1,088
108,034 79,562

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2016: 25%).

No Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC income tax have been
made for the year as the group companies operating in Hong
Kong and the PRC did not generate any assessable profits for

the year.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

B

Rz EFERBMEM bt
JE B % M 2 165% (=8 — XN F -
16.5%) 1E i B -

REFBEEEMRSHREA(EEME
PR REXMBHRAERED -
Gy W%’AE}TZ@E%%%%(:%
— N 1 25%) °

—

T
=
R 24 i 2
Lk

b gt
RCE
<K PR P
HH

i
i
P
Xd
B
=
=

HK$’000
THExT
Loss before tax BR T Al 5 18 (178,342) (240,947)
Tax at the domestic income tax 1% 7N Hh P 15 B B R 25%
rate of 25% (2016: 25%) ZE—NF :25%)
FrE 2 TIE (44,586) (60,236)
Tax effect of expense not deductible gt %757~ 7] #1352 B 2
for tax purpose IR E 41,839 58,250
Tax effect of income not taxable LTS E AR T 2 WA
for tax purpose L2 - ()
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised  RIERIIFE B 2 15w £ 244 —
Tax effect of share of results of PaN (NN
associates TR T e £ 2,503 1,987
Income tax expense SRR - —
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FREE

2017 2016
= —TRF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FiB FiB

Loss for the year has been arrived FABEIINE, (GTA)

at after charging/(crediting) T B IEEES
the following:
Auditors’ remuneration Z SR BN &
Provision for the year F N B 1,090 1,000
Under/(Over)-provision BEFETR,/ (%)
for the prior year B 34 (120)
1,124 880
Depreciation of property, Y - BEREREITE
plant and equipment 1,171 1,164
Rental expense for premises under KEHEET
operating leases ZYEMEE X 2,335 2,625
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAEAIZ2TFEKRARN
an expense 8,460 19,319
Staff costs, exclusive of directors’ TBREEEHEENRN
emoluments < B IR
Salaries, bonus and other benefits e B REMER 4,234 4,235
Retirement benefits scheme EIRAE FF &I 4
contributions 274 297
4,508 4,532
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

12 5=

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2016:
ten) directors were as follows:

ENSEMAB(ZT—RF : +

RIEEZMEmMT :

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Name of Directors Directors’ fee benefits contributions Total
ek RAKEF
ESpE ExWme Ht @5l &It HmE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET FHET FHET
Tang Rong ER 60 487 = 547
Chen Weijun REE 80 — — 80
Xiao Yan B it 60 — — 60
Jiang Nian BE 60 - - 60
Zhang Zhihong iR EE 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TER 60 — - 60
Wu Yanmin SR 60 — — 60
Gao Yuan Xing =R 60 850 18 928
Huang He (Note 1) =85 (1) - 136 = 136
Total for the year ended HE-_T—tF
31 March 2017 =A=+—H
IR H#HE 500 1,473 18 1,991
Lee Nga Yan (Note 2) ZHERR (F3E2) 60 484 14 558
Guo Yi (Note 3) 2Bk (FiTE3) 57 - - 57
Tang Rong E 60 487 — 547
Chen Weijun REZE 80 - - 80
Xiao Yan B it 60 — — 60
Jiang Nian e 60 - - 60
Zhang Zhihong RS 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin i 60 - - 60
Gao Yuan Xing (Note 4) =R (fEE4) - 190 4 194
Total for the year ended HE—_ZT—RF
31 March 2016 =H=7=H
EFEZEE 557 1,161 18 1,736
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continuea) 12.EEM €
Note 1:  Ms. Huang He was appointed as a director of the Company on 10 ffizk1: EBztRN-_ET—+tE— A t+HE
January 2017 ZEARRRRES
Note 2:  Ms. Lee Nga Yan resigned as a director of the Company on 29 fizx2: ZHMEZETR=_ZE—FHE+=A8
December 2015 Zt+NBEEEARARARES
Note 8:  Mr. Guo Yi resigned as a director of the Company on 14 December Miz£3: HREER -_ZET—HE+_A+MHM
2015 BEEAQRIES
Note 4:  Mr. Gao Yuan Xing was appointed as a director of the Company on 4 fizF4: SHEREEEER-_Z—RNE—AMNH
January 2016 BEEAARARES
No directors waived any emoluments in current and prior year. MAREBIFE  BESESEHEMN
@ o
During current year and prior year, no emoluments were paid MAFERENFE KAEFHTE
by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon MEMESEZNME  EEBEE N
joining the Group. AR IMARE B 2 ZE -
13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEME
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FR K ERREZEaIHFATBE
included two (2016: three) directors whose emoluments are MEZ(ZET—NF :% VEE )
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of E2M4e i BA RO AR - H
the remaining three (2016: two) individuals are set out =H(ZE—RF: mWB) AL Z M
below: SHINWOT :
2017 2016
—E—+£F —EF—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FATT
Basic salaries and other benefits EAF & R EMEF 1,389 602
Retirement benefit scheme RARBEAF SR
contributions 50 29
1,439 631
The emoluments fell within the following band: B & AT &
Number of individuals
A
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Nil—HK$1,000,000 Z—1,000,0007% 7T 3 2
14. DIVIDEND 14. R &
The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for EEVIAEZREHE T —+4&
the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil). = ﬂ +—HRITEEZEKRE(ZE
/ N\ E'E . /4?\{\)
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15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss

AR BTG R T A

15. ERE B

D F A AR IR A R
BB DRI TR A E S E -

B

2017
—E—tF

HK$’000

FER

Loss for the purposes of basic RAEEFRERK

and diluted loss per share MEEBE BB

(Loss for the year attributable to (RKRAEE A

owners of the Company) FEIRFEREIE) (169,788) (236,8695)
Number of shares R EH

Weighted average number of ordinary Lt & FRRE A K
shares for the purpose of basic and BEEEY
diluted loss per share T M N AE G 8

1,464,193 1,406,106

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible
bonds as their assumed conversion would decrease the loss
per share for the current year and prior year.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, basic and diluted loss per
share was HK$0.1160 (2016: HK$0.1685), which is based on
the loss for the year of approximately HK$169,788,000 (2016:
HK$236,865,000) and the denominators detailed above for
both basic and diluted loss per share.

No diluted loss per share has been presented as the exercise
of the outstanding convertible bonds issued by the Company
would result in a decrease in loss per share (i.e. anti-dilutive).

AEEREEEERE  YEMEBR

RAZAREHAHRAE SR E SR
AARMZEN R ES KSR
ERIAFEREMFEREZBRE

18 o

1R 75 F A /&5 18 49169,788,00078 7T ( —
T — N4 1 236,865,000 ) & X
HzBEEREARBEEEZ
P EHE_ZE—t+tEFE=A=+—
HIEFE EREARBEESEAR
FR0.116078 7T (ZFE— N4 :0.1685
BIT) o

BRITEARNR A ETZHARITER

BREFSERERERRD (AR
BE) BUER2JNESRBEEER -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - BENRZE

Leasehold
land and Plant and Motor
buildings machinery vehicles Total

HE

THREFT BERHESE "= #ER
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$’000
TR TR FERT FTET

COST OR VALUATION KA = 14 B

At 1 April 2015 R-ZZE—RHF
mA—H 36,164 1,409 328 37,901
Additions NE — 300 — 300
Revaluation surplus EH AR 35 - - 35
Written off/disposal W, HE — (29) — (29)
Exchange differences PEH =58 (738) (6) (16) (760)
At 31 March 2016 R-T—"F
=A=+—*H 35,461 1,674 312 37,447
Revaluation surplus EHAH (2,183) — — (2,183)
Exchange differences PE W =% (1,146) 7) (19) (1,172)
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—tF
=A=+—8H 82,182 1,667 293 34,092
ACCUMULATED Rt ERRE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2015 R0
bAH—H — 1,322 233 1,555
Charge for the year FAZ W 1,047 80 37 1,164
Eliminated on revaluation 2 %4 (1,047) - - (1,047)
Eliminated on written off/  Hfi$4 /& B % 5%
disposal — (30) — (30)
Exchange differences VE = %A — (17) (11) (28)
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—RF
=A=+—8H — 1 &B56 259 1,614
Charge for the year FAZ W 1,055 80 36 1,171
Eliminated on revaluation =l ¥ 85 (1,055) — — (1,055)
Exchange differences bE N =8 = (7) (16) (23)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tF
=A=+—*H — 1,428 279 1,707
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 31 March 2017 NZTE—L4F
=A=+—H 32,132 239 14 32,385
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RF
=B=+—H 35,461 319 53 35,833
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BERZRE =

(Continued)
The analysis of the cost or valuation of the above assets is as THREEZRASGEINET :
follows:
Leasehold
land and Plant and Motor
buildings machinery vehicles
HneE
T REF BERBKE RE
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT AT
As at 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+F
=A=+—H
At cost DN - 1,667 293 1,960
At valuation fH1E 32,132 - - 32,132
32,132 1,667 293 34,092
As at 31 March 2016 RIT—RF
=A=+—H
At cost (DN — 1,674 312 1,986
At valuation HE 35,461 — — 35,461
35,461 1,674 312 37,447
The leasehold land and buildings of the Group were revalued AREB 2 HAETHEEFTFRA_-E
on 31 March 2017 and 2016 by Roma Appraisals Limited, —t+tFER_E—-RF=ZA=+—H
an independent professional qualified valuer not connected HESBRERIHARA AR (AERNE
with the Group, at approximately HK$32,132,000 (2016: WEBEEZBLZESERMGE
HK$35,461,000). Ab) 2 flh - 4 B 49 /532,132,000 % 7T
(ZZ—7N4% : 35,461,000 ) °
The fair value of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings REFBHETHWEEFZATLER
were determined based on the depreciated replacement costs BITEEEKRAELETE - HE L
approach. The value of the leasehold land and buildings are MEFZEEDER T HIBRAR
based on an estimate of the market value for existing use ZEFTME - MEBEBEMZE
of the land, plus current cost of replacement of the existing Al B A - BRE Y E BRI
structures less deductions for physical deterioration and all M ERBEER ZHREREL - F
relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. There has A HEFRDEREEED -

been no change to the valuation technique during the year.
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fRa SRR ME

16.

17.

130

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

One of the key unobservable inputs used in valuing the building
was the replacement costs of HK$2,030 (2016: HK$2,290) per
square meter.

The fair value measurement of leasehold land and building is
grouped into Level 3 and there were no transfers into or out of
level during the year.

If the leasehold land and buildings had not been revalued,
they would have been included in the consolidated financial
statements at historical cost less accumulated depreciation of
HK$25,782,000 (2016: HK$26,837,000).

The leasehold land and buildings were located in the PRC
under medium-term lease.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

On 27 April 2013, the Company entered into the conditional
sale and purchase agreement to acquire 450,000,000 ordinary
shares of Extrawell, a listed company in Hong Kong, of par
value HK$0.01 each from JNJ (a company in which 33.33%
equity interest is beneficially owned by each of Dr. Mao and
Dr. Xie — see note 34), at a consideration of HK$288,000,000,
which was satisfied by issuance of convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$288,000,000 by the Company.
On 25 October 2013, since all conditions precedent to the
abovementioned acquisition were fulfilled, the acquisition of
the Extrawell’s shares was completed on 25 October 2013, of
which 370,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell was acquired
by issuance of convertible bonds (Convertible Bonds | — see
Note 29) in the principal amount of HK$236,800,000, and
the remaining 80,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell were
acquired on 27 December 2013 by issuance of Convertible
Bonds | in the principal amount of HK$51,200,000.

As a result of the change in the composition of the board of
directors and the percentage of voting rights in shareholders’
and board of directors’ meetings on 29 November 2013, the
Group was no longer in a position to exercise control over
Longmark (Shanghai). Since then, Longmark (Shanghai)
ceased to be subsidiary of the Group and became an
associate of the Group.

16.

17.
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ME BERRXE=

EERAETFIIK2,030 BL(=F
—NF 12208 TT) mHEFET
HEREKAZ A BRERE AR
Bz— o

HETWNMEFZATFEFEBS
=R CBERFRAZRBLEE AL
i o

WEE L REFWESME - B
& 2K AN R R 51 9T B 25,782,000 7
T( —F — /X & : 26,837,000 JT)
AR AEME®RE -

HELHEEFURFTE  RES
HHERA -

REE QN ER
EA—?—EEEH—JH:EI N
AHYEKRGEEEHZ  BINJ
(—F‘ﬁ EIJm%Tﬁir&;ﬁﬁ%i%féf
B 33.33%Em 2 AN A — R
HM)KBRE(—HEBEALTA
a)) 450,000,000 f% & i ® & 0.01 /5
T2 E R - A {E A288,000,000%5
Lo ZARBRARAETAGES
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B £ SCRT At U B8 AY O R K 1 19
BER RBEBEROKERZ=-ZF
—=ZFft+AZ-Z+HBEK " HHF
370,000,000 % 15 18 & i@ A% T i 18 3%
17 7N 4 %8 /5 236,800,000 JT 2 A] #
BEH(JRRKRES— RHE20) 8
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AR BTG R T A

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

17. R B &

NEINER =)

2017 2016
—E—tF S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Cost of investment in associates R /NI &= 7N
— Listed in Hong Kong (Note a) — R&EZ L™ (HiFa) 476,841 476,841
— Unlisted in PRC — KA EH -
Share of post-acquisition results EIHWER 1R 28 M
and other comprehensive income H 2w A 97,904 89,493
Impairment loss on interest in K—EEE AR ER
an associate (Note b) 2 BEEE (Hib) (361,561) (338,509)
Adjustment against non-controlling ¥ FE 1757 A% 4 25 7O W 4R FE B
interests on initial recognition (Note ¢) 2 A% (Kfstc) (99,722) (99,722)
113,462 128,103
Fair value of listed investment EHEEZATFE
(Note d) (Bt 5Ed) 113,462 128,103
Notes: Bt FE -

(@)

The cost of investment in Extrawell represents the aggregate of (i)
the fair value of the Convertible Bonds | with principal amount of
HK$236,800,000 issued by the Company on 25 October 2013 for
the acquisition of 370,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell amounted
to HK$387,160,000; (i) the fair value of the Convertible Bonds | with
principal amount of HK$51,200,000 issued by the Company on 27
December 2013 for the acquisition of 80,000,000 ordinary shares of
Extrawell amounted to HK$87,142,000; and (iii) further acquisition of
7,510,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell at cost of HK$2,539,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group recognised impairment loss of
approximately HK$23,052,000 (2016: HK$23,476,000) in profit or loss
which represented the difference between the fair value of the shares of
Extrawell based on the share price of Extrawell as at 31 March 2017 and
the carrying amount of interest in the associates.

In 2015, the Group has purchased 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent
from Extrawell (BVI). Since Smart Ascent has become a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group and consequently Smart Ascent and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “SAL Group”) have been
consolidated by the Group commencing from 28 July 2014, the amount
of equity in SAL Group that is attributable to the remaining 49% interest
in Smart Ascent held by Extrawell and included in the carrying amount
of interest in Extrawell prior to the acquisition of Smart Ascent by the
Group has been reclassified out of non-controlling interest (and interest
in associate) and treated as part of equity attributable to owners of the
Company to the extent of the Company’s attributable equity interest
in Extrawell which represented the share of equity in SAL Group
attributable to the Company’s ownership interest in Extrawell.

The fair value of listed investment is based on the quoted market bid
price of the shares of Extrawell as at the end of the reporting period.
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REEZHZE XK E)IERA A K
% #5 & 370,000,000 A% & i@ BX (1F 1B
387,160,000 L) MR =T —=F+ A
—+£B%%ﬁ$%§ﬁz 6,800,000
BILH AR ESNAFE (A2
7 Uy B8 ¥ 18 80,000,000 A% L 3@ P% (1E (B
87,142,000 L) MR =T —=F + =
A=+t AArE174A £ 5 A51,200,000
BITHMABEREFN A FENLE
KilW&EE2—_E—hAF=A=+—HI1t
FEE— *LA2,539,000/%7EHH§F13
7,510,0000% & 38 f% ©

R-ZZ—+HE=A=+—8  A&E=ER
18 %5 A 7 72 Rk 1B B 18 4923,052,0007% JT
— T — N4 123,476,000/ T)  EHK
EBRER-_T—+tF=A=+—H8x
BEREETZRERMAFEER
BENRZ R REEMERACER °

EJ

x:
il

R-ZZ—HF A& EE GExtrawell
BB E#AE51% 2 RE - AREELED
mZi%ZK’ilz#iﬁﬂﬁ%@T i B& 12
HEEREMBAR(GBIEEEE B
N_ZT— V_flitﬂf+)\Eltﬁ?(:\u+
AXREE  HRBEEMFAEERTI0%
B EN - BERASEWEEE LR T A
EERERAEZEESEEESHE
BRI (MRS AR MER)
REHHE - IBARA R EGEBEREE
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IHRESRR R o
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

17. REBEE DB MRS o)

132

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

AEBSHBE RN RW®EHKRAF
\=E .
BT :

Place of Principal Proportion of voting  Proportion of nominal
Name of incorporation/ place of Class of power held by value of issued capital
associates operation operation shares held the Company held by the Company  Principal activity
FMRYL/ EE Fi LNVt AARFBE R
BENRER R XY K485 RAEL B B L B TEXER
2017 2016 2017 2016
Bt TR ZB-t§ T 5%

Extrawell Bermuda PRC Ordinary shares  19.14% 19.14% 19.14% 19.14%  Development,
manufacture and sale
of pharmaceutical
products

B BRE i LBk 19.14% 10.14%  19.14%  19.14% B SERfens
Em

Longmark (Shanghai) PRC PRC Registered 33.33% 33.33% 49.78% 49.78%  Provision of health

capital care management
services

BIR (L8 I HE #AMER 33.33% 33.33% 49.78% 49.78% REBRREERSE

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
the Group’s material associate, Extrawell and its subsidiaries
(“Extrawell Group”), is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the Extrawell’s

ERASBETIEMENRBERE
MEAR(HEEER]) 2&RAa MK
EMBIEHRHIMT - TXAEHB
BN 2EBRER AV BRE LD

consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with mMB BB ZEAMEREIIR
HKFRSs. B .
2017 2016
—E—+tF 7N
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current assets MENE = 289,699 275,399
Non-current assets ERBEE 882,970 885,454
Current liabilities mBEAE 108,790 115,182
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 38,028 29,772
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR = (3,841) (1,350)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. mﬂﬁﬁ % i\\ ﬁ_l E’S’ *Eﬁé_é(@)

2017 2016

—E—tF S

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THETT

Non-current assets include ERBEERETNYIER :

the following:

Property, plant and equipment ME - BENREE 145,839 161,911

Intangible assets BREE 1,807 1,807

Investments in convertible bonds AR ESEIKRE 376,324 362,960

Interest in an associate i NI 7 330,969 333,866

Current assets include the following: TEEERTE NYIER -

Trade receivables =N 37,417 57,019
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIFER 20,215 20,053
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR NI € 217,803 180,998

Current liabilities include the following: AH B ESFE ~NFEE :

Accruals and other payables FEET B R & E fth FE 1 5K I8 59,501 68,614
Non-current liabilities include ERBEERETYIER :

the following:

Convertible bonds AR ES 35,222 29,670
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 17. REBE&E D B M RE = o)

2017 2016

—E—tF —T—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

Revenue g A 107,903 142,201
Profit for the year 4 7953 18,311 27,400
Other comprehensive expenses H2mEAX (8,359) (7,880)

Profit and total comprehensive income £ (A % F| & 2 T8 UL 25 42 58

for the year 9,952 19,5620

Fair value and other equity NEFEREMERS
accounting adjustments SE AR 33,993 21,989
43,945 41,509

Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ NE BN IEE 2 B &
interest in Extrawell REZSH I 19.14% 19.14%

Share of post-acquisition profits and 4 (A & {5 Wt & 18 0% Kl &%

other comprehensive income H it 2= mE =
for the year 8,411 7,945
Share of results of associates DIEEEE N R EE 8,411 7,945
The above profit for the year includes the following: 2 FRENBEAT
2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHET
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HE B EE 2 Wz 2,819 —
Gain on disposal of property, HENE BMENLEREBEZ
plant and equipment Wz - 68

134 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2017 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIEE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. 73@ Hﬁﬁ % i\\ ﬁ_l E’g *E ﬁé_é({%?)
Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial XS GEE M EE R EE NS
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Extrawell AU BRRBERAZEEESEBRE
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. ZEHER o

2017 2016

—E—LtfF —EF—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET AT

Net assets of Extrawell Group EEEBR CEEFE 1,025,851 1,015,899
Less: Equity component of the B BRI AR
convertible bonds issued by BAEZERDBD

Extrawell (512,359) (512,359)

513,492 503,540

Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ ZAN& B A KEE Z G #
interest in Extrawell RS 19.14% 19.14%

The Group’s share of net assets of AEBEGBEEEFE

Extrawell 98,282 96,378
Goodwill GEES 156,258 156,258
Adjustment against non-controlling IR AR A 25 A A 1R TR A B

interests on initial recognition 2R (99,722) (99,722)
Impairment loss on interests in REEE R RER 2 RERBE

associates (107,759) (84,707)
Fair value and other equity accounting AFE N EM#Ezm 2

adjustments SE T 66,403 59,896
Carrying amount of the Group’s REERBERRBEZ

interest in Extrawell as an associate w2 REE 113,462 128,103
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 17. REEE NN ER )
Information of associates that are not individually BERMSEARAE R 2EE QT
material ZE R

2017 2016
—=E—+F —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TET

The Group’s share of loss and total AREEEMGEEFEANEEK
comprehensive expense for the year 2 E M X £ %8 - —

Carrying amount of the Group’s AREBERZEHE AT
interests in these associates w2 BRHEE - —

The unrecognised share of loss of an & KN KR Z
associate for the year FEAG B2 A A E 1B (1,891) (5,938)

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss Zit KR Z
of an associate JEAGEEZ A RIE 1B (12,457) (10,566)

18. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE BONDS 18. ROJ#ERESFNKRE

On 27 April 2013, the Company entered into the conditional RZE—=FMA= ‘f’t = /N

sale and purchase agreement to acquire (i) convertible AEVEKRHEEHZE  LA)B EWR
bonds issued by Extrawell in an aggregate principal amount Eﬁi(f%ﬁij)”& E%’r’ BETR
of HK$320,650,000 (“Sale CB-1”) from Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. % #2 %8 /320,650,000 7T A A Tﬁ‘ e
Mao”) at an aggregate consideration of HK$320,000,000 BEHR((FEATRRES—]) &1
(“Consideration 1”); and (ii) convertible bonds issued g /& 320,000,0008 T([KE—1):
by Extrawell in an aggregate principal amount up to KilBEB+THREHBEEZETEAR
HK$256,520,000 (“Sale CB-II"), from Dr. Mao at an aggregate 4% & = /256,520,000 7% JT &) A
consideration up to a maximum amount of HK$256,000,000 RES(FER#BKRES_]) @ &
(“Consideration 1I”). Consideration | was satisfied by payment KB & =™ /256,000,000 7T ([ X B
of cash amounting to HK$120,000,000 and issuance of D RE—EBAQRFTBAREEAK
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 5 120,000,000 T R ET AL E R
by the Company. Consideration Il was satisfied by issuance of 200,000,000 % 7T 2 Al MR & F X
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$256,000,000 - REZSHARRBRAS O
in four batches by the Company. %% 17 /X & ¥8 /& 256,000,000% 7T 2 7]

BmERES N -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(Continued)

The Sale CB-I and Sale CB-II (collectively referred to as the
“Sale CBs”) are zero coupon convertible bonds, with a maturity
date of the twentieth anniversary of the issue date and are
denominated in HK$. The Sale CBs entitle the bond holders
to convert them into shares of Extrawell at any time during
the period commencing from the date of issuance up to the
seventh business day prior to the maturity of the Sale CBs, at
the conversion price per share of HK$0.6413, subject to anti-
dilutive clauses.

AR BTG R T A

18. R AR BESFHKRE @

BEABRERES - LFEATHRKRE
%:(%ﬁﬁ%%?ﬁ%ﬂf%b%%
%Tﬁkﬁ%'ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ
AE-TBEFER - LABTEE -
= %kﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁA%
ﬂ E%ﬁﬁ%tﬁ %%T%k
BEFBMAMELELEANA
%%Tﬁhﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ*
BHRERERKN06413B T @
BEREERRRG -

o0

il

HFF pal]

The fair values of the Sale CBs and its components on RZEBE—+tFR_F—RF=A
initial recognition and of the derivative component as at = —1— EI ?—ir%—ﬁﬁ‘ M & 75 B 97 4 BB
31 March 2017 and 2016 are determined based on the DT ERZAFEIERBIYE

valuation conducted by an independent professional valuer.
The movements of the debt components and derivative
components of Sale CBs for the year are set out as below:

%%ﬁﬁﬁiiﬁﬁZﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm ° £ R
”—?’%T%Hxﬁ%’%ﬁi‘“‘ D ROTER
DZEEBEINWT

Debt Derivative
component component
b TERS 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T35 7T FATT FETT
As at 1 April 2015 R-_EBE—F0F
mA—H 24,031 288,387 257,368
Acquisition of Sale W FE R
CB-II — fourth batch fRfEH = — FEit 2,801 52,199 55,000
Effective interest income (note 8) iﬁ’ U A (FfzE8) 5,696 — 5,696
Change in fair value (note 8) NEEEE (FI:ES) — (58,509) (58,509)
At 31 March 2016 R-B—XF
_H =+—H 32,528 227,027 259,555
Effective interest income (note 8) A B WA (BT 5ES) 5,876 — 5,876
Change in fair value (note 8) EF@*‘”“@J (Pt x8) — (40,186) (40,186)
As at 31 March 2017 MNZE—+HF
=A=+—H 38,404 186,841 225,245
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18. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE BONDS

138

(Continued)

The acquisition of Sale CB-I was completed on 25 October
2013. The acquisition of the first, second and third batches
of Sale CB-Il, each batch having a principal amount of
HK$64,130,000, were completed on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014, respectively. The acquisition
of the fourth batch of Sale CB-Il with principal amount of
HK$64,130,000 was completed on 30 April 2015.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group recognised
subsequent decrease in fair value of the derivative component
of investments in convertible bonds of HK$40,186,000 as at
31 March 2017.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group recognised
(i) loss on acquisition of investments in convertible bonds of
approximately HK$62,161,000 in profit or loss which is resulted
from the differences between the fair value of Consideration
Il of HK$117,161,000 satisfied by the issuance of convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$64,000,000
in three batches by the Company and the aggregate fair value
of investments in convertible bonds of HK$55,000,000 as at
respective acquisition dates; and (ii) subsequent decrease
in fair value of the derivative component of investments in
convertible bonds of HK$58,509,000 as at 31 March 2016.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amounts of the debt and
the derivative components of the investments in convertible
bonds are HK$38,404,000 (2016: HK$32,528,000) and
HK$186,841,000 (2016: HK$227,027,000) respectively.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE BONDS 18. AR B4 Wik E )

(Continued)
At 31 March 2017

25.10.2013 24.04.2014 30.08.2014
-%-= —¥-OF —%-0f

R=F—+t&E=H=+—H

tAZtER WmAZTEH NB=+H

Stock price RE HK$0.485 HK$0.4 HK$0.335

0485 T 04%T 0335

Exercise price 1% E HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413

0.64138 T 0.6413% Tt 064135t

Discount rate BB X 17.98% 18.21% 18.44%

Risk-free rate | I | &

(note a) (Kia) 2.42% 2.70% 2.28%
Expected volatiity ~ TEEI% 1B

(note b) (K3 &En) 53.00% 63.71% 62.61%
Expected dividend ~ BEIR &
yield (note ) gags

(FtiEe) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

31.12.2014 30.4.2015 31.3.2017

= ik -2-I1f% ZE-tf
+t=A=+-H BA=tR =A=t-H
HK$0.325 HK$0.55 HK$0.248
0.325/87C 055787 0.248% 70

HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413
064138t 0.6413% T 0.6413% 70

19.04% 18.76% 18.18%
2.24% 1.81% 1.70%
61.73% 58.62% 56.81%
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

At 31 March 2016

25102013 24042014 30.08.2014
—2-Z=F —Z-mE

R-ZB—RE=HA=+—H

31.12.2014 30.04.2015 31.3.2016
“T-NE “Z-1F “E-RF

+A-+EF WA-TMAE

Stock price R HK$0.485 HK$0.4 HK$0.335

0.485%8 7T 04387 0.33538 T

Exercise price 168 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413

064135 7T 0.6413% T 0.64135 7

Discount rate BE X 17.98% 18.21% 18.44%

Risk-free rate BRRAN %

(note a) GEEY 2.42% 2.70% 2.28%
Expected volatity ~ TEHK 18

(note b) (M) 53.00% 63.71% 62.61%
Expected dividend  EHIR 2
yield (note o) g

GED) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

TZA=T-H MA=+H =A=t-H

HK$0.325 HK$0.55 HK$0.28
0.326/% 7T 0.55%8 T 0.28% 7T
HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413
0.6413% T 0.6413% T 0641357

19.04% 18.76% 19.92%
2.24% 1.81% 1.62%
61.73% 58.62% 59.44%
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair values of the debt and derivative
components.

Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of Extrawell over the bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of Extrawell.

R B T B A BRI B A
78 4 38 BB 1 R 6T 4 35 10 A
T BT AR -

@ ZAEDH2ERMGERNEBRTE
FREFNERLREE -

b)) EREFHEEENBERERE -
© FBEEOHBEKRBIKMMHE
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

140

COST AND CARRYING VALUES
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and

31 March 2017 - =

RARRHEE
R—FE—HFWA—H -
—RNF=A=+—"HE
—ZE—+tH#=H=+—H

90. BN EE

In-process
R&D
maEBRE

HK$’000
TET

1,373,224

The In-process R&D represented an in-process research and
development project involving the Product. The patents of an
invention “a method of production of oil-phase preparation
of oral insulin (— & E O ARE S =2 M AR E & 75 %) in
relation to the Product are registered under the joint names of
Fosse Bio-Engineering Development Limited (“Fosse Bio”) and
Tsinghua University, Beijing (“THU”) granted by State Intellectual
Property Office of the PRC and United States Patent and
Trademark Office of the United States of America granted on
4 August 2004 and 28 March 2006 respectively and will be
expired on 20 April 2021 and 12 April 2022 respectively. Fosse
Bio is a subsidiary of Smart Ascent, which became a subsidiary
of the Company upon completion of the acquisition on 28 July
2014. In addition, Fosse Bio and THU have entered into the
agreements in 1998 (the “THU Collaboration Arrangement”) in
connection with the research and development of the Product.
Pursuant to the THU Collaboration Arrangement, which will
be expired in October 2018, Fosse Bio would be entitled to
commercialize the relevant technologies of the Product and
to manufacture and sell the Product on an exclusive basis,
and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse Bio’s annual sales upon
commercialisation of the Product. Accordingly, Fosse Bio has
the exclusive right for the commercialisation of the Product for
the duration of the unexpired term of the THU Collaboration
Agreement.

Legal advisors of the Company have informed that if the
THU collaboration agreement is early terminated or expired,
Fosse Bio will no longer have the exclusive right of the
commercialisation of the Product. Any of Fosse Bio or THU will
have the rights to independently commercialize the patented
product, without the consent from each other. However,
given that THU is an educational unit and does not engage
in commercialisation of the Product, the directors of the
Company have prepared the cash flow projections for the 10-
year period using the assumption that Fosse Bio will continue
to have exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product
after October 2018.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is determined
based on fair value calculations using the income approach
method, with reference to the professional valuation performed
by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
qualified valuers. The fair value calculation used the cash flow
projections prepared by the management based on certain key
assumptions, in which the estimated cash inflows derived from
budgeted sales and expected gross margin were based on
the expectations for the market development. In addition, the
fundamental assumptions included the regulatory approvals
from the relevant government bodies (in particular, the
granting of the certificate of new medicine and pharmaceutical
manufacturing permit for the Product by China Food and Drug
Administration of the PRC) to launch the Product by the end of
2019.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D approved by the management cover a 10-year
period. The calculation used in the cash flow projections with
certain key parameters are as below:

AR BTG R T A

10. B EE =)

2@ iE 2 Al W Bl & 58 Jh i & £ 55
NEELSERMERMZES BRI
BERARETHEREEME  FHK
AEZEAFEFAEELZEE - AFE
STELAFEAEEERARETEER
LRIV m=TEB - ER(EEt
BHERARBRREHEmMEEE
MEDEREMIGEREAOTEE o 11
AN - B AR R B 4 R B BT R R
—E-NFRERAREDEBEEME SR
MEENE(ERME - BARFEE
RE mEEn EEEIE ARG e
NREELTFE) o

EEEEMNNOHEEERGESRR
R ER W EI0OFEHM - WL R
EEAMAFERE THEEZ2E N
TR :

Discount rate (post-tax) BEIR R (i)
Growth rate 1 E &
Gross profit ratio 48 K A =

24.82% 27.99%
3% 3%
57.97% 56.25%

Based on the impairment review assessment, the recoverable
amount of the Group’s intangible asset is estimated to be higher
than the carrying amount after taking into account the lack of
control discount. Therefore the directors of the Company are in
the opinion that no impairment on the carrying amount of the In-
process R&D has to be recognised for the year (2016: Nil).

RBBERS G &FRBRDE
MR AEEGAETLEENA
WERESESREREE- - Bt
ARBIEERS BEANFAHE
BEZEAERIABE(ZFT X
FE) -
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EZ EWWERRK

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
based on credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to
90 days (2016: 30 to 180 days). All sales made to the major
customers have short credit terms. These credit evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

AEEXRFZESGEREZIARE
FRET BREUESZEESRBE
ENFI0ENE(ZE—NF : 30&
180R) & - MEEBRFIEH ZAT
EHEHANEER ZEEFEFT
BREI NI BREBEZBELE
URBRIZEZNEND  UZEERF
UEREEFPES CKBEREREB
BEER  c REB RN EREESR
WezRKZE SREEEST
BRI B8 BRRR 3N o

e L P EEPE EY T
ZEBATMT

2017 2016
—2—tF —E-RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

S0H AT
31&60H
61£90H
#3890 H

30 days or less
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

FEx T

470 =
621 =
469 =
4,815 =

6,375 =

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not
impaired:

20. EZ EWER R o)
BHETERENESEKERZ
BRE DT ¢

21.

S0 AT
31&60H
#3890 H

30 days or less
31 to 60 days
Over 90 days

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$’000

THT

HK$’000
TR

526 —
1,055 —
3,234 -

4,815 =

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

21. AN RE RERHEME

W X% I8

2017
—E—tHF

HK$’000
FER

Rental, management fee and He EBBR

other deposits Hiviz e 2,197 2,208
Deposits paid (Note a) 2 i&< (Miska) 931 150,832
Others (Note b) H b (Ff5Eb) 5,205 219
Total 48t 8,333 153,259
Notes: it
(@  On 30 March 2016, an amount of HK$150,000,000 was paid to an @ RKR-E-—AXF=A=+H RBREL=E

Escrow Agent as an Escrow Fund regarding a proposed capital injection
into a joint venture pursuant to a capital injection agreement entered
into by the Group with other parties (“the Capital Injection Agreement”).
Subsequently on 6 June 2016, the Capital Injection Agreement lapsed as
certain conditions pursuant to the Capital Injection Agreement were not
fulfiled up to that date. The Escrow Fund deposited was fully refunded
to the Group on 7 June 2016.

(b) On 11 March 2017, the Company and a third party entered into a
Memorandum of Understanding in respect of a possible conditional
acquisition of the controlling interest in three privately owned Hong Kong
companies which principally engage in provision of one-stop accredited
medical consultations and health examination services in Hong Kong.
Pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding, the Company paid
an amount to HK$5,000,000 to a vendor as an earnest money and it is
refundable after the proposed acquisition has fallen through.

20174 4R

HEMEFIT LR EEBRE(DEE B
#]) O BERERNAECEIECIAER
I A 3 £+f 150,000,000 T 1E & K & &
2 BrBRE_ZT—XRENANB  ZE
EmaAEELEEERBEZEZA MK
ERMERSE - FRAIREESER=Z
—NENALR2BERETAER -

—T—+FE=A+—HB ARAHEZE
FR AR AR = AL A
BOAR(EZEREEEARE KX
RO BELANRBREERRE)HER
B M ETE REFEBES
8 - AR AIE R E A X 115,000,000 7T
EARES  RZoBEREZREES
BAlRIE o
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIALASSETS 22. At H E4 mEE

23.

24,

144

2017 2016
—E—tfF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Listed investments EmRE
Bonds listed outside Hong Kong REBAINET 2 EH 1,258 1,957
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong  R&E®B E 2 IREH 5 17,861 1,892
Equity securities listed outside REABUINETZ
Hong Kong I8R5 3,382 3,072
22,501 6,921
Analysed as: DT
Current assets MENEE - —
Non-current assets ERMBEE 22,501 6,921
Total Bt 22,501 6,921

The fair values of these listed bonds and equity securities
are based on market bid prices at the end of each reporting
period.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank balances
held by the Group with original maturity of three months or less
and carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which range from
0.01% t0 0.72% (2016: 0.01% to 0.72%) per annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

HEETEFEREZSN AR FE
ERBERERRONMBSEREE
= o

23. BITEBREER S
BITHEKERASEEAEERFEAEZ
ReEMEITHES REBBEA=E
AEERRE - RIBITERMEE
B FENFEEHE0.01%E0.72% (=
T—NE 0.01%ZE0.72%) °

24. B 5 B R
REBEHF REFRAMEF|
PN ER 2 BRI :

2017
—E2—tF
HK$’000
FTHERT
30 days or less 30H s AT 2,230 =
31 to 60 days 31£260H - —
Over 60 days B0 H 7 8
2,237 8
The average credit period on purchase of goods normally BEERZTFHEERBEEN T60
range from 60 days to 90 days. HZE90H -
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25. FUND RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 25. ERE &
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx T T
Deposits for Convertible Bond AMBERES2ZS - 50,000
The deposits were received by the Company on 29 March ARAIRZZ—R"F=A-TNH
2016 from a subscriber in relation to the Convertible Bonds to QYN EW H A B8 $ N A AT
be issued by the Company in an aggregate principal amount ?@Ef}@ﬂ%fﬁﬁ$$?v~%ﬁ 7/\5’\:.';501000,00‘0
of HK$50,000,000. The Convertible Bonds were issued by BILZESE AR Al B n= gi_ 7N
the Company on 13 April 2016. These Convertible Bonds :i % HEr= lEElféf TRz ] ] R 15% °
were early redeemed by the Company on 6 July 2016 at a "X 5 A B 1§ B iﬁg{?} Gl Eﬁi =
redemption price of approximately HK$51,003,000 (Convertible — FE AR . ?E_H\J & 3 i [o] (B
Bond V in note 29). #) /51,003,0007% 7t ( & Bt 3529 2 A
BREFR) °
a N =
26. LOAN TO A NON-CONTROLLING 26. OFEREZERRER
oy — = =
INTEREST AND AMOUNT DUE FROM Bt N R 2K B LRI

THE SUBSIDIARY OF AN ASSOCIATE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loan to a non-controlling interest MIFERERE K
Fordnew (Note a) 2Bt (Pt 5Xa)
Carrying value FREE 6,067 4,646
Less: Impairment loss B R EEE (6,067) —
- 4,646
Amount due from the subsidiary of FEUREt & N F 2
an associate b8 A &) 5B
Extrawell (BVI) (Note b) Extrawell (BVI) (I 7Eb) 8,125 16,192
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AN
RIN=E

5 R I R

26. LOAN TO A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST AND AMOUNT DUE FROM
THE SUBSIDIARY OF AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

146

Notes:

(@)

This represents a loan made by Smart Ascent to Fordnew Industrial
Limited (“Fordnew”) pursuant to the loan agreement dated 25 May 2011.
The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing. Details of the loan are
disclosed in note 27(c) to these consolidated financial statements.

On 7 April 2014, Fordnew made a drawdown notice amounting to
about HK$2,789,000, and prior to the completion of acquisition on
28 July 2014, the aggregate utilised and unutilised balances were
HK$10,579,000 and HK$19,421,000 respectively.

As at 31 March 2015, principal amounts of HK$4,807,000,
HK$1,190,000 and HK$4,582,000 are required to be repaid after 8 years
from April 2011, April 2012 and April 2014 respectively. Accordingly,
the balance is classified as non-current. Such non-current interest-free
loan to a non-controlling interest is recognised at its fair value of
HK$2,977,000 upon the acquisition of Smart Ascent with an effective
interest rate of 26.99% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, imputed interest income of
HK$1,421,000 (2016: HK$1,088,000) has been credited to profit or loss.

An impairment loss of HK$6,067,000 (2016: Nil) on loan to a non-
controlling interest was recognised to profit or loss as the directors of the
Company considered the recoverability of the loan repayments from the
non-controlling interest is remote.

This represents the amount due from Extrawell (BVI), which is the
subsidiary of Extrawell. In December 2016, the directors of the
Company revisited the terms and expected that the principal amount of
HK$19,780,000 will be received in July 2020 (2016: within December
2016). Accordingly, the balance is classified as non-current asset. Such
non-current interest-free amount due from the subsidiary of an associate
is recognised at its fair value of HK$7,600,000 with an effective interest
rate of 26.99% (2016: 26.99%) per annum and imputed interest expense
of HK$12,180,000 has been charged to profit and loss upon revisiting in
December 2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, imputed interest income of
HK$4,113,000 (2016: HK$5,814,000) has been credited to profit or loss.

26. AFERBEZERRER

BE QT 2B QAR

(%)

B &E

(@)
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EEAERBEAHAE-_ZT——FAA
—t+RBZEXMERERBEEXBR
AR DBEZER - ZERBE
IR RERNE - BERFBERERE MR
KM FE27R W E ©

R-E—NFMNALR @EHEH—
$ 54 52,789,000 T2 IRFBAE -
MR=ZZE—WMEFLtA=F+NBAZKE
TR BEERARRERZARBRED
A1 A10,579,0007% 7t & 19,421,000/ 7T °

R-ZZEBE—RAF=A=+—08B K£2%
%8 4,807,000 7 JT * 1,190,000 & T &
4,582,000/ 7T 7 Al & R %**E@
A ZZ——-FWNARK=ZT—NEMNA
BEF\FREE - Bt - ;i KIE D
FERIEBNER o 75 A E R F 7 % 26.99% M
BEEETR 2B TIEERER 2 FERNE
EF B E K2,977,0008 T2 AFEDR
HHER ©

BE_Z—tH=A=+—RHLFE "
1,421,000 7T (= F — X & : 1,088,000
BIL) 2 EF S A B KN B

HR ARG BEERAYIEERERD
%%’x%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁz@l&hHLL Iﬁt?ﬁ:;k
EREXSEIANBEZAEREZERNZ
EEW@EEMWﬂm&ﬂf? 7N
F®\) o

#5 F& UExtrawell BVI) (FE & Z K B 2 &)
ZEE - KRRIEEN T — /\E‘f’_
A %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%% SRS
19780000?&7%?%5@ —ZEFLH
WE(ZFE—RNF: R E+=
AuE) - At - M,uﬁ?’\’%?%#m@jﬁ

B o*iﬁ‘&‘ﬂ&lﬁ&%%@izwgﬁﬁz#ﬂﬂ
HA 4 B FRIE B 2 2 A F 187,600,000 T
R BEMERE2699% (=T —/N4F :
26.99%) + K& {4 5 F 2 7 2 12,180,000
T ERE—RNE+_AKEFEH
BEF B -

HE-_ZT—+&=A=+—RLFE -
HER B WA B4118,0008 (==
—NE 5,814,000/%73) T AERS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIEE

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 27.
INTERESTS AND FORMER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,

AMOUNT DUE TO THE SUBSIDIARY
OF AN ASSOCIATE AND LOAN FROM A
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

e B S R
Bk s> i 58
ol 8 o
3 Tk
I 5> i

Bl - %
8 ) T

BREGH
I 24 S B

2l 58
S N i -

2017
—E—+tF
HK$°000
FHERT
Amounts due to non-controlling JFE A FE 128 AR i 2 IR
interests
Fordnew (Notes a and b) 2 (M skakb) 22,351 22,351
Groupmark Investment Groupmark Investment
Group Limited (Notes a and b) Group Limited
(Kt FFaf&b) 520 520
22,871 22,871
Amounts due to former JIE 1F A FE 50 A% 4 25 7K 0B
non-controlling interests
Zheng Chang Xue (Notes a and b) S 2 (ffFakb) 559 559
Hou Shi Chang (Notes a and b) &t S (M sFakb) 165 165
Feel So Good Limited Feel So Good Limited
(Notes a and b) (M sEakb) 99 99
823 823
Amount due to the subsidiary of an ENEEANTZ
associate B B8 A A1 5RIE
Extrawell (BVI) (Note a) Extrawell (BVI) (M zEa) 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest ~ KRB FFIZEREZRZE X
Fordnew (Note ¢) @5t (Bt sEc) 6,067 4,646

Notes: Mt 5

(@)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of (8 ZABERAEER SEREETEEES -
repayment.

(o)  The amounts represent contributions made by non-controlling interests () ZHEEIFEREZABLRZEE
of Fosse Bio in respect of working capital and operation funds for e hORFEEZHENE —FTHRIK
the further clinical trials of the oral insulin project. The amounts due ABRNELEES 2 MR - RIKER
to non-controlling interests and former non-controlling interests were ZZ-—NELA=F+N\R ' ZEHIEE
respectively HK$22,871,000 and HK$823,000 at the date of acquisition RS RIERIEERERZES R A
on 28 July 2014. 22,871,000/ 7T }&.823,000/% 7T °

(©)  This represents a loan made by Fordnew to Fosse Bio pursuant to the ) BEEXTEHBER-_T——FHA
loan agreement entered into between Smart Ascent and Fordnew on 25 T ARELEBERETEREGERE
May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing. Details of the TREZEXRAEENREFNE - BER
loan are disclosed in note 26(a) to these consolidated financial statements. AR RARE B ISR R M 7E26() © B2
During the year ended 31 March 2017, imputed interest expense of —E—tE=ZA=+—HIEEFE  HE
HK$1,421,000 (2016: HK$1,088,000) has been charged to profit or loss. A B X1,421,0008 (=& — N F ¢

1,088,000/ 7T) B 18 = R HIBR -
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

148

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
by the Group and the movement thereon during the current
year and prior year.

28. ELEKHIEEE

L/(T#!KEETJEDUZIK@L%RIE
£ 18 IR RA G R e A
g o

Intangible assets
and revaluation
of leasehold land

and buildings

BREER

EfEE

T RIEF

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 July 2015 EA:; AFE+EH—H 2,174

Charged to other comprehensive income R E b 2 R S R 271
Exchange differences MEHZR (1)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—R"E=H=+—H 2,444
Credit to other comprehensive income T AE M 2 E W E (282)
At 31 March 2017 —+t&H=HA=+—H 2,162

At 31 March 2017, the Group had estimated unused tax R—ZZE—+tF=RA=+—H "

losses of HK$48,803,000 (2016: HK$48,559,000) available A EE l 1;5 qu B oA B A B EBA R
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has 48,803,000 & T(=Z T — KX F :

been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses have
not been agreed by the relevant authorities.
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29, T A R B F
The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds FRAARRBITZARKRESRFAR
issued by the Company for the year is set out below: oz SEEFWMT

Convertible  Convertible  Convertible  Convertible  Convertible

Bonds | Bonds Il Bonds Il Bonds IV Bonds V Total
CIE::e CIE: 13 CIE:1:e CIE::e CIE: 13
E%5— E%= &%= E5M E il @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THL T TBT THET FHBT THL
At 1 April 2015 R-ZE—51%
MA—H 56,547 24,061 270,792 — - 351,400
Issuance of Convertible  Z{TAI AR E %

Bonds - - - 7,790 - 7,790
Effective interest expenses E Bl 8 % 13,251 5,941 57,618 1,664 - 78,474
Interest expense paid ~ BRFIEHX - = (25,025) = = (25,025)
Conversion to ordinary ~ E AL @R

shares (9,493) - - - - (9,493)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-—NE

=R=+-H 60,305 30,002 303,385 9,454 - 403,146
Issuance of Convertible (TR &K E%

Bonds - - - - 32,187 32,187
Effective interest expenses B 7| 85 % 16,752 7,413 67,170 2,215 1,883 94,433
Interest expense paid BERFERY - - (25,025) - — (25,025)
Early redemption REEMD - - - = (34,070) (34,070)
At 31 March 2017 RZT—+%F

=A=1t-H 76,057 37,415 345,530 11,669 - 470,671

The effective interest rates of all the liability component of all
the convertible bonds ranged from: 23.44% to 26.24% per
annum (2016: 23.44% to 26.24% per annum).

Convertible Bonds |

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$436,800,000 and HK$51,200,000
respectively on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds I”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-I and 450,000,000 ordinary shares of
Extrawell. The Convertible Bonds | with a zero coupon rate
mature on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10 years
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I, at the
conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to anti-dilution
clauses.

EANREKESNMAEREIRD

MEBINENT : §F2844%F
26.24% (ZF — /N F : HF23.44%
Z£06.24%) °

ARRES—

ARRIR-—E—=F+A-+HBK
—=-——¢+ A=+t B3 #
&% - a4 & 5 5l £A436,800,000
5%7%&51,200,000,%75(/\MT%Hx
BHF—])  EEUWEFETERES
— LA R #5188 #9450,000,0004% 38 % -
TEERNAIRKES— E?ifﬁElﬁﬁ
BETETREE BB -

BB ESF—ETESTEAER
RETAIMBRESHBHE TFARE
BEHE AT AR B — B A AR5
HRESERKM040EB L BAF
= #SE K FR R I o

)4
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fRA SRR

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AT R E F )

Convertible Bonds | (continued)
If the Convertible Bonds | have not been converted, they will be
redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | are issued in HK$. The fair values
of the liability component were HK$42,886,000 and
HK$4,981,000 for the Convertible Bonds | issued by the
Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively, which has been determined by the discounted
cashflow approach using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair values of the conversion
option of HK$671,267,000 and HK$82,161,000 classified
as equity component for the Convertible Bonds | issued by
the Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively were calculated using the Binomial Model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price (B
Exercise price (B
Discount rate Tﬁ ?D X

% F & (Kfsta)
%EE@&EMWE b)
T8 B AR B U s = (Bt sEe)

Risk-free rate (note a)
Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

25 October 2013

R s
% TTHHH&%ﬁBEEBzETE %@

AR ES —ABTTEIT o KA A
RZBE—=F+A-_+HBAK_ZF
— =&+ A+t HRETHNA
BEREHF—HNEEXS»RFES
£42,886,0007% 7T & 4,981,0007% 7T
ELﬂﬁﬁfﬁfﬁfumi/j& ’ ﬂﬁﬁ¥ﬁﬂfl
R BBRELFNIBITMISHEETE -
Yt RARRZEERR - KR A
RZBE—=F+A-_+HBK_Z
—z$+—ﬁ—+t5%§ﬁzmﬁi
BEHF—DEAERBOBBREZ
N ED ﬂﬁmwmmm%ﬁ&
82,161,000/ T * hiE B —HAER
AE o ZEAMBANT

27 December 2013
—E-—= —E-=

+tA=+&ER +t=A=+tH

Principal amount of  Principal amount of

HK$436,800,000 HK$51,200,000
28 re®
436,800,000 7T 51,200,000 JT
HK$0.91 HK$0.99

0.91& T 0.99/& 7T
HK$0.40 HK$0.40

0.40% 7T 0.40% T
26.12% 26.24%

1.83% 2.32%

86.71% 85.53%

0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result
in changes in the fair value of the liability component. The
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value
of the liability component are based on the directors’ best
estimate.

Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company.
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2017, none of the Convertible
Bonds | (2016: with aggregate principal amounts of
HK$64,000,000) was converted into ordinary shares of the
Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds | for
the year is set out below:

AR BTG R T A

29, T AR 1E & o)

BB ES— @
REE-_ZE—+F=ZA=Z=1+—8H1t
FEHE TETRBRES —WE
BAEARRERAR(ZE—XREFE : K
% %8 /64,000,00078 7T ) ©

FRTRRES 2 BEBIRD
BRI :

Principal Carrying

amount amount

K& BREE

HK$’000 HK$’000

TAT FAT

As at 1 April 2015 R-E—FEPmMA—A 415,600 56,547

Effective interest expense EEANERX — 13,251

Conversion to ordinary shares i A B R (64,000) (9,493)

31 March 2016 —E-RH=A=+—H 351,600 60,305

Effective interest expense ERFEHZ — 15,752

31 March 2017 —E-t+tF=A=+—H 351,600 76,057
Convertible Bonds I AR ES—

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000, HK$64,000,000 and
HK$64,000,000 respectively on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014
and 31 December 2014 (collectively referred to as “Convertible
Bonds II”) for the acquisition of Sale CB-Il first batch, second
batch and third batch respectively. The Convertible Bonds Il
with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth anniversary of
the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10 years
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds Il, at the initial
conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to anti-dilution
clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Il have not been converted, they will
be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue.

AABR—_FT—WFNA=-+MA -
—E-MENA=+tHERER-_ZT—N
F+_A=Z=1+—"HBHORUAAREEEE
64,000,000 7 7T 64,000,000 JT JA
% 64,000,000 JT 2% 17 A 2 % (& &
(EEAITBREESR =] BESD
PINEBGFE MR ES =5 — 4t
F_WMEE=ZHR -TEERHAH
BEHF_EZETHHEBFETASF
EBREE-

ABRESZ BT ESFEAEN
REBETABRBRESBHMRTFAME
R# AT E s — BB A AR R K
o VB E ST (704078
T AR RESERRRE

i AT B (E 75 — RE ] R0 %

TEMEFETBFERZEET
ARE[E o
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fRA SRR

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AT R E F )

Convertible Bonds Il (continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair values of
the liability component were HK$6,622,000, HK$6,916,000
and HK$7,577,000 for the Convertible Bonds Il issued by
the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014 and 31
December 2014 respectively, which has been determined by
the discounted cash flow approach using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into
account the credit risk of the Company. The fair values of
the conversion option of HK$131,454,000, HK$118,983,000
and HK$112,597,000 classified as equity component for the
Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 24 April 2014,
30 August 2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively were
calculated using Binomial Model. The inputs into the model

AR ES =@

AT E S — A BT © $ ﬂ%
—“EF—FPA = ‘1—@ H - —
FNA=ZFTHEZ E¢+ H
== E%%ﬂmTﬁhﬁ%_mﬁ
E5 5 R F1ED R A6,622,000% T
6,916,000/%%&7 577,000 7T * JhiB
WANIRIR G M= E - A AEUIER 8
BELFORITMESMEEE - Wit
EARRRZEERR - ARAR =
E—NHFEFOMA=-—+W™ABE - —ZF—©Q
FNA=ZFTHEZZ—NWE+=A
=t+t—HBREOTZAUBRRESF D E
RESRIEIBBREZAFED B

were as follows: 131,454,000 7% JT * 118,983,000 & JT
5% 112,697,000/ 7T * J5iE @ — A
BRREHE - ZEXNBAWT :

24 April 2014 30 August 2014 31 December 2014

—Z-mF —g-DmF “E-mF

MA=+MA NE=+H +=ZA=+-H

Principal amount  Principal amount  Principal amount

of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000

xEH x¢H xEH

64,000,000/ 7T 64,000,0007% T 64,000,0007% 7T

Stock price WR{E HK$1.42 HK$1.19 HK$1.16

1.427% T 11957 1,167 T

Exercise price 1B HK$0.40 HK$0.40 HK$0.40

0.407% T 0.407 7T 0.40% T

Discount rate EEEET 25.46% 24.92% 23.78%

Risk-free rate (note a) B 1 2= (fff iFa) 2.20% 1.84% 1.85%
Expected volatility (note b) TE Hﬁ /&" i (F u£b> 84.57% 82.53% 80.79%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) ~ TAHIAR B e 28 & (FisEe) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

T2 AREBMAZEAEEEM

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result

in changes in the fair value of the liability component. The BE) HEREEXII»LAFEELE
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value BB o AEBABEBXSOAFEEMBE
of the liability component are based on the directors’ best ERBR IV ERBEEHNREGE o
estimate.

Notes: M sE -

() The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong () ZANRTRENEEIHESBRFE

government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. S REASH

FRRER -

(o)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past b) HREHFHBARRBEBIRKIE -
bond period.
(©) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company. (© BEANTNBERBIRMGETEE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds Il (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, none of the
Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary shares of the
Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond Il for
the year is set out below:

AR BTG R T A

20. AR EF =)
ABERES =)
HEzE_ZE—+tHFR-_ZFE—XRF=A
=t BLEFE TEAMBRKRES
“EEM AR R TR

FRARREL - BB 22
FyEH T

Principal Carrying

amount amount

PN REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

As at 1 April 2015 R-—ZE—AEMA—A 192,000 24,061

Interest charge BN — 5,941

31 March 2016 —E-RF=ZA=1+—H 192,000 30,002

Interest charge A B FH X = 7,413

31 March 2017 —E—+HF=A=+—H 192,000 37,415
Convertible Bonds llI ARRKRESR=

The Company issued convertible bonds to its associate,
Extrawell, in an aggregate principal amount of HK$715,000,000
on 28 July 2014 (collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds
lII") as part of the consideration paid to acquire of 51% equity
interest in Smart Ascent. The Convertible Bonds Il with
coupon rate of 3.5% per annum will mature on the seventh
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 7 years
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds lll, at the initial
conversion price per share of HK$2.50, subject to anti-dilution
clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Ill has not been converted, they will
be redeemed at par on the seventh anniversary of the date of
issue.

ARAFRIERZ_ZE—WELHA=-+N
H % 17 AN £ # 58 /& 715,000,000 /&
T BmBRES(EBIATRKRES
=DFEBERFEE EABD
TR SRR Z B o 7]
BRESF=Z2EAFEEXAE35%
VR EBETHREAEELRAFEB
B -

ABERESZ =T ESFRE AER
RETABBREF=ZAHRELFR
BREAIRKRES="EBRBARQ A
Bty - 918 B E & & B A {7 2.50
BT AR RESERFR S

WAl MR ES = REE®R  B&R
HTHRHEFFCBAFERREE
TUAEM -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 20. IR EFH o
Convertible Bonds Il (continued) ARKRESE =2
The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair value of AIMPBELS=ZUBTET - AD T
the liability component was HK$233,547,000 for the Convertible R-ZE—NWEL+A-+NBEFTZ
Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 July 2014, which has MBREEAEA=NEBEAEAKIT S A
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach using E {8 A233,547,0007 JT  JiEE B 4A
the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible LI ER BRI E SN IR ITH 5 F X
bonds and taking into account the credit risk of the Company. KB BEARERE T YOHK
The fair value of the conversion option of HK$136,646,000 RARIHWEERE AQ_AFR-=
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds |lI —ME+ A=+ /\H %720k
issued by the Company on 28 July 2014 was calculated using BEA=ZDHEAEZBIBEREZA
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: SEE 2 B A136,646,0005 7T 0 Jh £
AZEAEAFE ZEKXN@A
m
28 July 2014
—E-mF
+tA=+N\H
Principal
amount of
HK$715,000,000
L
715,000,0007% JT
Stock price (B HK$1.27
1.27% 7T
Exercise price TR E HK$2.50
2.50/% 7T
Discount rate B3R & 24.67%
Risk-free rate (note a) = 2 b R X (M 7ka) 1.63%
Expected volatility (note b) T8 B 18 (P 5Eb) 80.04%
Expected dividend yield (note c) TE BRI Bz & (MY sEc) 0.00%
Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result TEGABERA 2R B AT A
in changes in the fair value of the liability component. The B BEREBE Y A EEELE
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value B o AEABESO AT EFRRE
of the liability component are based on the directors’ best ENEBEBEIDEREENHEME -
estimate.
Notes: Bisy
() The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong () ZANRTRENEEIHESBRFE
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. ENEAENZELRET o
(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past (b) HEAGLHEAR TN BEBRIEIE o
bond period.
(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company. (© BEAANTHEBAEREIRMNEEEYE
During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, none of the BE_ZE—t+FENKN_ZE—E=H
Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary shares of the =+—HILEE T EABEES
Company. —WERAKRNR LB -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds Il (continued)

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond IlI for
the year is set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR SRR

29, T AR 1E & o)

ABRBREHFE=n
FRABBRES=Z2ABHED 2 &
Iy AT

Principal Carrying

amount amount

KEHE BREE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T T

As at 1 April 2015 R-TE—AEmA—H 715,000 270,792

Effective interest expense EEAN B — 57,618

Interest expense paid B ERXZ = (25,025)

31 March 2016 RZE—RF=A=+—H 715,000 303,385

Effective interest expense BEBREMERX = 67,170

Interest expense paid BEX M ERX = (25,025)

31 March 2017 R-_E—+tF=A=+—H 715,000 345,530
Convertible Bonds IV o ¥ B} & %5

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000 on 30 April 2015
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds IV”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-Il fourth batch. The Convertible Bonds
IV with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth anniversary of
the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10 years
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds |V, at the initial
conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to anti-dilution
clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds IV have not been converted, they will
be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the date of
issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV are issued in HK$. The fair value of
the liability component was HK$7,790,000 for the Convertible
Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30 April 2015, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach using
the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible
bonds and taking into account the credit risk of the Company.
The fair value of the conversion option of HK$109,371,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds IV
issued by the Company on 30 April 2015 was calculated using
Binomial Model.

AARER-_E—HEMA=+H
1T 7N & 4258 564,000,000 7T 2 Al
miRES(GEIATBmKRESDT]) - K
WEFENSFETHRRES = - 7]
BREFUZ2EAFEERAET B
REEIT BB E T AFEE B EE -

ABRES U T ESFRE AER
RETABBRESFOARE+FR
PERS A AT RE S A M A A R B IX
o VB E ST {70408
T AR REEIRRR G

i FT AE 2 N R EE % - B R
ZTHHESF ST EFERRER
BT AEE -

AHBRIREHFEAETET - RRFR
“E-AFMHA=TH#ETZABRK
EFENBEEXSBONRFER
7,790,00078 7T JhER A RB A3k AT #2 A
BHFNRTHENRRERRE R
%;‘Z%E W EFRARBNEER
cARFR-_TE-—RAFWHA=1H
ﬂZTT’*‘Hﬂf%E“*ﬁFE}@“*
AR 2 2 F1E /109,371,000 7T
TEHEAZEARAGE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq) 29, T AR 1E & o)
Convertible Bonds IV (continued) Bk ESE M E)
The inputs into the model were as follows: ZEX A AT -
30 April 2015
—E—-hfF
B=+H
Principal
amount of
HK$64,000,000
rEHE
64,000,0007% Jt
Stock price A (B HK$1.16
11678 7T
Exercise price TR E HK$0.40
0.407% T
Discount rate AL I8 =& 23.449%
Risk-free rate (note a) 2= 2 b R X (M 7ka) 1.48%
Expected volatility (note b) T8 B 18 (Pt 5Eb) 79.49%
Expected dividend yield (note c) TE BRI Bl e & (MY sEc) 0.00%
Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result T E AZEMRAZER 2L FM
in changes in the fair value of the liability component. The HE BEREBE D A EEELE
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value B - stEEBEIX D ANLEERHE
of the liability component are based on the directors’ best ENEBEBEIDEREETNHEMHKE -
estimate.
Notes: Wi
(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong () ZANRTRENEEBIHESRFE
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. ENEAENZELRET o
(o)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past b) HREHFHEARRNBEBIRKIE -
bond period.
(©) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company. (© BEANTNBERBIRMGETEE -
During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, none of the BE_Z—tFR_ZE—XRF=A
Convertible Bonds IV was converted into ordinary shares of the =+—HILEE T EABKES
Company. PR Al NN R
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds IV (continued)

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond IV
for the year is set out below:

As at 1 April 2015

AR BTG R T A

29, T AR 1E & o)

AR ESH M)
ERTRBES N2 BEHD 2 &
E)RTIEo R (N

Principal
amount

rEH

Carrying
amount
REE
HK$’000
THET

HK$’000
TAET

R-_ZE—FAFMHA—H — =

Issuance of Convertible Bonds IV BETA TR ES 64,000 7,790
Effective interest expense BB BERX — 1,664
31 March 2016 RZE—R"F=A=+—H 64,000 9,454
Effective interest expense BEBREMERX = 2,215
31 March 2017 RZZE—+tF=A=+—H 64,000 11,669
Convertible Bonds V AR ESsR

The Company issued convertible bonds to in an aggregate AABBER-ZE—XREMA+=H

principal amount of HK$50,000,000 on 13 April 2016
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds V”) for financing
potential acquisition opportunities as and when appropriate.
The Convertible Bonds V with coupon rate of 8.50% per
annum will mature on the third anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds V entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 3 years
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds V, at the initial
conversion price per share of HK$1.00, subject to anti-dilution
clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds V have not been converted, they will
be redeemed at par on the third anniversary of the date of
issue.

On 6 July 2016, the Company and the subscriber entered into
a supplemental deed, which both parties agreed to amend
a term of the Convertible Bonds V such that the Company
may at any time prior to the maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds V, by giving the holder of the Convertible Bonds V not
less than seven working days notice, redeem the outstanding
Convertible Bonds V.

17K 4 4258 /350,000,000 7T 2 7]
miRES(EBIAIBREKRESA])
VA BA 3 & B i 38 42 4E 7] & 72 Uk B 1
EHNRE IBHRESFACEBESF
F & £58.50% + W& 37T HHIRRET
F-HAFTEHIE -

ABMERESRE TESFRE AER
RETABBRESAARER=FRA
BERS S Al BB 55 W R A A & A Bk
- g E ST RN 1.00/8
T AR REEIRRR G -

WA MR ES A AREER  B&R
BTRHETGF=BFEHRER
BT AEE -

RZZE-—RFLAREB  ARrARK
RBAFTLBRERE  REABAR
B EFTREBEFAIRKRESFRREZ
R Bt RRF AR AR E
FHEHE 2/ 2 EREERBR
HRREFAKAABRETORE
BETEEBNBERETEIN A
BREST -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds V (continued)

On 6 July 2016, the Company had elected to redeem the
outstanding Convertible Bonds V in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$50,000,000 prior to their maturity date of
13 April 2019 at the Redemption Price of approximately
HK$51,003,000 (the “Early Redemption”). In this regard, the
sole bondholder of Convertible Bond V had agreed to waive
the seven (7) working days’ notice period required under the
terms of the Convertible Bonds V, and the Early Redemption
was fixed and carried out on 6 July 2016. The Convertible
Bonds V redeemed were cancelled by the Company upon the
redemption.

The Convertible Bonds V are issued in HK$. The fair value of
the liability component was HK$32,187,000 for the Convertible
Bonds V issued by the Company on 13 April 2016, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach using
the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible
bonds and taking into account the credit risk of the Company.
The fair value of the conversion option of HK$17,813,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds V
issued by the Company on 13 April 2016 was calculated using
Binomial Model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price g
Exercise price 1TEE
Discount rate B IR &

Risk-free rate (note a)
Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

4 [ B A & (Bt iEa)
8 HA R iR (B 3Eb)
B B R W g & (P Ec)

20, AR E S w0
TERESH A
RZZBE—XNFELANH  XARRE
HEBIZZE—AFNA+=—H)AE
1 12 8 B ff T 2N < 42 %8 550,000,000
BILZEARTEZAABRRKRES SR -
§8 B {8 A& 51,003,000 7 jT([i2 F &
E) Bk E @ IMBRESFAAME
—EFBEARERETRRESR
B RAEE M EOE TER AR
REELOEBENR_ZE—FLAX
AT - BREMABRESAEHN
NA)GESH °

AR EER B TEIT - XA A
RZE—ARFOA+=B%727
BREFANEBEEAEKITI»H AT
8 432,187,000 7t * JhE LI 3E
MR ESMIEITM G RIZAEIR
ReREaFLET  LEFEAARF
HEERRKR ARAAR T —~F
MA+=HBTZABRRKRESRS
HAE=I»MREZATFED
#17,813,000/8 7T+ Jh A —HA K
NETHE

ZEAMBALLT -
13 April 2016

—B-XF
mMA=+H

Principal

amount of
HK$50,000,000
REH
50,000,000 JT

HK$0.99
0.99/%& 7T
HK$1.0
1.0/ 7T
24.92%
0.78%
64.87%
0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result
in changes in the fair value of the liability component. The
variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value
of the liability component are based on the directors’ best
estimate.

TERAREHD 2 HAT AT
B8 BEREHHH DT ERE
Bk - 5B 8 EHH AT E 58
ERBRDERE RS ELE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible Bonds V (continued)
Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company.

A gain on early redemption of the Convertible Bonds V of
approximately HK$21,000 which represented the difference
between the redemption price allocated to liability components
amounted to approximately HK$34,049,000 and the total
carrying amounts of liability components of Convertible Bonds
V amounted to approximately HK$34,070,000, has been
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2017. Upon the early redemption of the Convertible Bonds
V, the difference of approximately HK$859,000 between the
redemption price allocated to equity components amounted
to approximately HK$16,954,000 and the carrying amounts
of equity components included in equity component of
Convertible Bonds V approximately HK$17,813,000, was
released to accumulated losses.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond V for
the year is set out below:

Liability

AR BTG R T A

20. IR EFH
A’ ES I

B &L

@ ZAMEDZ2ENGEEBHAETBBRFE
FREFMELREE -

b) EREFHEEAR RS EERKE -

© REARAHNBERSIKMNEFFH -

REBONIIBRBES AR L
21,0008 T - BB TR EH 2 W
4 %A #934,049,0007% T B A] #2 A% (& 5
f B EI D 42K ME £ % 434,070,000
BILZEMNER BEFAHLES
T—+F-A=Z+—BUIEFEEZR
EEakEMEEWIER - TR
BEHFARTFEDK D FTEDSH
S H % %8 4916,954,0005% T B 5+ A 7]
BREFRAE RS RRM S 5L
17,813,000 % 7T  [d &Y Z= 58 859,000
BILELENE RETEE -

BHHMT

Equity

Issuance of Convertible

Component

aEH2

HK$’000
TAET

BITAMRES T

Component
Eado
HK$’000
FET

et
HK$’000
TET

Bonds V 32,187 17,813 50,000
Effective interest expense B B H X 1,883 — 1,883
Early redemption FHIREEED

during the year (34,070) (17,813) (51,883)
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—+F=A

=+—8 - = -
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. I &<
Number of Share
shares capital
i &
‘000
TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEC.01B T TBK
Authorised: E5E
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and RZE—RFNA—AB -
31 March 2017 “E-RE=ZA=+—H
NZFE—+&=A=+—H-H 50,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREHR :
At 1 April 2015 RZZE—REMNA—A 1,304,193 13,042
Conversion of convertible bonds (Note) #Ean R ES (M) 160,000 1,600
At 31 March 2016 and 2017 R-B-X"E=A=+-HEK
—E—tE=A=1+—-H 1,464,193 14,642
Note: On 16 June 2015 and 12 November 2015, 100,000,000 and 60,000,000 izt - R=—B—FRESNATABR-_ZEE—TF
new ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were issued +—A+=8  REBRABRRES XA
upon the conversion of Convertible Bonds and Convertible Bonds | MR ESH —1% - B9 5F17100,000,000
respectively. Convertible Bonds and Convertible Bonds | with aggregate fi% % 60,000,000 f% 2~ A 7] & A% H {80.01
principal amount of HK$40,000,000 and HK$24,000,000 were converted BT EBR - ATRKRES R AT
into 100,000,000 and 60,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a BH — 2 A& 85 5 5 /40,000,000
conversion price of HK$0.4 per share respectively. 7t % 24,000,000 7T+ 3 B Bl ¥ & K
A 7]100,000,000 % 52 60,000,000 f% & i
f& - EREATROLETT °
As at 31 March 2017, the maximum number of shares issuable R —tF=ZA=+—H E#E
upon conversion of all outstanding convertible bonds issued BABERAQAREETZIATEZ
by the Company is 1,805,000,000 (2016: 1,805,000,000). AR ES G2 FRTRSRG
2/ B /A&1,805,000,000( =& — /x4 :
1,805,000,000) °
All the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2017 REBEE-ZE—+t&F=H=+—H81
rank pari passu with the issued shares of the Company in all FEBTZFBRMENRE 7 HHE
respect. ERTZRMEBHRMA -
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

Litigation concerning CNL (Pinghu) in the PRC
On 17 April 2012, a writ of summons was issued by ;T %k i 1§
% £ B A R 2 7 (Jiangsu Ruifeng Construction Group Co.,
Limited) (“Jiangsu Ruifeng”) in the PRC as the plaintiff against
CNL (Pinghu), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the defendant in relation to the disputes arising
from the consideration and completion of construction services
under the construction contracting services agreement dated 8
October 2010, the construction agreement dated 17 December
2010 and the supplemental agreement dated 8 March 2011
(collectively referred to as the “Construction Agreements”)
entered into between CNL (Pinghu) and Jiangsu Ruifeng, to
claim the outstanding construction cost of RMB13,150,000,
the related interests and litigation costs of the case. Pursuant
to the Construction Agreements, the total construction costs
was RMB16,675,000. Jiangsu Ruifeng had issued invoices
amounting to RMB29,126,000 in relation to the construction
work they performed. The aggregated invoice amount was
substantially different from the contracted amount. CNL (Pinghu)
only settled the amount of RMB16,601,000 and was recorded
as the cost of buildings as at 30 June 2012. On 24 April 2012,
Jiangsu Ruifeng obtained a civil ruling against CNL (Pinghu),
pursuant to which a bank deposit of RMB15,000,000 or
equivalent amount of assets of CNL (Pinghu) were to be frozen,
but the actual amount frozen was HK$222,000 as at 30 June
2012, which was significantly lower than the amount stated in
the civil ruling. The frozen balance was released during the year
ended 30 June 2013. On 14 January 2013, an independent
construction consulting company, which was appointed by
Pinghu District Court, issued a statement certifying the total
construction cost incurred would be in a range between
RMB15,093,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,142,000)
and RMB18,766,000 (equivalent to HK$23,801,000). According
to the relevant legal opinion dated on 29 July 2013, the
possibility for Pinghu District Court for adopting the construction
cost of RMB18,766,000 is higher. On 20 December 2013, the
STA ™ AR AR (People’s Court of Pinghu City, Zhejiang
Province) delivered a further civil ruling, pursuant to which, CNL
(Pinghu) shall, after the said civil ruling came into force, pay to
Jiangsu Ruifeng, among other things, a fee of RMB3,309,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,197,000) for the construction
services rendered. CNL (Pinghu) filed an application to appeal
to WL A 5= ® AR A R EBR (the Intermediate People’s
Court of Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province). On 25 April 2014, 3
LA 5= EH AR A RIABR (the Intermediate People’s Court of
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province) upheld the original ruling of
LA F ™ AR ERT (People’s Court of Pinghu City, Zhejiang
Province) and the Company was required to pay approximately
RMB4,223,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,333,000) to
Jiangsu Ruifeng. Total provision has been made by the Group in
this regard since 31 March 2014.

AR BTG R T A

3. AARBBERHFD

RABEEBEF R (FH) 2FA

R-ZE——FWNA++H  I&HxE
EREBARAA(IFHIKE] (1E
ABRE)RPREAQRZEEIER
BB AR R (M) (TEAmRE) 3
HEZESK  RAEEEARECER)
ET#HIEBER T —FEE+ANBE
YZBEERBREHE R —F
F+_A+tHIT Y Z2ERZER
—E——F=ZANBI N ZETEW
(T EERE))ETZRERT
BZERBATEI R Z F2 T Tain g
M\ A ey (08 R E A R 13,150,000
TR NEBERE  HEMNERE
B2 FRAKA - RIEEE S &
RN B A R 16,675,000 ° JT &
MEREETZEETIREREER
& %A A R #2029 126,0007T 3 2= 42
HEANSHEEBERER B
(E3#9) 2 %+ A R #16,601,000 7T
YR -—_ZE——FNA=+HIEHME
BERAK RN TE—_FMMA =+
B - T &n e B BVSET 3  Er (CF#)
ZREHTE B RECER) 2R
1T1E 3 A R #15,000,0007T 8% % [ &
By BEBWERE HER -_T——F
NAZTH WREZERLSHES
222,000 70 * EAEBENRRERT
Frolz €58 - WREZBREE -
—=FXNA=1+BLEEHRR - N
T—=F—A+WNB  —@EBILEE
BB ARETHEEREMT B —
DEE FHEEAKANTAR
¥ 15,003,000 7T (48 & 7 #719,142,000
7 oT) B A K #18,766,000 7T (8 & R
23,801,000/ 70 ) Z [ B % 2 EE M
RZE—=FE+A=-t+HLHABNER -
FHEEREMEEBRAARE
18,766,000 T I Al gL ME 8 5y o R — &
—=F+-_A=+H8 WIEFHEm
ARZRBEHE - STREHTE B
It AR (CEA) AR R B EUE A&
AT &k I 18 S A (B AR B 35) BE TR
B2 E RS 2 B A A R #53,309,0007T
(HBE R #494,197,0005 7T) ° F f&5 (F
) AT & 52 B Th AR 4 A R JABR B8
ELF RN -_E—NWEXKA=-+H

B T A 5 o AR A ROR B
2 591 T4 40 T A B B 2 IR 7

R MAR B AR E G IE A A
R # 4,223,000 7T (#8 & 1 495,333,000
BIT) c AEBBER-_Z—WMF=H
=+ —HEFL IR EEE -
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31.

162

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(Continued)

Litigation concerning CNL (Pinghu) in the PRC
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company has
received payment notice of approximately RMB2,897,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,660,000) and settled
accordingly.

The Company did not receive any payment notice from Jiangsu
Ruifeng during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 and
therefore no payment was made by the Company during the
years.

Litigation concerning Longmark (Shanghai) in
the PRC

The Company’s associate, Longmark (Shanghai) entered
into a tenancy agreement with /& [A] & 44 4 2 5k B R A &)
(Shanghai Xiangshanleyuan Dining Limited) (“the tenant”) for
the use of premises located in & T & % [& B2 4T #5128 25
b, N — [&(the first floor, lane 2, 128 Linhong Road, Changning
District, Shanghai) (“the Premises”) on 9 August 2011.

On 2 November 2015, the tenant filed a writ of summons
in PRC against Longmark (Shanghai) claiming the sum of
RMB213,610 (equivalent to HK$256,778) being compensation
for the loss resulted from the suspension of electric power
supply on the Premises.

On 28 October 2016, E/# T K=& A K APt (People’s Court
of Shanghai Changning District) rejected the petitions filed by
the tenant.
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iR e R MR
32. COMMITMENTS 32, &1
Operating lease commitments REHERE
As at 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments R_E—+tF=A=+—"H K&
of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are RAAREEEHEE T 2 B &
payable as follows: EHEERBAELOT :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Future aggregate minimum lease BERE it RETF
payments under operating leases ZISEHE SR
in respect of leasehold land and ZARRKERE
buildings B4R
— within one year ——FQR 2,140 1,057
— in the second to fifth years — 5 = = ey e
inclusive (BREEEMSE) 3,453 —
5,593 1,057
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KETHENRIEAEBRES T
Group for certain of its offices, laboratory and staff quarter. NE BREREIFEEMNZHAE
Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to three & HEHBHBEANT ZEZE=F
years (2016: one year) and rentals are fixed over the lease (Z=2E—RF: —F) k€A
terms and the above amounts do not include contingent SHIE B E © B _E#lt I8 T 635 8k
rentals. AL o
Capital commitments BEAXERE
As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group has no RZF—EtF=-A=+—HE=F
capital commitment contracted but not provided for. —AREZA=t+—H AKEHE
EETHEREHE 2 & AR o
Other commitments Hfth &I
()  On 25 May 2011, Smart Ascent has entered into a 0 R=FT——FRA-t+HA &
loan agreement with Fordnew pursuant to which Smart EREH R RERE  EER
Ascent has conditionally agreed to grant an unsecured, R fr R B S R E R S 2 N
non-interest bearing loan in the aggregate amount of up # Lt R #/330,000,0007% 7T 2 & 5K
to HK$30,000,000 to Fordnew for its onward lending to TREFESHEES TRLE(—F
Fosse Bio, a 51% owned subsidiary of Smart Ascent, for EEFEEHS1%EM 2 KB AT])
payment of expenses relating to the clinical trial of oral REMRBRORRS REMR
insulin product. KABZER -
As at the date of acquisition of Smart Ascent and REBEEZRRRN-_F—t
31 March 2017, the aggregate balance utilised by FZA=t—H \HPCSERZ
and unutilised balances available for Fordnew were R AR 2 K A% B R {52 1R T R (2 AR
approximately HK$10,579,000 (2016: HK$10,579,000) and 2 K18 48 8 5 Bl £ /10,579,000
HK$19,421,000 (2016: HK$ HK$19,421,000) respectively. BIL(ZF — 7 % : 10,579,000/

7T) }% 19,421,000 7T (= & — /%
£ 19,421,000 7T) ©
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32. CO M M |TM ENTS (Continued)

Other commitments (continued)

On 19 October 2006, Sea Ascent Investment Limited
(“Sea Ascent”), Welly Surplus Development Limited (“Welly
Surplus”) and Fosse Bio entered into a cooperation
agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) in connection
with the cooperation (the “Cooperation”) between Sea
Ascent and Welly Surplus in respect of the following:

164

(il

(1)

Sea Ascent shall procure its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Joy Kingdom Industrial Limited (“Joy
Kingdom”), to establish a wholly foreign owned
enterprise in the PRC in the name of ;T %k JK % it
2 2 5 [ /A 7] (Jiangsu Prevalence Pharmaceutical
Limited) (“Jiangsu Prevalence”);

Sea Ascent shall advance a sum equivalent to
RMB40 million to Joy Kingdom by way of an
unsecured, non-interest bearing shareholder’s
loan (“Shareholder’s Loan”) for the payment of the
registered capital of Jiangsu Prevalence and the
acquisition of land and construction of a factory
(the “Plant”) at Pi Zhou City, Jiangsu, the PRC for
the production of the Group’s Oral Insulin Enteric-
Coated Soft Capsules (the “Medicine”);

Subject to Sea Ascent’s performance of its
obligations as aforesaid and completion of the
acquisition of Joy Kingdom by Welly Surplus as
mentioned below, Welly Surplus shall procure Joy
Kingdom or Jiangsu Prevalence, if so agreed, to pay
to Sea Ascent, during a period of six years from the
date on which the Medicine is launched for sales in
open market (the “Initial Operating Period”), a fee
at RMB6 cents for each capsule of the Medicine
produced (subject to a maximum fee of RMB180
million for each year and deduction as specified in
the Cooperation Agreement); and

Unless the New Medicine Certificate in respect of
the Medicine has not been granted by the relevant
PRC authorities, Welly Surplus shall procure Fosse
Bio to allow the manufacturing of the Medicine
by Jiangsu Prevalence and to assist Jiangsu
Prevalence to obtain the relevant Pharmaceutical
Manufacturing Permit (%2 f 4 & &F 7] &%) for the
manufacture of the Medicine during the Initial
Operating Period.

32. A
HbEE @)

(i)
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32. COM M ITM ENTS (Continued)

Other commitments (continved)
(Continued)

(il

©)

(Continued)

Under the Cooperation Agreement, Fosse Bio has
agreed to guarantee the due performance by Welly
Surplus of its obligations and liabilities (“Secured
Liabilities”) as mentioned in the above paragraphs,
provided that the maximum liability of Fosse Bio
under such guarantee shall not exceed 51% of the
Secured Liabilities. The Cooperation Agreement
became effective upon the shareholders’ approval
in the special general meeting of the Extrawell held
on 3 January 2007, until the expiry of the Initial
Operating Period.

On 19 October 2006, Sea Ascent and Welly Surplus
also entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SP Agreement”) pursuant to which Sea
Ascent agreed to sell and Welly Surplus agreed
to acquire (i) the entire share capital (the “Sale
Share”) in Joy Kingdom; and (ii) the Shareholder’s
Loan at considerations of RMB40 million and
HK$1 respectively (the “Considerations”). The
completion of the SP Agreement was subject
to, among other conditions, approval of the SP
Agreement by the Company’s shareholders, the
Cooperation Agreement becoming effective and
the completion of the construction of the Plant
by Jiangsu Prevalence in accordance with the
terms of the Cooperation Agreement. The SP
Agreement was approved in the special general
meeting of Extrawell held on 3 January 2007. On 8
April 2009, Welly Surplus and Sea Ascent signed a
confirmation whereby both parties agreed to extend
the long stop date of the SP Agreement from 30
November 2007 to 30 June 2010. In light of the
progress of the further clinical trial, Welly Surplus
and Sea Ascent have not yet concluded the revised
completion timetable in relation to the construction
of the Plant by 30 June 2010, and therefore the
extension of the long stop date of SP Agreement is
yet to be concluded. The SP Agreement has not
yet become unconditional and the Consideration
has not yet been due and paid up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.
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32. CO M M |TM ENTS (Continued)

Other commitments (continued)

166

)

(iv)

Pursuant to clinical trial of the oral insulin project, Fosse
Bio has entered into service contracts with Shenyang
Xin Tai Geer Pharmaceutical Technology Development
Limited (B 8 R B B ER KR E AR QA (the
“Project Administrator”) dated 16 December 2009 and
24 March 2014 with value in total of RMB12,080,000 and
RMB10,400,000 respectively for provision of clinical trial
management services and the related clinical studies.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had other commitments
of RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,409,000) in relation to the obligations and
responsibility for the prize and administration costs of
the Tan Jia Zhen Life Sciences Prize undertaken by
the Shanghai Biopharmaceutical Industry Association
(the “SBIA”), the administrator of the Tan Jia Zhen
Life Sciences Prize, pursuant to the Tan Jia Zhen Life
Sciences Prize Sponsorship agreement (“Sponsorship
Agreement”).

On 8 November 2016, the Group and the SBIA entered
into a termination agreement, pursuant to which the
parties mutually agreed to terminate the Sponsorship
Agreement with retrospective effect from 1 January 2015.
The directors of the Company further confirmed that
none of the parties is required to pay to the other party
any penalty and/or compensation in respect of the early
termination under the Sponsorship Agreement.

32. A
HbEE @)

(i)

(iv)
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33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group and each employee
employed in Hong Kong are required to make a contribution
of 5% on the employees’ monthly relevant income with a
maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,500 per person.

The PRC employees of the Group are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The Group is required to contribute a
specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie have beneficial non-controlling interest
in the shares of the Company. In addition, they have joint
control of a company which has shareholding of the Company
giving it significant influence over the Company. Save as those
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has entered into the following related party
transactions:

33.

34.

AR BTG R T A

=8 R
AEBREEEBAERERRY
BREMEATEEE S - R B ZBE
BRRERAAEFNZECEAKHE
ZEEDRKRE - AKERERE
BREREBENEAREESAER
WAZSRER BARKERAE
A1,500% 7T °

AEEPHEERMRERBNEEZ
B2 RABHGFEZKE - AEE
AREBEZHEHMANEEANL
b & ez R KR M AT Bl AR - %
FwRMNzEE AEERZENKE
M@ Tz —EEAFEHEEHR

255
A °

BEALRS
EBELNHE LR ARARD P HE
B FERER - st REHK
[) #22 il — [ A 2N 1 m) BB 3 3 R
RAFEAERTE N2 RAE - K
EUMBRAREVERE  ~&H
BEETUTHEALRS :

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Service fee expense paid and ENKRERMNTAR A
payable to Dr. Mao, a shareholder RREFELZ
of the Company (Note) AR 7% & 5 2 (B 5E) 672 672
Key management compensation: TEBTEEZHBMN
Short-term employee benefits HEEE 2@H 1,973 1,779
Post-employment benefits BRI 2 18 A 18 27
1,991 1,806
Note: This transaction constitutes continuing connected transaction under sk : WEXSEKEMRANEI4AZTET
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is exempted from the reporting and MFERABRSAREET LM
disclosure requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules. BIZE14A7T6(RIBE TR M E R E &
HIE °
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35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &2 T KB A Bl & 15
OF THE COMPANY

Place of

incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest voting Principal
registration operation paid-up capital power/profit sharing held by the Group activities
EMRL/ ASEfkEzRERES RER/

i % EEMY i/ BRTHRRE BEABZAAY TEER

31.3.2017

=B=t-H
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
Ef B E# 53

Lucky Full Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Islands Islands
B ERER AR ABABRES EBABRES 1ZTERRK REER
Clear Rich British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Islands [slands
& ZERARES HBAARES 1ETLER REZR
China United Gene Health Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Trading of beauty
Limited equipment and
products
ZERRENRREXARAE BB B TATERR FARBRERES
Mega Fortune Corporation Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Bk B TETERR REER
First Team Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
&k i 1R ERR REER
Multi-Wealth Investment Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Bk i TETERR REER
Able Eamn Investment Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
EEREERAA Bk B 1RTERR REER
Top Nice Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Securities
investment
BasBERAR BB B 1RTERR ErRE
CNL (Pinghu) (Note a) PRC PRC US$20 million - 70% = 70%  Distribution of
registered capital bio-industrial
products
i () (Hisra) e il 20,000,000% 7 DEENEZER

AR
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35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &Zx 2 G KB A A& 15

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
AL/
RRusLL

Place of
operation

EENY

Registered/issued
paid-up capital

Percentage of ownership interest voting
power/profit sharing held by the Group
AREARECRERRER /RER/
) AR
31.3.2017
ZE-tE
ZA=t-A
Directly Indirectly Directly
Ef B Bk

it/ ERTARRE

Indirectly
S

Principal
activities

IERE

Mega Cedar Group Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands and securities
investment
ABABRES EBABRES 1ZTERRK REBBRERR
Perfect Net Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
ABARREE EBABRES 1ZniERk REER
New Wonder Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
ABARREE HBABRES 1ZTERR REER
Rankup Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
ARARRES EBABRES 1ZTERR REER
Marvel Wonder Global Limited  British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
ABARRES ABABRES 1ZnLRER RARIR
East Longmark (Note b) PRC PRC HK$15 million - 100% = 100%  Provision of genetic
registered capital testing services
REEMK (W) Gk Gl 16,000,000/ Tt & 4 R ER A RS
Shanghai Honglian Investment ~ PRC PRC HK$3 million - 100% = 100%  Inactive
Advisory Limited (Note c) registered capital
FglERAEANERAR  RE hE 3,000,000/ ek & A FiRE
(Fizte)
Shanghai Xizhen International ~ PRC PRC HK$3 million - 100% — 100%  Inactive
Trading Limited (Note d) registered capital
FERAERESERLT  HE i 3,000,000 i A& FiER
(P &Fa)
Smart Ascent (Note e) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary - 51% - 51%  Investment holding
shares
4 (Miite) Bk B 1,000 70 & Mk REER
20176 EMBEREYNHEERALT 169
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35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &Zx 2 G B A A& 185w
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest voting Principal
registration operation paid-up capital power/profit sharing held by the Group activities
EMRL/ AREARECRERRER/RER/

AUk EEHY i/ BRTARRA BENBZES TEER

31.3.2017

“E-tf

ZR=1-H
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
E# A% B# FiEES

Fosse Bio (Note e) Hong Kong PRC HK$10,000 ordinary - 30.79% —  30.79%  Development and
shares commercialisation
of oval insulin
products
TRt (Mzte) Bk i 10,0008 T & &R & REmlc AR
REZEm
Welly Surplus (Note e} Hong Kong PRC HK$100 ordinary shares - 30.79% = 30.79%  Inactive
in® (fizke) i HEl 1008 T 5B 137
Nation Joy Industries Limited ~ British Virgin British Virgin 1US$10,000 ordinary - 60.38% - 60.38% Inactive
(Note e) Islands Islands shares
BN EEARAA (Hiike) RBABREES XBEBRES 10000%mERRK FiEE

Notes: Bt 5 -

() CNL (Pinghu) is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the (a) AT (E ) AR 7 TNFEMNA=-AH
PRC on 2 April 2008 for a period of fifty years. EFRRERKY 2 9\\ Fﬁ % AR+

£ o

(b) East Longmark is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the (b) BERANR-_ZE——FE+—HA=-1+mH©
PRC on 24 November 2011 for a period of thirty years. HEGBERKZI 2 EmE2ELE A8

=1+ -

(©) Shanghai Honglian Investment Advisory Limited is a wholly foreign- (© LELEREZAERAAAENR T
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 January 2015 for a —ARAF—AZ+BEEF R ZI
period of thirty years. HMEERE  BH=1TF-

(d)  Shanghai Xizhen International Trading Limited is a wholly foreign-owned d LEEREREBEESERARNAENR_-_Z
enterprise established in the PRC on 26 December 2014 for a period of —NE+ A=+ "BEFBEKILZ
thirty years. INERBERE  BEH=1F -

(e) These companies became subsidiaries of the Company upon completion (e ERAIERN-_ZE—NELA= + /\
of Acquisition on 28 July 2014. E Zﬂﬁzﬁﬁnﬁ@:ﬁi%$ Al MR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ARAREERE LR BEHNRX

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally EBRAREE 2 % & ﬁ%j{?ﬁ 2 jz%

affect the financial results of the year or formed a substantial KEEFEZTESoZ2HEBEA

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other R ) Ffﬁ}% A 2 =E 'I% ' %

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in FREeFEBRARTTE

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at MNANFEE TS ERNEMEBER £

the end of the year or any time during the year. MM B AR MEFMRAEE 2 &R

5&% o
[2kva
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35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &Zx 2 G KB A A& 15
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Place of
incorporation
and principal

place of

business
AR L R
TELEHY

Proportion of
ownership
interests held
by non-controlling
interests
FERERFBEZ
REEERZILA

2017 2016
ZEtE ZT-RE

Proportion of voting
rights in board of
directors’ meeting held
by non-controlling
interests
FERBERFBEFZ
REZEZRERZILA

2017 2016
“E—+5 ZZE—RE

Loss and other
comprehensive loss
allocated to
non-controlling
interests
TRTFHERER
LERRZEHMER

2017 2016
—E—+E ZE-RE
HK$'000 $'000
TAT BT

TRHFAEEEDEAEZRE
R HRAMEAR

Accumulated
non-controlling
interests

Rt FERER
2017 2016
“T+F ¥
HK$'000 00
T BT

Smart Ascent (Note) Hong Kong 49% 49% 49% 49% (7,229) (735) (7,738) (509)
4 (FisE) BB
Fosse Bio (Note) Hong Kong/PRC 69.21% 69.21% 69.21% 69.21% (727) (2,628) 871,048 871,775
faft (i) Bk /HE
CNL (Pinghu) PRC 30% 30% 30% 30% (1,194) (715) 7,116 8,310
B () HE
Individually immaterial

subsidiaries with non-

controlling interests (3) @) (75) (72)
BEERRER 2 BY

FEERBAF

(9,153) (4,082) 870,351 879,504
Note: B aE -

SAL Group become the subsidiaries of the Group upon the completion of
Acquisition on 28 July 2014.

EEEBR _ZT—HmFLtA=Z TN NBZKE
EREREAEBZHEAR -
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35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &Zx 2 G B A A& 185w
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ERAEBEABEARFERERZD
B AR B ERMREN T -
TXHMEMBERREZ2I EER
NRREHAI T -

SAL Group EEE
2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FHERT
Current assets mEEE 2,729 2,639
Non-current assets FEMENE BE 1,381,349 1,394,062
Current liabilities mENBE (70,528) (69,382)
Non-current liabilities FRBAE (6,067) (4,646)
Equity attributable to owners AN/NEIRZFEIN
of the Company G T == 436,528 450,507
Non-controlling interests FE 128 iR 2 870,955 872,166
Revenue U A 4,113 6,902
Expenses =53 (19,303) (6,749)
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREE
expense for the year < 1858 (15,190) 1563
Loss and total comprehensive EBEEEZERAX
expense attributable to KRR T
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE =N (13,979) 2,548
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR & (1,211) (2,395)
(15,190) 153
Net cash outflow RI&EEE 2
from operating activities Re M F5E - (1)

There are no net cash flows from investing and financing

activities.

RELBERDABELAR SR F

B °
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iR SRR

35. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 35. &Zx 2 G KB A A& 15
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

CNL (Pinghu) A e (2 08)
2017 2016
—E—tF ZTARF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
THExT FET
Current assets ENEE 646 794
Non-current assets IERBEE 32,148 35,516
Current liabilities mEaE (4,382) (3,639)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (2,162) (2,445)

Equity attributable to owners of the RAGIHER ABLHER

Company 19,134 21,920
Non-controlling interests FE 128 AR 7 7,116 8,310
Other income E i A 164 95
Expenses X (2,149) (2,479
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREHERAXEE

expense for the year (3,980) (2,384)
Loss and total comprehensive EBEMZEHASRESRB

expense attributable to

Owners of the Company PiIN/N *TTTE%A (2,786) (1,669)

Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR 7 2 (1,194) (7195)

(3,980) (2,384)
Net cash outflow from operating REE) %@JZ

activities e F58E (223) (1,198)

There are no cash flows from investing and financing activities. HENBEEHWEEARES T
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A PR RR
36. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. XAl 2B &R
COMPANY
2017
—E2—+tF
HK$’000
THEx
Non-current assets EMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENEZE 237 313
Interests in associates TOE &5 N | i RE 25 113,462 128,103
Investment in subsidiary KRB AR KRE 1 1
Investments in convertible bonds RA IR ESE IR E 225,245 259,555
338,945 387,972
Current assets MENE =
Prepayments, deposits and BRIE ke Rk
other receivables H b fE U 318 5,595 550
Amounts due from group companies & W £ E A 7] 2 I 468,537 521,686
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 44,212 13,599
518,344 535,835
Current liabilities mE)EE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K& CH e {5 5B 1,282 1,192
Funds received in advance AW E & - 50,000
Amount due to group companies HANEE /NG E GE 64,465 —
65,747 51,192
Net current assets MENE E S5 452,597 484,643
Total asset less current liabilities BMEERTEAE 791,542 872,615
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Convertible bonds AR E A 470,671 403,146
NET ASSETS BEFHE 320,871 469,469
Capital and reserves BARAREE
Share capital LN 14,642 14,642
Reserves & 306,229 454 827
TOTAL EQUITY WE 7 48 KB 320,871 469,469
The financial statements were approved by the Board of ERECHESeR T —+&F
Directors on 29 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by: NA-T+hBHE  YHUATES
REEE -
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
BF BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EZ BF
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36. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. ZARAZHBHBER )
COMPANY (Continued)
Reserve of the Company KRrziw#E
Convertible
Share equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
CIE:T:
f% 1 % 18 ke RitB#E o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT FAT TAT TAT
At 1 April 2015 W-Z—RF
MA—H 1,013,046 1,141,845 (1,591,186) 563,705
Comprehensive income e
Loss for the year FRER — — (226,143) (226,143)
Transactions with owners BHEEZWR 5
Recognition of equity BRARKRES 2
component of convertible D
bonds — 109,371 — 109,371
Issue of shares upon R ESFERE
conversion of convertible BTG,
bonds 106,248 (98,354) — 7,894
106,248 11,017 — 117,265
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RF
=—A=t+—H 1,119,294 1,152,862 (1,817,329) 454,827
Comprehensive income 2 W=
Loss for the year FAER — — (149,457) (149,457)
Transactions with owners HEHEEENX S
Recognition of equity RABKESZ
component of convertible EmI D
bonds — 17,813 — 17,8183
Early redemption on 1 A B 3] °T #2 % (B 55
convertible bonds — (17,813) 859 (16,954)
- - 859 859
At 31 March 2017 N_T—+F
—A=+—H 1,119,294 1,152,862 (1,965,927) 306,229
37. COMPARATIVE FIGURE 37. L BB
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm ETHRBEBEEEFHHEUEE
to the current year’s presentation. AFEZ2Hm— -
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MEHE

RESULTS E4
For the For the
For the nine months  twelve months
twelve months ended ended ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 30 June
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Bz H5E B2
=A=t+-HBL =A=+-B1 S~A=THLE
+=f&A NEA +=fA
—E-tF —E-RE “Z-1F T—m —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR T THT THL THT
Revenue A 9,187 19,908 33,976 29,744 10,050
Loss for the year/period from REFELEEKL
continuing operations £ /BAER (178,342) (240,947) (456,914) (657,338) (38,538)
Profit/(loss) for the year/period from REEKIHELE£K 2
discontinuing operation F /BN (518 - - - 140 (51,119)
Loss for the year/period F/HRER (178,342) (240,947) (456,914) (557,198) (89,657)
Attributable to: BB
Owners of the Company AREHEBA (169,788) (236,865) (451,684) (550,347) (72,839)
Non-controlling interests R E R (8,554) (4,082) (5,230) (6,851) (16,818)
(178,342) (240,947) (456,914) (557,198) (89,657)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March As at 30 June
R=ZA=+—H RAB=1H
2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-—t5§ —E-RF “Z-1F —ET-[mF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T THETL THT THET
Non-current assets FRBDEE 1,774,942 1,824,474 1,831,394 430,699 143,038
Current assets mEEE 76,024 185,718 209,158 310,819 365,000
Current liabilities bk =Y (73,741) (120,940) (81,957) (15,135) (47,128)
Non-current liabilities FnBAR (478,900) (410,236) (357,131) (54,162) (16,548)
Net assets BEFHE 1,298,325 1,479,016 1,601,464 672,221 444,362
Attributable to: FB
Owners of the Company KAREAA 427,974 599,512 717,878 662,372 453,337
Non-controling interests FHERER 870,351 879,504 883,586 9,849 (8,975)
Total equity Enls 1,298,325 1,479,016 1,601,464 672,221 444,362
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